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Corporate Information

Qa=EES

ABOUT CGN MINING

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01164). The principal
activities of the Group are the development and trade of natural
uranium resources used by nuclear energy enterprises, with a view to
be one of the top suppliers of natural uranium resources for nuclear
power plants.
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Financial Highlights
MBRHE

OPERATING RESULTS ¥&

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT FHET FAT TAT FET
Continuing operations BEMER

Revenue BERE 7,363,123 3648680 3,859,530 2,862,226 2,076,688
Operating profit EETF 690,932 628,842 246,247 220,855 196,638
Finance costs BERA (131,464) (61,699) (49,683) (40,889) (20,466)
Profit before taxation R AT A 559,468 567,143 196,564 179,966 176,172
Income tax expenses FTs Rz i (62,369) (52,228) (18,066) (24,749) (16,163)
Profit for the year RERER 497,009 514915 178498 155217 160,009

Profit attributable to: TEIATEERR
Owners of the Company RRREBA 497,099 514,915 178,498 155,217 160,009
Non-controlling interests S - - - - -
497,099 514,915 178,498 155,217 160,009

FINANCIAL POSITION B # k%

As at 31 December

M12H31H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

20235 20224F 20214 2020F 2019F

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FHAT TAT FHT TAT

Total assets EERE 6,750,363 6,865,707 6,349,575 4,187,787 3,095,366
Total liabilities BEBE (2,870,172) (3,517,568) (4,194,352) (2,160,727) (1,151,125
3,880,191 3,348,139  2,155223 2,027,060 1,944,241

Equity attributable to owners AR EIHEAE A

of the Company FEfEHE RS 3,880,191 3,348,139 2,155,223 2,027,060 1,944,241
Non-controlling interests e - - - - -
3,880,191 3,348,139  2,155223 2,027,060 1,944,241
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Chairman’s Statement

FESE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2023, the profound changes in the world that has not been seen in
a century accelerated its evolution, the complexity and volatility of the
international situation continued, and the global economy in general
remained in low growth intertwined with short-term rebounds. Under
the continuous influence of high inflation, high interest rates, Russia-
Ukraine conflict and other factors, international trade was still in a
recovering period.

From the global perspective, energy safety has become the top
priority mission for various countries, and a number of countries
have announced plans for nuclear energy development. The
28th Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change announced its goal of tripling the
capacity of nuclear energy by 2050 to three times the current level,
which has boosted the global expectations for the development of
nuclear power. The international spot price of natural uranium has
been rapidly fluctuating upwards since September 2023, and the
price of natural uranium continued to climb, with the price in January
2024 breaking through US$100/Ib. The recovery of the global nuclear
power industry has triggered the growth in demand for uranium
resources, and the Company’s uranium resources development
business met with both opportunities and challenges, favouring the
Company’s natural uranium trade.

In 2023, the Company grasped the opportunity of natural uranium
market recovery and substantially pushed forward high quality
development and the overall performance and operation remained
stable. In terms of inventory stock project operation, due to the
restraints on the procurement of some raw materials in Kazakhstan,
the production cost of Semizbay-U and Ortalyk rose, and the
production plan target was basically accomplished under the close
attention and strict supervision of production operation by the
expatriate team. In terms of natural uranium sales, CGN Global
grasped the opportunity of the significant increase in natural uranium
prices, which contributed to a significant growth in the Company’s
turnover. In terms of social responsibility, the Company was guided
by ESG indicators and released its first standalone ESG report,
demonstrating a green, low-carbon and responsible corporate
image. At the same time, we are pleased to see that the Company
is receiving more and more attention from the capital market, which
is not only reflected in the significant increase in the Company’s
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stock price with market capitalization up 112% from the beginning
of the year, but also the inclusion of the Company in the Hang Seng
Index, Shanghai Stock Connect and Shenzhen Stock Connect,
which has resulted in more individual and institutional investors
becoming optimistic about the Company’s future prospects. These
achievements are attributed to the concerted efforts of the Board
and all staff, as well as the trust and support of our shareholders and
customers.

For a long time, the Company has been focusing on its main business
of natural uranium resources development and trading, keeping
its eye on high-quality mining resources worldwide, and exploring
quality investment opportunities to form a reasonable combination
of in-production, under-construction, advanced and beginner level
exploration projects to meet the needs of the Company’s sustainable
development. In 2023, industrial cooperation was mixed with
competition as various countries have been aggressively developing
nuclear energy, which led to higher costs and greater difficulty in
uranium resources project mergers and acquisitions. In 2024, the
Company will continue to make assessment on potential targets and
look forward to making substantive progress as soon as possible to
secure more resources, strive for more investment returns, and bring
solid returns to all shareholders.

A scientific and reasonable long-term incentive mechanism
can provide greater sense of participation and belonging to the
management, and the introduction of equity incentive measures is
an inevitable choice for the Company to gather concerted efforts.
We have been exploring medium and long-term equity incentive
programs for implementation that are in line with the Company’s
actual situation.

The global capital market is still under great pressure due to factors
such as high interest rate of the US dollar, rising energy prices
and intensified geopolitical conflicts. Meanwhile, the Company is
still facing great challenges in the new year due to factors such as
inflation, raw material procurement and scheduling production plans
in Kazakhstan, where the Company’s main operating mines are
located, and the Board of the Company maintains a close track of the
risk factors that may affect the operations of the Company to ensure
that the Company identifies the potential risks in a timely manner and
responds to them effectively.
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Chairman’s Statement

FESE

2024 is a key year for realizing the Company’s “Fourteenth Five-Year
Plan” objectives and tasks, we plan to enhance the Company’s core
functions and core competitiveness in multiple dimensions to support
its high-quality development. Firstly, we will apply innovative methods
to enhance the primary exploration capacity of uranium, continue to
explore new projects, and acquire more high-quality equity sources;
secondly, we will do a good job in the operation of mines in operation,
steadily push forward the development of projects on hand, control
production cost, achieve the annual production target, and plan
ahead for the development of the PLS project; thirdly, we will closely
keep track of the uranium price trend, grasp the development
opportunity of the natural uranium market, make steady progress in
international trade, build up foundation for our business development
and enhance profitability; fourthly, optimize the performance incentive
mechanism, and push forward the implementation of medium
and long-term incentive measures; fifthly, we continue to deepen
the reform of governance and management system, enhance the
standardization and effectiveness of program operation, and stimulate
the Company'’s vitality and efficiency; sixthly, we strengthen the
building of our scientific and technological innovation talent pool,
reserve more exploration talents, and enhance the effectiveness of
scientific and technological management overall.

By advancing towards success regardless the distance and time
taken, the Company believes that under the opportunity in an era of
nuclear power recovery and increase in demand of global uranium
resources, the value of the Company will be further manifested. The
Board of the Company and all staff must grasp the opportunity to
insist on the general direction of “development amidst stabilisation”,
implement “Strict Compliance, Prudent Decision-making, Detail-
oriented and Fact-based Approach” approach to work, strive to
realise the high quality development of the Company, and commit
ourselves to the long term goal of becoming a world-class natural
uranium supplier, creating long-term value for society, shareholders
and employees.

Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
An Junjing

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and
trading. As at 31 December 2023, the Company (i) held 100% equity
interest in Beijing Sino-Kazakh, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Semizbay-U; (i) held
100% equity interest in CGNM UK, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Ortalyk. In addition,
the Group had a wholly-owned subsidiary, CGN Global and held
12.62% equity interest in Fission.

In 2023, the Group achieved revenue of HK$7,363 million and profits
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$497 million.

Analysis of business environment
The nuclear power market and its development

In 2023, the trend of global nuclear power recovery and development
is further enhanced. In the face of the climate issue resulting the idea
of energy transition superimposed on the demand for energy security
and energy independence, numerous countries around the world
has proactively adjusted their nuclear power policy - restarted or
formulated a new nuclear power development plan, and continued to
inject new momentum into the nuclear power market.

In 2023, the global nuclear power generation will account for about
10% of total power generation, as at the end of 2023, there were
413 nuclear power units in operation worldwide, with a total installed
capacity of 372GWe, and 58 units were under construction, with a
total installed capacity of 60GWe, where the nuclear power units in
operation and under construction spanned across 32 countries and
regions. In 2023, there were 5 new grid-connected units worldwide,
including the Unit 3 of Vogtle Nuclear Power Plant which first
commenced generation since 1978 with a total installed capacity of
5GWe; 2 reactivated units, which were all located in Japan, with a
total installed capacity of 2GWe; 5 units commenced construction,
in which 4 of them are from China, with a total installed capacity of
6GWe; and 5 closed units with a total installed capacity of 6GWe.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENWRAN 0

In September 2023, the World Nuclear Association (“WNA”) raised
its global installed nuclear power capacity forecast to 686GWe
in operation in 2040 under the mid-case scenario, an increase of
12% as compared to the previous forecast. In December 2023, 22
countries participating in the 28th Conference of the Parties of the
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (“COP28”)
have announced the Declaration to Triple Nuclear Energy, i.e.
working together to promote the goal of tripling the global installed
nuclear power capacity by 2050 to three times the current level. If the
calculation is based on the global installed nuclear power capacity in
operation at the end of 2023, which is about 3.7GWe, the installed
capacity will exceed 11GWe by then.

In addition, in January 2024, the International Energy Agency
indicated that Asia will be the main driver of nuclear power growth,
and nuclear power generation capacity in Asia will account for 30% of
the world’s electricity generation in 2026, an increase of 2 percentage
points as compared to 28% in 2022. According to the China Nuclear
Energy Development Report released by the China Nuclear Energy
Association, it is expected that the proportion of nuclear power
generation of China accounted for will reach 10% in 2035, an
increase of more than 5% compared to the current level; at the same
time, it is predicted that China will continue to maintain the approval
rate of 6 to 8 nuclear power units per year during the “Fourteenth
Five-Year Plan” period.

The main measures taken by countries in accordance with their
nuclear power development plans include promoting the life extension
of existing nuclear power plants, reactivating out-of-service nuclear
power units, approving new units and actively promoting the research
and development of fourth generation nuclear power technology, the
main events of which are reviewed below:
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The United States took measures to support the development
of nuclear power in the country by increasing the proportion
of nuclear power, commissioning new units, extending the life
of nuclear power plants, and increasing its domestic uranium
enrichment capacity, details including: in January, the US
Energy Information Administration released its Short-Term
Energy Outlook, stating that it expected to keep its proportion
of nuclear power generation at around 19% over the next
two years (with the proportion of nuclear power generation in
2022 to be around 18%), and that its nuclear energy power
generation capacity is projected to reach 791 billion kWh in
2024; in April, Unit 3 of the US Vogtle Nuclear Power Plant
was connected to the grid, the first new nuclear unit to be
put into operation in the US in seven years; in November, the
US approved an extension of the life of the Diablo Canyon
Nuclear Power Plant until its decommissioning in 2030, which
was originally scheduled to close in 2025 yet a bill was signed
in California in 2022 to overturn an agreement between the
state and environmental organizations to close the facility;
in addition, in July, the US’s only operating commercial
uranium enrichment facility, the Eunice Uranium Enrichment
Plant, announced a capacity increase of 15% (approximately
700tSWU/a), demonstrating the determination of the United
States to progressively restore its nuclear energy industry
chain in the aftermath of the Russia-Ukraine conflict.

In June, in order to minimize dependence on Russian
nuclear fuel, the US and the UK established a Joint Standing
Committee on Nuclear Energy Cooperation and encouraged
the creation of new infrastructure and the development of
nuclear fuel cycle capabilities; in December, the US House
of Representatives passed the Sanctions Bill banning the
importation of Russian nuclear fuel while allowing for a
temporary waiver of Russian fuel imports until January 2028,
and Russia subsequently planned to ban the export of nuclear
fuel to the United States to counteract US sanctions.
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BEREFWE D

EU

UK

In February, 11 EU member states, led by France, jointly
established the European “Nuclear Alliance”, announcing that
they would “strengthen EU cooperation” in the field of nuclear
power and reaffirming the important role of nuclear energy
in a decarbonised economy; in April, the last three units in
Germany were decommissioned, and most of the remaining
EU countries, with the exception of Germany and Spain,
continued to adopt a relatively active nuclear power policy; in
May, Belgium, Sweden and Estonia joined the alliance, and
[taly participated as an observer, thus increasing the number
of participating states in the “Nuclear Alliance” to 15.

France’s nuclear power generation accounted for 70% of its
national power generation in 2022, and it continued to “focus
on nuclear” in 2023: in June, French senators and the National
Assembly adopted the draft bill on accelerated development
of nuclear energy, which abandoned the goal of “cutting the
share of nuclear power to 50% by 2035”, and at the same
time further simplified the relevant administrative procedures
and accelerated the preparatory work for the implementation
of the goal of building new nuclear power plants, shortening
the time of construction by at least two years in the future;
in August, the French Nuclear Safety Authority approved a
ten-year extension of the operation of Unit 1 of the Tricastin
Nuclear Power Plant, the first French nuclear power plant to
be authorised to operate for more than 40 years.

In July 2023, the UK government announced that it would
provide a total of £ 157 million in development funding to the
domestic nuclear energy industry, following the establishment
of the Great British Nuclear in 2022 and plans to drive the
construction of 8 new nuclear generating units over 8 years,
in order to advance the government’s commitment to “meet
25% of civil electricity supply from nuclear power” by 2025.
In January 2024, the Department for Energy Security and
Net Zero released the civil nuclear roadmap to 2050, which
identified nuclear power as the only reliable, safe and low-
carbon option available for large-scale deployment in the UK,
and a key component of the UK’s drive towards net-zero
emissions.
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Other European countries

In April, Olkiluoto 3, the largest nuclear power plant in Europe,
was officially commissioned in Finland, and will provide Finland
with about 30% of its electricity; in May, the government of
Italy’s lower house of parliament proposed the introduction
of fourth-generation nuclear power technology, its first step
back to nuclear power following the 1987 referendum that
confirmed the abandonment of nuclear power; in October,
the Czech Republic’s Cabinet issued the National Climate and
Energy Plan, which states that the country’s installed nuclear
power capacity will increase from 4.3GWe in 2023 to 5.9GWe
in 2050; in November, Sweden issued a roadmap for nuclear
power development, removing the limit on the number of
nuclear power units in operation in the country, and planning
to build two new reactors by 2035 and another 10 reactors by
2045; in December, Belgium approved a 10-year life extension
to 2035 for Unit 4 of the Doel Nuclear Power Plant and Unit 3
of the Tihange Nuclear Power Plant.

Canada

Canada generated approximately 12% of its electricity from
nuclear power in 2022, is also pushing hard to develop
nuclear power under the circumstance of energy security
and independence: in July, the province of Ontario, Canada,
announced plans to build the first new large-scale nuclear
power plant in 30 years, with a planned site next to the
Bruce Power Nuclear Power Plant; in August, Unit 6 of the
Bruce Nuclear Power Plant in Canada resumed commercial
operation after the completion of a Major Component
Replacement program, following the shutdown of the reactor
for large scale renovation in January 2020, achieving the
extension of lifespan (reaching 80 years) of the nuclear power
plant to 2064.
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EEENWR DM
Japan

Korea

Following last year’s announcement that nuclear power units
shut down due to the Fukushima nuclear accident would
be restarted progressively. Japan is continuing its positive
attitude toward the development of nuclear power this year:
in February, Japan announced that the relevant provision of
“the period for a power reactor to operate shall be 40 years
with a maximum of 60 years” was officially removed; in July
and September, Japan has approved the restarting of Unit 1
and 2 of Takahama Nuclear Power Plant, respectively, which
both operated for over 40 years. As of the end of 2023, Japan
had restarted 12 plants; in November, Unit 1 and 2 of Sendai
Nuclear Power Plant were approved to extend their lifespan
for 20 years (to 2044 and 2045, respectively).

In January, Korea announced plans to increase its proportion
of nuclear power generation to 32.4% by 2030, higher
than the proportion of power generation from other energy
sources; the share of nuclear power generation will be further
increased by 2.2 percentage points by 2036 as compared
to 2030; in October, the Korea government announced
the provision of low rate loan to local companies which are
involved in the nuclear power industry in a total of KRW 150
billion (approximately USD114 million) in order to support the
development of nuclear power.

Other countries

In July, Unit 5 of the Pakistan Chashma Nuclear Power
Plant commenced construction, being the seventh unit to
be exported to Pakistan from the PRC. It is expected to
generate nearly 10 billion kWh of electricity annually upon the
completion of its construction, which will meet the annual
electricity demand of more than 4 million local households in
Pakistan.

In October, Bulgaria approved the construction and
preparation of Units 7 and 8 of the Kozloduy Nuclear Power
Plant (AP1000 model), which is expected to be completed by
2033 and will have a total installed capacity of 2.3GWe.
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o In November, Atomic Energy of Ukraine announced
the extension of the operation of Unit 1 of the South
Ukraine Nuclear Power Plant for another 10 years until its
decommissioning at the end of 2033.
Mainland China
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Management Discussion and Analysis

According to the data released by the China Nuclear Energy
Association, there were 55 nuclear power units in operation
in China (excluding Taiwan Region of the PRC) with a rated
installed capacity of 57GWe as at 31 December 2023, and
with 23 power plants under construction, it maintained its
top position in the world in terms of scale of nuclear power
plants under construction. In 2023, 1 nuclear power unit
was connected to grid and started power generation, and 4
nuclear power units were under construction. The total power
generated by nuclear power units was 433.4 billion kWh, an
increase of 3.98% as compared to the same period in 2022;
the nuclear power generation accounted for 4.86% of the total
power generation of the PRC in 2023, year-on-year decreased
0.12% as compared to 2022.

The importance of nuclear power in China’s energy system
has been further clarified which after the Chinese government
launched the “Dual Carbon” goals in 2020 and Report on the
Work of the Chinese Government in 2021 which proposed
that “nuclear power will be developed in an active and orderly
manner while ensuring safety”. Following the approval of 10
nuclear power units in 2022, 10 more nuclear power units
were newly approved in the PRC in 2023, exceeding the pace
of approvals expected by the China Nuclear Energy Industry
Association for the second consecutive year, of which: in July,
the State Council announced the approval of 6 nuclear power
units for 3 nuclear power newly-built unit projects (Shidao
Bay, Shandong; Ningde, Fujian; and Xudabao, Liaoning); and
in December, the State Council announced the approval of 4
nuclear power units for 2 nuclear power projects (Taipingling,
Guangdong; and Jingimen, Zhejiang). This reflects the positive
and clear attitude towards the development of nuclear power
in Mainland China, and also opened up room for growth in
demand for natural uranium.
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In June, the 2MWt Thorium-based Molten Salt Test Reactor
with Liquid Fuel in Gansu received an operating license by
the National Nuclear Safety Administration for its first loaded
run, triggering market discussions on the progress of fourth
generation nuclear power technology development and
the demand for natural uranium in the future. In December,
China’s first fourth generation nuclear power plant (the
Huaneng Shidao Bay High Temperature Gas-cooled Reactor)
was commercially operated and was a landmark achievement
of a major national scientific and technological specialization
project with fully independent intellectual property rights, and
marking the achievement of the PRC in the world’s leading
level of fourth generation nuclear power technology.
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Global natural uranium market and industry development

Broadly speaking, the total global natural uranium production
increased marginally in 2023. According to the UxC report, global
natural uranium production in 2023 amounted to approximately
54,390tU, an increase of 6.3% as compared to 2022. Of which,
Kazakhstan continued to be the top uranium producer in the world,
producing 21,000tU for the year, representing 38.7% of the global
total supply, a decrease of 0.9% as compared to the corresponding
period; while Canada’s production for the year amounted to
11,654tU, representing 21.4% of the global total supply, an increase
of 58.1% as compared to the corresponding period.

In 2023, the world’s major uranium producers advanced production
as planned, for example, Kazatomprom’s 2023 equity production of
21,112tU (38.8% of global primary supply) was 2.7% lower than in
2022; and Cameco produced a total of 17.6 million pounds (6,769tU)
of natural uranium (12.4% of global primary supply) in 2023, an
increase of 69% and mine production costs of US$26.1/IoU,Og\°®.

The main events on the global supply side of natural uranium in 2023,
classified by mine stage, are:

On-going projects:

° Cameco announced at the beginning of the year that capacity
utilisation at its Cigar Lake and McArthur River uranium mines
would return to 100% before lowering its full-year production
expectations for both mines in September (by 7% and 9%,
respectively). According to the announcement of Cameco
in 2024, production from the McArthur River Project will be
expanded to 100% of design capacity, i.e., restored from
13.5 million pounds (5,192tU) to 18.0 million pounds (6,923tU)
(100% baseline), with the specific decision under study.

Note: Under usual international practice, the usual measuring unit of natural uranium in
international uranium product trade is pound (Ib), and the usual units of uranium
reserves/production are tonnes of uranium (tU) and million pounds of natural
uranium. 1tU equals to approximates 2,599.78 Ib of U;Os.
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Kazatomprom announced its 2024 production plan in
January 2024, stating that capacity restoration was limited
due to sulfuric acid shortages, and expected the company
to produce 21,000-22,500tU for the whole year of 2024, an
increase of about 3% compared to 2023 (capacity utilization
rate of 83%), which was down compared to the 2022 claim
of restoring to 90% of capacity by 2024, showing that the
progress of its restoration was not as expected.

Paladin focused on advancing the restart of the Langer
Heinrich Mine uranium project, stating in November that it
would begin production in the first quarter of 2024 at 2,310tU/
year with a 17-year mine run; however, it stated in January
2024 that the first batch of natural uranium may be delayed
until the beginning of the second quarter due to low contractor
productivity over the Christmas/New Year period, and is now
93% of the way to a restart of the project, with processing
operations commenced on 20 January 2024, and the
beneficiation process of the first batch of one has completed.

Boss Energy announced in 2022 that its Honeymoon uranium
mine would commence production in the fourth quarter of
20283, with production expected to reach and sustain 940tU
per year within three years, but as of the end of January 2024,
the project had not yet been commissioned, and the company
has updated its initial production start-up to the end of the first
quarter of 2024.

Under construction projects:

The Zarlpak project, a mine in Kazakhstan in which the
Company holds interest, is currently in the mine construction
stage. In April, the mine construction plan was approved by
the board of directors of Ortalyk and the mine construction
was officially launched in October, and the mine construction is
expected to be completed by the end of 2024.

The South Tortkudu mine of Kazakhstan’s Katco, a joint
venture between France’s Orano and Kazatomprom, will start
production by the end of 2023, with an expected production
capacity of 2,600tU/year (65% of the designed capacity) in
2024-2025, and reach a stabilized production capacity of
4,000tU/year in 2026 at the earliest.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN
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As a result of the coup in Niger, France’s Orano announced in
September the cessation of its uranium processing operations
in Niger and maintained the Somair uranium mine in a state of
repair.

Exploration/researchable projects:

Denison increased its exploration efforts at the Phoenix
uranium mine, and during the year, Denison raised US$55.13
million for exploration and development of the Phoenix project,
successively completed the Recovered Solution Management
Phase test of the site feasibility test of the ground leach
project, published the mine feasibility study report, and
updated the amount of resources above control level to be
approximately 56.3 million pounds of U;O4 (10,412tU), with
production expected to commence in 2027 at an all-in cost
of US$16.04/IbU,0O4 and an after-tax net present value of
US$1.2 billion.

Denison announced a high grade uranium discovery at
the Moon Lake South Project (holding 75% share), further
demonstrating the potential for large, high grade uranium
deposits on unconsolidated faces in the area.

Denison announced the completion of a conceptual study
evaluating the use of the ISR mining method at the Midwest
Uranium Mine Project, which the mine was jointly owned
by Denison (25.17%) and Orano (74.83%), with amount
of resource of approximately 39.9 million pounds of U;Oq
(approximately 15,346tU).

The PLS project, a participating mine of the Company,
released its feasibility study in March, announcing that the
project had entered the environmental assessment phase; in
April, an application was submitted to the Canadian Nuclear
Safety Commission for the construction of a mine and
hydrometallurgical plant, and a cooperation agreement has
been signed with six of the most influential First Nations tribes
in the area; it is expected to be in production in 2028, with a
design capacity of 30,000tU and a lifespan of 10 years.
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Orano entered into a cooperation agreement with Erdenes
Mongol for the development of the Zuuvch-Ovoo uranium
mine in Mongolia (with total resource of approximately
93,291tU, 30-year project life, and expected to begin full
production in 2028).

Forum Resources announced the discovery of high-grade
mineralization at the Thelon Basin project.

Reactivated projects:

Lotus Resources’ Kayelekera project in Malawi is in the final
stages of restarting and will be in full production in the second
half of 2025, with an expected annual production rate of
850tU/year and a project life of 10 years.

Peninsula Energy has announced a delay in the restart of
production at its Lance uranium mine in Wyoming, US (from
the first quarter of 2023 to December 2024), with production
capacity expected to reach 423tU in 2025, increasing to 615-
692tU in 2029.

2024 production plan:

Due to the shortage of raw materials, geopolitical fluctuations
and other factors, a number of producers issued a statement
that their company’s scheduling plan will be adjusted
according to the actual situation, or a situation where the
production capacity is less than expected may happen. For
example, in January 2024, Kazatomprom said that due to
sulfuric acid supply issues and delays in the construction of
a new mine, the company would adjust its production plan
for 2024, with a greater likelihood that it would cut back on
its production expectations for 2024, and that production
in 2025 may also be impacted. This followed Kazatomprom
expectation that production in 2024 would return to 90%
(approximately 27,000tU/year), and disclosed that there will
be only a production growth of 3% in 2024 compared to the
previous year in the fourth quarter operating report published
in February.
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In the first half of 2023, the spot natural uranium price maintained
a stable upward trend, and the rate of increase accelerated in the
second half of the year, with the industry entering the path of rapid
development. From January to May, as affected by the uncertainties
in the Western financial markets and the global economic
environment, the market liquidity was generally low, with the uranium
price fluctuating up and down at the level of US$50/IbU,Og; in June, it
was affected by the release of physical natural uranium AMC (Actively
Managed Certificate, a form of financial financing) products by the
Swiss asset management company, Zuri-Invest AG (“Zuri-Invest”),
the uranium price rose as high as US$57.75/1bU,0g; in July-August,
a coup took place in Niger, which provides approximately 5% of the
world’s natural uranium production capacity annually, triggering a
market supply panic, causing the uranium price rose to US$61.1/
IbU,Oq. In September, supply-side tensions intensified, with Orano
announcing the cessation of its uranium processing operations in
Niger and maintaining the maintenance status of its Somair uranium
mine, and Cameco lowering its expected annual production; at the
same time, the World Nuclear Association released its Nuclear Fuel
Report, raising expectations of future growth in demand for nuclear
fuel and installed capacity, driving prices further up to US$73.5/
IbU;O4. In October-December, based on factors such as 22 countries
in COP28 launching the declaration on tripling nuclear energy in 2050,
and the US and Russia sanctioning each other’s import and export
of nuclear fuel, the price continued to rise to US$91.0/1bU;05. At the
same time, the price of long term trade rose gradually from US$52.0/
IbU,Oq in January to US$56.0/1bU,0; in July, and then accompanied
by the spot price all the way up, at the same time due to the nuclear
power owners having entered the field of procurement, signing a new
long trade contract, and driving up the long trade price, long trade
price for August-December rushed up from US$58.0/IbU,O; to the
annual maximum value of US$72.0/1bU,Os.
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In 2023, the global long-term trade volume of natural uranium was
much higher than the spot trading volume (the annual long-term
trade volume was 61,385tU, an increase of 40.0% as compared
to corresponding period last year, and the annual spot trading
volume was 21,154tU, a decrease of 9.5% as compared to the
corresponding period last year), breaking the trend that the spot
trading volume is much higher than the long-term trade volume for
the second consecutive year. Major uranium producers signed more
long-term contracts one after another, for example, Kazatomprom
signed long-term contracts for natural uranium with the Emirates
Nuclear Energy Corporation and China Nuclear Uranium Co., Ltd.
(undisclosed quantity and price), respectively, Boss Energy signed
the first long-term contract for Honeymoon Mine with a US nuclear
owner (to supply 385tU from 2025 to 2031), and the third long-
term contract entered into between GLO and North America nuclear
owner for Dasa Mine (total long-term trading volume of 3.50 million
pounds, delivering in batches since 2026). Although the number of
long-term contract entered into for 2023 has risen significantly, there is
still a gap from the average contracted volume level of 90,000tU/year
before the Fukushima nuclear accident, and as the market recovers
further, it is expected to increase in incentives for subsequent nuclear
owner to enter into long-term contract. In addition, following the
issuance of physical natural uranium funds by Sprott, ANU and Yellow
Cake since 2021, other financial institutions have entered the market
to explore such model in 2023, for example, Zuri-Invest announced
in April 2023 that it had raised US$100 million to set up a physical
natural uranium AMC, and completed the establishment of the
product in June. Meanwhile, a number of natural uranium developers
and explorers also raised equity financing in 2023, with a cumulative
amount of more than US$650 million, and through the issuance of
different types of market financing instruments, such as ATM (At
The Market), new uranium resource FT (Fungible Token), convertible
bonds, and the raising of the financing limit of the prospectus, as a
way of preparing funds for the development of their uranium mining
projects.

2023F ' RN ARAMRERIER
AERBEERXFGIE(2FREXHER
61,385tU + MAFRIEILKR40.0% * £2F
BERXHEH21,154tU - REFF R
£9.5%)  BEMFIWRERFEES
REERXRSEMED - = EHEMRE N
AREAGRBRTEE ' 0« BRI HEE
BiZeE AR P BRHEROERAA S
AEEBRABREEGR CREBRSEMNE
%) ~ Boss EnergyHl —REBRIZEHEE R
sTHoneymooniB LM E—H EEZE AR (&
fE2025%F 2031 F#:fE385tU) + GLOEE L
ERBETFF DasatiiBENE=MMKZ
AR (BREE3508E © (£2026F 5
BT E  BE023F2FEREARAE
HECRAEERTE - BERBESZERZA
MOBtU, FHFHENEKFENE—T
ZIp o BREMISE—SER  HHREX
BEFAGEIRESGRAND OB ER
BN o I - #2021 4F B Sprott ~ ANU -
Yellow CakeE#BEITRAMENES
& 20283F B HMEREBALER
AR 0 Bl - 202344 8 © Zuri-Invest
SRR E1EELK L E YR ATHAMG -
WiR6 ASEREMRL - R - 2028 %
KR 3 5 3 7 Ik DR pE th A 40 s T T AR A
BE - R EREM6.5EET  WRB
ZE1TATM (At The Market) ~ ¥ EHE R
FT (Fungible Token) - AJ#&{EZE T F4EH
MEBMET B RIEABBRERE LRE
A L RETHHIEEB REEEE
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Natural uranium spot prices/long-term prices and monthly trading volume in 2023
2023F RARMBAE REERRAERSE

Spot trading volume/ Long-term
trading volume (MIbU3z0Os)

RERHe KEXHE (MbUs0s)

Spot price/ long-term price (US$/IbU30s)
RE/REME (US$/IbUsOs)
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HEE Spot trading volume I | ong-term trading volume

REXFE RERXZE
Spot price Long-term price
WEERS RE B

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS XBRENRDW

During the Reporting Period, the total equity source of the Group was
39,000tU and equity production was 1,277tU.

Uranium mines under production - Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine

During the Reporting Period, the volume of uranium extracted from
Semizbay-U was in accordance with the arranged production of
80% of designed production capacity. The designated production
capacity for 2023 was 975tU and the actual total volume of uranium
extracted was 976tU, completing its annual production tasks by
100.2%, including 407tU from Semizbay Mine with a production
cost of US$27/IbU,0, and 569tU from Irkol Mine with a production
cost of US$23/IbU,O,. After deduction of processing loss, the total
annual natural uranium production was 963tU. In addition, during
the manufacturing and operating process, through the continuous
implementation of effective cost control measures, and benefiting
from the impact of higher uranium prices, the sales profit from
Semizbay-U increased significantly, creating the conditions for
continued stable growth of the company.

WMEHRN - AEEREZEREA3.98
tU - ERESH1,277U °

T E IR — SRR (7R

AR - A RIRIB R AT ES0% T
PEAEE - 2023F BT EIRmEO75U - B
BRERSME976tU » SeR FEETE1100.2% ¢
HAH@®407tU £ER A B27E
7T,/ 1bU,Oy * FHES569tU + £ EK A A23
ETL/1bU;0, - HIKRMITIBAE - 2F &
HEERIAHRIGIU o I - EEELZIE
B BERRE MK AN EGEE - B
R iE ERRERNTE - REHARGA
AIMHEFEIERERA - AEREDELE
BRANE TR -
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As at 31 December 2023, the remaining resources and reserves of

Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine were as follows:

Average Grade %
FHmiz %
Resources ’000tU
BIRE TS
Reserves '000tU
fFeE 18
Note:
1. Due to the changes in the standards and parameters of the Kazakhstan

resource assessment and the provisions of Articles 125-126 of the Kazakhstan
law on Water Code that resulted in the section of the Irkol Mine near the Syr
Darya River not being exploitable under the current legislation, it was adjusted
from reserves to resources.

Uranium mines under production — Central Mynkuduk Deposit
and Zhalpak Deposit

During the Reporting Period, the volume of uranium extracted by
Ortalyk was in accordance with the arranged production of 80% of
designed production capacity. The designated production capacity
for 2023 was 1,720tU and the actual total volume of uranium
extracted was 1,644tU, completing its annual production tasks by
95.6%, including 1,513tU from Central Mynkuduk Deposit with a
production cost of US$17/IbU,O, and 131tU from Zhalpak Deposit
(on site leach test phase) with a production cost of US$27/IbU,Os.
After deduction of processing loss, the total annual natural uranium
production was 1,642tU. Affected by the shortage of sulfuric acid
supply in the market, Central Mynkuduk Deposit completed 95%
of its annual production plan. During the operation, the Company
actively adopted various measures to effectively control costs, which,
when combined with the factors of higher uranium prices, resulted in
significant growth in Ortalyk economic efficiency in 2023. In addition,
in October 2023, the mine construction work at the Zhalpak Deposit
was initiated and the construction of the hydrometallurgical workshop
commenced.

HZE2023F12A318 » #iE R FEERG
BRENMEEOT :

Semizbay Mine Irkol Mine
Bk FiE
0.059 0.0422
5.8 14.0
5.8 3.0°
HE -
1. HRRERIMEERIHIEEA2HNE

b ARG TE e T8 OKERE) " RERT
H5E125-1261F R G RFRAHMEED
AT BRI RITIOE TRRER - #:Z
MOERAREARAERE -

TEE MK — FPIREILIE

HWEHR - BARIRBERFTELRSO% R
PELEE - 2023F E AT EIFHE1,720tU -
B 81,644t0 0 TR F E 2
95.6% + EfpAEE1,513tU » £EK LKA
17378,/ 1bU,04 ¢+ FLEE131tU » AEK A
527370,/ 1bU0, » BRI TIEBAE -
2 EHAEERRM 642tU - SHIBHE
HEESREE PRERFEEES
95%  ZEIBIZF + ARIBIGEINZIBSE
B ANS B RUES] - BEMNE LR
HE ' 2023 F R QA ER=IE REE
SEAh + 2023F 10 AR BN FLIERIBIRET
1E - FIA7NOREEREERR -
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As at 31 December 2023, the remaining resources and reserves of

Central Mynkuduk Deposit and Zhalpak Deposit were as follow:

Average Grade %
i %
Resources ’000tU
BIRE T8 i
Reserves ’000tU
fEE 198 8

Uranium mine project pending for development - operation
and project exploration by Fission

During the Reporting Period, based on information available to the
Board and other publicly available information, Fission focused on
the development works for its PLS Project. On 17 January 2023,
Fission released the results of the feasibility study with the expected
lifetime production of PLS Project approximately 35,000tU, showing
a 10-year mine life and a mine construction cost of CA$1,155 million,
representing a slight decrease compared to the pre-feasibility study.
Based on the premises of a long-term uranium price of US$65/
IbU,Og, an exchange rate of CA$1 = US$0.75 and a discount rate of
8%, the PLS Project would have a production cost of approximately
US$9.77/IbU,O,, an after-tax net present value of approximately
CA$1,204 million, an internal rate of return of approximately 27.2%
and an investment payback period of approximately 2.6 years. The
results of the feasibility study indicate that the PLS Project is financially
highly viable and is one of the quality projects to be developed in
the Athabasca Basin. Guided by the results of the positive feasibility
study, Fission initiated the front end engineering design of the
PLS Project and in April submitted an application to the Canadian
Nuclear Safety Commission for the construction of a uranium mine
and hydrometallurgical plant in the Athabasca Basin. In order to
better complete the pre-engineering design work, two engineering
geological holes and 10 hydrogeological holes were completed at the
PLS Project in June 2023 to optimize the PLS Project underground
mining design and tailings management facility. It is expected that in
June 2024, all preliminary engineering design work will be completed.

************ EEENRR DN

HE2023FE12A318 - HiERILEF S
BRENMEEOT :

Central Mynkuduk Zhalpak
Deposit Deposit

b 3 5%

0.027 0.031

22.8 14.1

18.4 141

7B 5 $H 1B — Fission 2> ajA8 & R 1B B &
BRIER

HEHR - BREEESAERNEERRD
F{= & ' Fission’A Al EZHE A HE TPLS
T8 B MR 3 TE - 202341 517 HFission
NRIEM T AT AR - B RPLSIE
HIET2BHEE 4 A35,000tU - BILE
aAlE10F - R A A/11.5518 00T -
BRI TR AR - IHREHAMHE
A65%7T,/1bU,0g ° EER117T=0.753
7T TR B8%MATIRIGH - PLSTHEM
HEEKAKAB.TTETT, U0, + BiEF
BELNAE12.04FM7T - REBREERL B
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FAOMEKHE FL + LAB(EPLSTE B #1 T
FIER ST M E IR E AR o 851202456
BRI 2 EPAT I Ti2a8st Tk -
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Natural uranium trading business

As at 31 December 2023, the Group achieved revenue of HK$7,360
million from natural uranium trading, increased by 102% as compared
to 2022, among which, trading revenue from sales of off-take natural
uranium products from mines of Semizbay-U and Ortalyk was
HK$1,688 million, representing an increase of 26% as compared to
2022 (2022: HK$1,341 million). In 2023, the Company contracted
the purchase of a total of 1,299tU of natural uranium products
from Semizbay-U and Otralyk, representing a decrease of 1.7%
as compared to 1,321tU in 2022 and the average sales price of
US$64.42/IbU,0, and the average sales cost of US$64.90/1bU,Os.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global sold a total of 5,670tU with
the average sales price of US$49.62/IbU,O, and the average sales
cost of US$48.38/IbU,0O, and realized trading revenue of HK$5,672
million. In 2023, Russia-Ukraine conflict, continuous interest rate
hikes by the US Federal Reserve and procurement of the fund of
natural uranium remain as the main factors on affecting the market
price. CGN Global took prevention and control of market risks as
its top operational priority, studied the market trends carefully and
overachieve its performance indicators despite the complex and
changing market environment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 697tU of natural uranium
at a weighted average cost of US$49.61/IbU,0,, and had 3,303tU
contracted for sale but not yet delivered, at a weighted average
selling price of US$56.78/IbU,0.

Acquisition of new uranium resources project

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have significant
investments save for its interests in Semizbay-U, Ortalyk and Fission
disclosed above.

Maintenance of Investor Relationship

In 2023, due to the impact of the US Federal Reserve’s interest rate
hike, the global capital market was highly volatile, with a large amount
of capital outflows from Hong Kong stocks and the Hang Seng Index
declining. Against this backdrop, the Company rose to the challenge
and positively overcame a number of difficulties. Meanwhile,
combined with the favorable policies on global nuclear power
generation and the recovery of the natural uranium industry, the
Company achieved fruitful results in investor relations maintenance
work. During the Reporting Period, the Company strengthened its
communication with investors through the dual channels of “offline
+ online”, and systematically optimised its information disclosure,
market promotion, industry research, achieving satisfactory results.

AR HEZRH

HZE2023F 128310  REBEH KA
e 557,360 F &8 T E2022F 1N
102% ° EiF - REFH AR KRB A AL
R R AMEMIEEEA1,688E 8%
JC 0 #$K20224F FR26% (20224 : 1,341
BEAEI) - 2023F AR £/ R F]
NMEATBERAMERT,299tU » &
202241, 321tUR A 1.7% » FHHEERE
B64.423 7T,/ 1bU,0O, © FHHER AN B
64.90% 7T, ToU 0, ©

AR PEZBFHEE QA HLH
£5,670tU © FHHEBIR B49.62%
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JC ° 20234 - i Bihze - ERREINB T E
AR KAMESHB DA EMSER
MEZREZE @ PEZBEFHEEQRBHE
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts B

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ ERBHWR DA

H

=
to broaden its channels of direct communication and liaison with MR RBERAMTEZERA RSN -
Shareholders. The Company considered the implementation of the WIS BT MR - Biesd AT TERK
shareholder communication policy was effective during the Reporting B ARRRERERA - BREBABER
Period after the review of the following work and outcomes. The key BB - BERTIERKEBIENAT :

work and outcomes are as follows:

Channels
RiE

Annual general meeting

REFBFRE

Annual results presentation and interim
results presentation

FEXRERMHERTHXERGS

Regular reports and announcements
EHHRERDE

Key points
351

Approved 7 ordinary resolutions and 1 special
resolution on 15 June
A5 B ATIE L MRR R BFRIRESR

On 24 March, the 2022 annual results conference was
convened by the Company in Hong Kong, more than
40 attendants, including analysts from Morgan Stanley,
BOC International, Zhongtai International and other
institutions and investors, attended on site

3A248  RRMEBEBBR2022F EXEEEME - K
BERLTAF - FIREER - P RERSRERN D TED
MIGEE A FE4088 AR B2 INES)

On 25 August, the 2023 interim results conference
was convened by the Company in Hong Kong,
simultaneous host on Zoom online platform and
live streaming through Futu platform. Around 50
attendants, including analysts from CICC, Morgan
Stanley, Citadel, Galaxy Asset Management, Gold
Mountains Asset and other institutions and investors,
have attended on site, with more than 800 people
watched the live stream online

8A25H ' RRIEBBBM2023Fh BB MHE -
RZFMZoom#E L F AN RBELREF FRETE
% kEHPeRla - ERLFF - Citadel ~ $RIAE
B RILEESHBOSITAMAIRE AIS0AZMT
WIHEMmE R EHFHESOARBEER

Released 23 announcements, 1 circular and 3 regular
reports throughout the year

2EEM2BMNAE - 110K R3MERRE

Including 1 positive profit alert and 1 profit alert
BEDEARFTES D BFEL
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Channels
RE

Company awards
AFEE

Inclusion in major global indices

MAZRERER

Brokerage strategy meeting and roadshows
communication

FERMERIREE

Key points
B

“Hong Kong Stock Golden Bull Award” by China
Securities Journal

PEIES RS 45

“Best Hong Kong Stock Connect Company” by
Zhitong Finance

Bl REBRBAT]

“Best Capital Market Communication” and “Best
Supervisor” by Roadshow China

R [REEARTSER] R RIEAEE]

On 5 September, the Company was included as a
constituent for the Hang Seng Composite Index, in
Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect

9R5H - ARIEMABEGZESIREX MR  BARAK
Sz

As of the end of December, the Company has
accumulated more than 300 million shares
(representing approximately 4.06%) from southbound
funds

BIE12AK - ARIRFHERERE S IEFBIER (G
#4.06%)

In February 2024, the Company was included in FTSE
Global Equity Index Series Small Cap Index
2024F2R - RAEMABRHERERRERHBFRT
INTT{EEEL

Proactively conducted investor roadshows and reversal
roadshow for exchanges, and participated in more
than 100 brokerage strategy meetings and investor
exchanges throughout the year
BRETTIRE B REREREERN - 2FRA2 0%
RIS M E B R1005:5

Received more than 20 investment institutions and
brokerage firms for on-site research

2F REHEF0RT AR - SR B M
Accumulatively connected with over 200 institutional
investors throughout the year

BF RFHEH2008 BB IR EERIIME
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Channels Key points
RE B

Keynote Speech .
FEERE

Analysts’ reports .

ZATENER &

Media interviews .

R

In July, Xu Junmei, the ED and chief financial officer,
was invited to participate in the “CITIC CLSA China
Event-Back in the game” investor summit organized
by CLSA in Singapore and delivered a keynote speech
on “Natural Uranium Market Prospects and M&A
Strategy of CGN Mining”, and the Company was the
only representative of the listed companies in China
delivering the keynote speech at this summit

TR BTEEREEMBEREEIE2 NP EES
BEREFIEE YA [CITIC CLSA China Event-Back
in the game /IR EHIES - WES FECRAMTISR
ERPEZEEGBRE) FREE  ARRIRES
ME—BXRFERBNPE ETARIREK

In November, the Company attended the CITIC
Securities Investment Strategy Conference, and
delivered a speech titled “Prospect of the Natural
Uranium Market”

1A RRAIZNPEEFFERERKES - WECK
NEMTISRE) FREER

During the year, the Company received 25 research
reports

REE AR RAEEHERE2R

Newly covered by 10 brokerage firms in their research
reports

MEG10RFHE R RES

In December, An Junjing, the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company, was
interviewed by China Securities Journal, and released
the interview article and video with the theme of
“Securing Natural Uranium Supply and Helping Energy
Transformation”

12R > RAIEFEGIR  HBFRTEREREXPH
BHMED - WEMEERMUFRAMREMRE - B
NeERER) A Fah iR RAR SR
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Channels Key points
RE E:d
ESG e In January, ESG Committee was established and ESG

ESG

Increase in the proportion of institutional investors e

HIBIRE AMG LN

governance structure was improved

1A - BKIZESGEE® © TEESGRIBAEE

In April, the first independent ESG annual report was
published

47 - B EMNBIESGFE RS

In May, MSCI updated the rating BB (maintained)

5 » MSCIE # ¥4 BBAR (#F)

In September, the rating of MioTech Index was
upgraded from BB to BBB, and the Company was
newly awarded a B+ rating by SynTao Green Finance
9R - WREHTRHBBIES ZBBBA - HBEAAN
BT ARIB+aTAR

In October, the rating of Sino-Securities Index raised
from BB to BBB

108 - EFEEGETRHBBiE® =BBBH

The proportion of equity interest held by other
institutional investors increased from 11.44% as of the
end of 2022 to 15.39% as of the end of 2023 (Note:
due to the refinement of the statistics, “institutional
investors” has excluded “custodians and nominees” in
the shareholders’ category of this year, therefore the
data has changed.)
HMpMEIRE AL A2022F KM 11.44% L FAZE
2023F[KM15.39% (7F : BN ALar AE 4L - KF
ERFRER G - [BEBEREAITBSHEARKE
Al BBIRBFTEE)

Introduced top public funds in Mainland China including
CUAM, SDIC Fund, Southern Asset Management
SIANEREES  BERES mAESSHEAME
HAsEe



Channels
RE

Company website
AT,
(http://www.cgnmc.com)

Official We Media channel
BEhBEERE

Official e-mail
B A

ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
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Key points
B

Continuous maintenance:
FRIERE

Company news and industry information
RNAIZERITERESR

Announcements and circulars

NS GG

Results, report and roadshow materials

FiE - WMEREKEME

Analysts’ reports

DHTRIERE

Daily stock price and monthly natural uranium price
index

FHBERE A RAMEBRER

The official Wechat account, the corporate accounts
on Futu, Zhihu, Royal Flush and Xuegiu.com have been
established, while continuously deliver information and
research related to the natural uranium industry.
EREFABEAMER B8 BT REIEREHRE
REEERSE - WHRHER MR AT TR B S LR
Published more than 10 pieces of short message,
medium and in-depth articles throughout the year
PEEMEN - PREIREXEI0RR

Receives investor enquiries and feedback

BYREERALRBRRE
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market analysis

First, in terms of its own advantages and necessity for nuclear power,
nuclear energy is unaffected by global climate change, has high
capacity factor, is efficient and stable in power generation, and low
carbon emission, which can effectively complement the shortcomings
of current new energy sources such as wind and solar power as a
baseload energy source.

Second, in terms of global future estimated installed capacity, in
2023, the WNA mid-case forecasted a 12% increase in the highest
nuclear power capacity growth prior to 2040 from the previous
forecast, with global nuclear power production capacity anticipated to
increase to 686GWe by 2040; meanwhile, according to the forecast
of UxC, global natural uranium demand for nuclear power plants will
total 103,808tU by 2035, representing a 36% increase from the end
of 2023, so nuclear fuel demand will continue to rise significantly in
the future.

Third, in terms of forecast on China’s development, under the
background of firmly promoting “Carbon Peaking and Carbon
Neutrality”, China’s nuclear power development will meet
unprecedented opportunities. Since 2013, the proportion of nuclear
power generation in China has steadily increased from 2.11% in 2013
to 4.22% before the approval of recommissioning of nuclear power
in 2018 and to the current 4.86%, while the average proportion of
nuclear power generation in developed countries is 10%, which
indicates that there is still huge room for improvement in China.
According to the China Nuclear Energy Association and third party
research institutions, it is expected that China will approve new
nuclear power generating units at a rate of 6 to 8 units per year,
reaching a proportion of 10% for nuclear power generation by 2035.

ME - %RE
HEAF
= BESURE  BREEE - TNUE
REFERERMEZMAE - K5e%E
FTRERA R

B ERENEZEME
AH

TRERRERS(CTE - B

HR  E2RRERAEEATT -
2023% - HAZHEH2040F M ZER
ERERNPFRBARCAIPRIBAKET
12% * TEFTH)2040F 2 % B E AL 1§18
InZzl686GWe  [EEF + HRIBFUXCTEA - 2
2035F R IZ BRI RIA T KB E 5=
F1103,808tU * #:2023F K1 K36% * &
It RAAZBREL R K FHE R IE Lk o

B ARBRBEREHRIE  TRETHED
[REE - IRPANINERT - PEIZEE
B DR AIFT AR B RS - 20135FE
5 PEZERENILETE L - #2013
FH2.11 %1 R E2018F X BEEILAT
#14.22% - BEEE AIH4.86% * 1M 3EEE
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BRRHLEAZ=RE BBEPEIZETERS
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In addition, in terms of the attitude of the global major countries
towards nuclear power deployment, a number of countries around
the world have continued to put forward policies in favor of the
nuclear power industry during the year to cope with the energy
instability brought by geopolitics, overlaid with uncertain risks such as
banking risk events in Europe and the United States, as well as the
complexity and volatility of the international situation, which are mainly
centered on the following aspects: delaying the decommissioning
time of nuclear power stations, built/approved new nuclear power
units, restarting more nuclear power stations, researching and
developing new generation nuclear power technologies, and providing
financial support. The above measures will have a long-lasting and
far-reaching impact on the global supply and demand relationship of
nuclear power.

Natural uranium market analysis

First, in terms of the trend of spot and long-term trade, the volume
of long-term trade rose rapidly in 2023 and it is expected to maintain
growth in the future. Following the Fukushima accident, uranium
prices were kept low for extended periods and no new long-term
contracts were signed for a long period of time, with power plant
owners procuring in the spot market to meet demand not covered by
long-term contracts, while most natural uranium producers supported
their sales with long-term contracts signed prior to the Fukushima
accident. However, from 2022 to 2023, the number of long-term
contract signed started to rebound, and the signing of new long-term
contracts represents that under the stimulation of rising spot uranium
prices, the long-term demand from nuclear power plant owners will
gradually become prominent, and the fundamentals of the natural
uranium market will improve, injecting true strength of recovery to
the natural uranium market. However, it should be noted that the
number of long-term contracts has not yet returned to the level
before 2010 and there is still room for growth in the future. Under
such circumstances, in 2023, a number of producers announced to
restart mines that had been shut down, such as Paladin announcing
that 85% of the restarting works of the Langer Heinrich project has
been completed; a number of natural uranium explorers stepped up
their exploration efforts, such as Denison completed the Recovered
Solution Management Phase test of the site feasibility test of the
Phoenix ground leach project, the first field test was completed for
the THT ground leach uranium project, Forum Resources discovered
high-grade mineralisation at the Thelon Basin project, and CNNC’s
Rossing uranium mine is scheduled to start the development of the
Phase IV project in 2027.
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Second, in terms of global energy security and supply landscape,
the impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict since February 2022
has caused the price of traditional fossil energy to skyrocket, and
energy security and energy independence to be emphasized to an
unprecedented level. Over time, the impact of the Russia-Ukraine
conflict has eased, but the ensuing geopolitical events such as the
coup in Niger have further triggered fears of an energy crisis. At
the same time, in order to reduce dependence on Russia’s nuclear
fuel supply, North American and European countries have adopted
a strategy of supply diversification, such as the EU’s launch of the
“Europeanisation” of Russia’s VVER Fuel supply program, the US
House of Representatives passed the sanctions bill to prohibit the
imports of Russian nuclear fuel, while allowing the obtainment of
temporary exemption of Russian fuel imports by January 2028.
Following such conditions, global nuclear fuel supply landscape will
be changed accordingly.

Third, in terms of multilateral cooperation on nuclear fuel, many
countries have started multilateral cooperation based on the attitude
of embracing nuclear energy and for ensuring the safety and stability
of their fuel supply, such as France and Sweden signed a letter of
intent to strengthen cooperation in the nuclear energy industry, and
Kazakhstan will cooperate with France in the field of nuclear fuel.

Finally, for financial institutions’ purchases for investment, the
procurement and purchase slightly decreased as compared to 2022,
but the overall trend for physical natural uranium holding are on an
upward trend. At the end of 2021, financial institutions including Sprott
and Yellow Cake Plc purchased large volume of natural uranium in the
spot market, chose to hold for long term instead of selling in the spot
market in 2022 and continued to increase purchases in 2023, and
mentioned in its announcement that it “maintains a business model of
buying without selling, and continues to build up a physical inventory
of natural uranium”, with a total of 33,188tU held by the financial
institution at the end of 2023 which may further give pressure to the
secondary supply formed by the spot commercial inventory in the
future. In addition, following the joint establishment of the ANU Physical
Natural Uranium Fund in 2022 by Kazatomprom and National Bank
of Kazakhstan and the establishment of a new junior uranium maker
ETF by Sprott in New York, the release of Zuri-Invest’s physical natural
uranium AMC (Actively Managed Certificate) product in 2023 will also
put pressure on the balance of spot supply-demand relationships.

In summary, the natural uranium market is expected to continue its
recovery in 2024.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation of Semizbay-U

In accordance with the production plan of Kazatomprom, Semizbay-U
will continue to operate in accordance with its production reduction
plan in 2024. The Company will continue to actively participate in the
governance of Semizbay-U through its board of directors to ensure
that Semizbay-U completes its annual production plan and product
sales tasks and achieves its annual profit target. At the same time,
the Company is actively promoting work on new projects for the
development of sandstone-type uranium resources, so as to prepare
for the development of Sino-Kazakh cooperation. The despatch team
will continue to strengthen the supervision on the implementation of
annual production and operation plan and annual budget, especially
the completion of the preparation work for mines in newly developed
region and natural uranium processing work on time with good quality
to ensure the enterprise can accomplish its operational goals with
safe production.

Operation of Ortalyk

In 2024, the Company will continue to participate in the governance
of Ortalyk through its board of directors to ensure Central Mynkuduk
Deposit and Zhalpak Deposit can complete their annual production
plans and product sales tasks and achieve their annual profit targets.
On the other hand, the annual mine construction missions of Zhalpak
are to be completed on time and with high quality. The despatch
team will actively participate in the production and operation
management of the mine, inspect and supervise the implementation
of the annual production and operation plan and annual budget, to
ensure the enterprise complete the annual operation targets with safe
production and efficient operation. At the same time, the despatch
team shall check and monitor the progress and quality of the mine
construction of Zhalpak Deposit to ensure completion of the mine
construction plan under the premise of safe construction.
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Management and Control on Fission

In respect of Fission, the Company mainly relies on participation in its
board of directors to involve in its major decision-making and exert
influence, while continuously deepening the technical support to the
PLS Project and enhancing regular technical exchange. In 2024,
the Company will strengthen the communication and exchange with
Fission, especially focusing on the discussion on the rating for the
environmental impact of PLS Project and progress on the application
of mining license.

Active Expansion of Trading Business

The Group will strengthen its business dealings with end customers,
such as global nuclear power plants owners, actively participate
in international market bidding, develop new business models and
actively explore new trading opportunities under the premise of strict
control of operational risk to ensure the achievement of annual trade
targets.

Acquisition of New Uranium Resources Projects

With the steady development of nuclear power generation worldwide
and the natural uranium industry in the ascendant, the Group will
continue to follow up on the opportunities of high-quality uranium
projects around the world, and approach potential targets at an
opportune time, in order to provide continuous and stable uranium
resources for nuclear power generation owners. At the same time, the
Group will seek to establish strategic partnerships with internationally
renowned uranium producers and traders to study the feasibility of
developing uranium projects in various modes.

Implementing equity incentive policy

In order to improve the medium and long-term incentive and binding
mechanism of the Company, to strengthen the benefit-sharing and
risk-taking among Shareholders, the Company and employees, to
enhance the sense of belonging and loyalty of the management
and core staff, to fully mobilize the enthusiasm of the Company’s
senior and middle management and core staff in achieving strategic
objectives, and to realize the joint development of the Company and
employees, the Company will continue to promote the implementation
medium and long-term incentive plans, such as share option scheme.
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RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The comprehensive risk management system of the Group functioned
effectively in 2023 with all risks under monitor and there were no
significant risk incidents. The completed major work includes:

Firstly, operating a risk management system in a solid manner.
Sorting out the external situation and internal conditions of each
business of the Company, and clarifying the environment in which
the Company’s risk management takes place. Organising in-depth
comprehensive risk identification within the Company with major
risks as the core and key projects as the main line. Combined with
the actual operation of the Company, sort out the Company’s major
risk countermeasures and establish major risk warning indicators
and warning thresholds. In the course of operation, timely warning is
issued according to the progress of risk matters, response measures
are dynamically adjusted, risk monitoring is carried out on a monthly
basis, and risk management is reported on a regular basis, so as to
effectively control the occurrence of major risk events.

Secondly, continuing to optimize the specific risk management.
Comprehensive management procedures and mechanisms for each
specific risk management area are established. In terms of legal risk,
the Company continued to pay attention to the changes in laws and
regulations and political situation in the countries where our overseas
projects are located, studied the laws and past legal documents of
the countries where our key projects are located, conducted legal
argumentation and alerted us of the risks so as to provide counter-
measures and suggestions for the formulation of strategies in the
future. In terms of financial risk, the Company paid close attention to
the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates
on its operations, and took various measures to suppress and control
financial expenses. We have also taken measures to reduce the
Company’s finance costs through loan replacement.

Thirdly, benchmarking and exchange and improving the risk
management level. The Company hire external experts to take
systematic risk management courses within the Company to enrich
the experience of comprehensive risk management cases and
enhance the company’s risk awareness. The Company conducts risk
exchange and learning with peer companies, communicates good
practices in risk management, develops risk management ideas, and
enhances risk management capabilities in a more targeted manner.
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Upon systematic assessment and analysis, the Company is subject
to the following two main risks in 2024, details are as follow:

Production and operational risks of the projects in Kazakhstan.
The increase in demand for sulfuric acid due to factors such as rising
domestic inflation in Kazakhstan and the increase in production
by Kazatomprom. The Company will strengthen procurement
management, continue to carry out procurement optimization work,
dig deep into the procurement optimisation starting point, complete
the major procurement contract sorting, and optimise procurement
means. At the same time, the Company will strengthen the awareness
of cost reduction and efficiency enhancement, and continuously
reduce the production cost by means of “improving the reuse rate of
equipment”, “repairing instead of building” and “changing instead of
purchasing”.

Risk of the impact on the operation of the Company caused by
international conditions. Influenced by the high interest rate of the
US dollar, rising energy prices and intensified geopolitical conflicts,
panic spreads, the global capital market is under pressure and the
economy is expected to go down. The Company’s capital market
performance and subsequent financing, resource development,
international trade of natural uranium, and production and operation
of participating companies will face certain challenges. The Company
will closely track the situation and the changes in Russia, Ukraine
and Central Asia, study the impact on the Company’s capital
market performance and various businesses in a timely manner, and
formulate countermeasures to safeguard the Company’s interests.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the
Group throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in
financial indicators, business development of the Group can be
comprehensively understood.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION IS EE RN REE
Major Financial Indicators FEHHBIEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Profitability indicators BFEENEE
Gross profit margin (%)' EHE (%) 1.79 4.06
EBITDA (HK$ million) 2 EBITDA(& & ET)2 692.81 630.70
EBITDA/Revenue ratio (%) EBITDA & ¥ 5L R (%)° 9.41 17.29
Net profit margin (%) * JF o 2 (%) 6.75 14.11
Operation ability indicators BB HIEE
Trade receivables cycle — average FEN BR TR B — 35 (K)°
(Days)® 19 21
Inventory cycle — average (Days) © FEEE - K)e 69 195
Investment return indicators REBIHMIER
Return on equity (%) 7 ez B (%) 13.75 18.71
Profit attributable to owners of the RAREE A EF 8L 5
Company to revenue ratio (%) ® L2 (%)8 6.75 1411
Return on assets (%) BEBIRE (%) 7.30 7.79
Repayment ability indicators EEENIEE
Bank balances and cash (HK$ milion) R1T4&F RIR& (735 7T) 1,017.24 52.39
Net tangible assets (HK$ million) 1° BREEFRE(FEET)° 3,879.52 3,345.81
Gearing ratio (%) "' BARE EL (%) 73.97 105.06

Notes: MiaT -

1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 1. EEHEMPEN A ER AL EBHEMN
100%. 100% ©

2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets 2. BREADES - MEKAE - FRBEENER
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any. ME - BB REEIE (nE) 2 -

3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets 3. BRERIES - RERAN - FREEETER
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue ME - BERREITE (H) 2RSS
multiplied by 100%. FFHIA100% ©

4. Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%. 4. NG MR A& S RB A SR LA100% ©

5, Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of B 45 e W B K (B3 15 BR ¥ AR B4y S35 1B)

the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (i.e revenue divided by 360
days).

B A B S & 28 (B 2 5B AB60K) ©
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6. Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily costs of sales (i.e costs of sales
divided by 360 days).

7. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total
average equity (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the

Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

8. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by revenue
multiplied by 100%.

9. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total
average assets (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

10. Total equity less right-of-use assets, net.

11. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit of the Group was HK$497 million in 2023, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$515 million
in 2022.

Revenue

10.

11.

FHEE MRS HOBAREMN FHE) BRI
P15 H 8HE AR AR (BNSH & AU ARER IAB60K)

KR BGER A EAG A F 5 FIRR AT 19 4
= HE (ANHRE P RREN FI9E) BRA
100% °

ARBHER ANEBERFRENRAEERE
FELA100% ©

ARBEA ABIERFRENRIATFIHE
ERE VRS BNMREMFHE) BRA
100% °

ERBEREEREEENFE

BB EER = LEBETERA100% °

IR ES

&

B2023F EE M A497TEEBTT &

2022F K515 8 BB TR 3% °

For the year ended

31 December Changes
BZ12A31HILLEE 25
Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20234 2022 #tn/(RL) &/ (HD)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
FTHET TAT FTHERT Aokt
Natural uranium trading AAHE S 7,359,952 3,645,362 3,714,590 102
Property investment MERE 3,171 3,318 (147) (4)
Total revenue EXESE 7,363,123 3,648,680 3,714,443 102
The revenue of the Group was HK$7,363 million in 2023, representing RNEE20235F & ¥ A7,363 8 & T

an increase of 102% as compared to that of HK$3,649 million in
2022, mainly due to CGN Global grasped the opportunities in active
natural uranium market with increased annual trade volume.

E2022F H)3,649H BB L IN102%
FERERFEZBEHEERQRIEEREXRA
ST ERRASIE - 2 IHE S -
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Cost of sales

************ EEENRR DN

SHERA

For the year ended

31 December Changes
BZ12A31BLEE 2F

Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20234 20226 #Btn/(RL) i/ (HD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
FTHET FHT THET BOL
Natural uranium trading cost ~ KASE 5k A 7,231,197 3,500,648 3,730,549 107
Property investment MERE - - NATEA
Total cost of sales SHERKETT 7,231,197 3,500,648 3,730,549 107

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$7,231 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 107% as compared to that of HK$3,501
million in 2022, mainly due to CGN Global grasped the opportunities
in active natural uranium market with increased business volume,
resulting in a corresponding increase in cost of sales.

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Affected by the narrowing of trading spread in the off-take business
and the international trade, the Group recorded a gross profit from
natural uranium trading of HK$129 million in 2023, representing a
decrease of 11% as compared to that of HK$145 million in 2022, and
the gross profit margin of natural uranium trading decrease to 1.75%.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$30 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 34% as compared to that of HK$22
million in 2022, mainly due to the increase of interest income and
exchange gain.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group was HK$19 million
in 20283, representing an increase of 41% as compared to that
of HK$13 million in 2022, mainly due to the increase in purchase
amount of CGN Global as compared to the corresponding period of
2022.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group was HK$52 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 7% as compared to that of HK$49 million
in 2022, mainly due to the increase of consultation fee and other
administrative costs.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. As at the end of
the Reporting Period, the Group held 49% of the equity interest of
Semizbay-U, which mainly owns and operates the Semizbay Mine
and the Irkol Mine in Kazakhstan. The remaining 51% equity interest
of Semizbay-U is held by Kazatomprom.

The Company indirectly acquired 49% interest in Semizbay-U in
2014 at the consideration of USD133.0 million and such 49% interest
in Semizbay-U is recognised as interest in a joint venture of the
Group which amounted to HK$550 million as at 31 December 2023,
representing 8% of the total assets of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of HK$148
million dividend (net of tax) from Semizbay-U and the Group’s share
of Semizbay-U result amounted to HK$273 million, representing an
increase of 30% as compared to the corresponding period of 2022,
which was mainly attributable to the significant increase in revenue of
Semizbay-U following the increase in spot price of natural uranium.

Share of results of associates

The Company’s associates include Ortalyk and Fission.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group held 49% of the
equity interest of Ortalyk which mainly owns and operates the Central
Mynkuduk Deposit and the Zhalpak Deposit in Kazakhstan. The
remaining 51% equity interest of Ortalyk is held by Kazatomprom.

The Group acquired 49% interest in Ortalyk on 30 July 2021 at the
consideration of USD435.1 million and such 49% interest in Ortalyk is
recognised as interest in an associate of the Group which amounted
to HK$3,363 million as at 31 December 2023, representing 50% of
the total assets of the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of HK$338
million dividend (net of tax) from Ortalyk and the share of results of
Ortalyk to the Group amounted to HK$320 million, representing an
increase of 12% as compared to the corresponding period in 2022,
which was mainly attributable to the significant increase in revenue of
Ortalyk following the increase in spot price of natural uranium, and the
impact from the compensation by the Ortalyk to the government of
Kazakhstan.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group held 12.62% of
the equity interest of Fission, which mainly engages in acquisition
and development of exploration and evaluation of uranium assets,
mainly the PLS Project in the south west margin of Saskatchewan’s
Athabasca Basin in Canada.

The Company acquired 19.99% interest in Fission in 2016 at the
consideration of CAD82.2 million which has been subsequently
diluted to 12.62% as a result of issuance of new shares by Fission to
investors as well as under the share option scheme of Fission. Such
12.62% interest in Fission is recognised as interest in an associate
of the Group which amounted to HK$582 million as at 31 December
2028, representing 9% of the total assets of the Group. The Group
had not received any dividend from Fission during the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, Fission issued 57,872,492 ordinary
shares under subscription of new shares to investors, 4,564,625
ordinary shares upon exercise of share options, 330,000 ordinary
shares upon exercise of warrants and 205,601 ordinary shares
as part of director remuneration, resulting in a decrease in the
percentage of equity interests in Fission held by the Company as at
31 December 2023 to 12.62% (31 December 2022: 13.75%).

The Company’s profit in its share in Fission was HK$13 million, which
includes share of loss for the Reporting Period of HK$7 million, loss
on deemed disposal of HK$4 million and the reversal of impairment of
long-term investments of HK$24 million.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have significant
investments save for its interests in Semizbay-U, Ortalyk and Fission
disclosed above.
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Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group were HK$131 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 113% as compared to that of HK$62
million in 2022, mainly due to year-on-year increase in annual average
interest-bearing debt scale and the continuous high USD interest
rate.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$62 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 19% as compared to that of HK$52
million in 2022, mainly due to the increase in the amount of tax
payable as a result of the increase in share of results of a joint venture
and associates.

Profit for the year

The profit of the Group was HK$497 million in 2023, substantially the
same as compared to that of HK$515 million in 2022.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets were HK$6,750
million, substantially the same as compared to HK$6,866 million as at
31 December 2022.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total liabilities were HK$2,870
million, representing a decrease of 18% as compared to HK$3,518
million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the repayment of bank
borrowings by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets were
HK$823 million, representing an increase of 115% as compared
to HK$383 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the
repayment of bank borrowings by the Group during the Reporting
Period, resulting in a significant year-on-year decrease in current
liabilities.
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Current assets

BERBFNWE D

REBEE

As at 31 December Changes
M2H31H 28
Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20234 20224 i (A4) i (D)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
TERT FHET THERT Bt
Inventories 53y 697,245 2,048,471  (1,351,226) (66)
Trade and other receivables  JEUBR K 2 E At FEURIE 461,551 343,396 118,155 34
Amount due from an JREL — ) R AR X R 3R
intermediate holding
company 1,655 1,679 (24) (1)
Amount due from a fellow W —ERZH B AR ZIE
subsidiary 18 18 - -
Income tax recoverable AU EIETS R R 36,300 760 35,540 4,676
Bank balances and cash RITEERRS 1,017,239 52,390 964,849 1,842
Total current assets RBEEARE 2,214,008 2,446,714 (232,706) (10)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total current assets were
HK$2,214 million, representing a decrease of 10% as compared
to HK$2,447 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the
decrease in the inventories as compared to the corresponding period
of 2022 as a result of the sales of CGN Global realised during the
Reporting Period.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of bank balances
and cash of the Group was HK$1,017 million (31 December 2022:
HK$52 million), among which, approximately 0% (31 December 2022:
43%) was denominated in HKD, approximately 99% (31 December
2022: 31%) was denominated in USD, approximately 1% (31
December 2022: 15%) was denominated in RMB. Due to the amount
received from sale of natural uranium of CGN Global at the end of the
Reporting Period, the bank balances temporary rose.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any bank deposits MR2023F 128318 + REBET([IRTT

and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2022: Nil). The ratio of
current assets of the Group over total assets was 33% (31 December
2022: 36%), and the ratio of bank balances and cash over total assets
was 15% (31 December 2022: 1%).

Non-current assets

As at 31 December
MW12831H

2023
20234
HK$’000
FHERT

HEiF B E R HEIRT (2022512 A 31
H:®) AEERDHEEGCHEEED
LE ) £33% (202212 5318 : 36%) -
RITETFRESHBEENLAN A15%
(2022F12A31H 1 1%) °

FRBEE

Changes

25
Increase/ Increase/
2022
202246
HK$'000

TET

(Decrease)
#in,/ (HD)
HK$°000 %
FHET )4

(Decrease)

i/ (WD)

Property, plant and equipment  #1% ~ BiE K& 1& 1,076 1,262 (186) (15)
Right-of-use assets EREEE 673 2,327 (1,654) (71)
Investment properties BEME 39,141 45,785 (6,644) (15)
Interest in a joint venture R—Eeehx s 550,389 433,995 116,394 27
Interests in associates REEE A B2 3,945,017 3,935,248 9,769 -
Other receivable Hofth FE U FRIA 50 367 (317) (86)
Deferred tax assets BEERIBEE 9 9 - -
Total non-current assets ~ FRBEELE 4,536,355 4,418,993 117,362 3

As at 31 December 2023, the total non-current assets of the Group
were HK$4,536 million, representing an increase of 3% as compared
to that of HK$4,419 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to
the increase of interests in a joint venture and associates.
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RBRE

BERBFNWE D

As at 31 December Changes
MW12A31H B
Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20235 20224 i/ (RA) i GRD)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
TEx TAT THERT Bt
Trade and other payables A3 R S5R B% ELAh FE A< 5RIE 999,401 1,043,828 (44,427) (4)
Loans from an intermediate 2R & — AP REHRAL A 7]
holding company ZEX 17,656 - 17,656 100
Loan from immediate REEERERDRZER
holding company - 47,694 (47,694) (100)
Bank borrowings RITRE 348,979 957,752 (608,773) (64)
Lease liabilities HEBE 537 1,560 (1,023) (66)
Amount due to an intermediate J& 1~ — e LR A B ZUE
holding company 10,938 1,120 9,818 877
Amount due to fellow e[RRI B A BIFUA
subsidiaries 1,598 1,060 538 51
Income tax payable NP TiTE 12,119 10,697 1,422 13
Total current liabilities mEEERAE 1,391,228 2,063,711 (672,483) (33)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total current liabilities were

HK$1,391 million, representing a decrease of 33% as compared
to HK$2,064 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the
Group’s repayment of bank borrowings during the Reporting Period.

M2023F12A31H » "EEREBAGZER
EA1,391H5EE T - 82022F12A31H
72,0648 BB T P33% ' TERARZ

REBEHREHAEERITS

£
EE

47



48

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFWE D

Non-current liabilities

FRBEE

As at 31 December Changes
MW12H31H BE
Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20234 20224 #i0,/(RD) &, (BL)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTET TAT FHAT
Loans from a fellow subsidiary KB —BERZMNBARCER 1,395,914 1,395,914 - -
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 662 (662) (100)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 83,030 57,281 25,749 45
Total non-current liabilities B & EEHE 1,478,944 1,453,857 25,087 2

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total non-current liabilities
were HK$1,479 million, substantially the same as compared to
HK$1,454 million as at 31 December 2022.

Capital and Reserves

M2023F12A31H » "EEIERBAE
BER4798EABTT - BH2022F12 A 31
H&1,454 B BB TEARFF -

ERERf#E

As at 31 December Changes
M2H31H 2E

Increase/ Increase/
2023 2022  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20234 20224 #tn/(R2) i/ (D)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
FTHERT FHET THERT Bt
Share capital frA 76,007 76,007 - -
Reserves G 3,804,184 3,272,132 532,052 16
Total equity EREE 3,880,191 3,348,139 532,052 16

As at 31 December 2023, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$3,880 million, representing an increase of 16% as compared
to HK$3,348 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to
accumulation of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied
by 100%) was 74% (2022: 105%).
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Assets and investments

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the Group
did not conduct any significant equity investment, major acquisition
or disposal in relation to relevant subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

Investment direction

According to the business positioning and development strategy of
the Group, the main investment direction of the Group remains to be
acquiring competitive overseas uranium resource projects with low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities as and
when appropriate, to lay the foundation of further development of the
Group.

Financial capital

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had a total of 7,600,682,645
ordinary shares in issue (31 December 2022: 7,600,682,645
ordinary shares) ordinary shares, and the market capitalization of the
Company was approximately HK$13,073 million (31 December 2022:
HK$6,157 million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and
goals. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund
was mainly from the cash generated from operating activities and
external borrowings. The capital requirements of the Company mainly
come from possible acquisition costs for acquiring natural uranium
resources and funds for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and
business and does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any
suitable acquisition opportunity arises in the future, the Group will
raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms,
the Company shall understand the external financing environment
and adopt a reasonable financing model and strategies based on its
structure of assets and liabilities.
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The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, actively
considers its responses to internal and external financial risks,
formulates reasonable models and strategies to ensure the safety
and economic efficiency of financing, and takes strict management
measures on debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish
a financing model with combination of short-, medium-and long-term
capital, merged direct and indirect financing and multiple financing
channels to secure stable funds. In the process of debt financing,
the Company has taken a balanced approach between cost and
safety. The Company aims to obtain competitive financing cost but
does not consider lowest financing cost as the only objective to avoid
compromising financial safety and the quality of services received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected
returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to
balance risks and enhance Shareholder value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as
debt risks and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings (drawdown in 2023)
were US$45 million, denominated in US$ with floating interest rate
and were unsecured with interest ranged from 5.07% to 6.16% per
annum. Loans from a fellow subsidiary (drawdown in 2022) were
US$180 million, denominated in US$ with fixed interest rate and were
unsecured and interest bearing ranged from 4.59% to 5.27% per
annum. Loans from an intermediate holding company (drawdown in
2023) were RMB16 million, denominated in RMB with fixed interest
rate and were unsecured and interest bearing ranged from 3.45% to
3.65% per annum.
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To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash,
cash equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity
for operation and to reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The
Company’s management also keeps an eye on external borrowing to
ensure sufficiency of available credit. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had undrawn credit of US$1,075 million and RMB34 million,
which can be utilised to provide sufficient cash for the Group’s
operation and to reduce the impact of cash flow volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly
settled in US$ and RMB (2022: US$ and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2022: US$ and HK$). Daily
expenses, including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (2022: USS$,
HK$ and RMB). The Group was not subject to any material exchange
rate risk during the Reporting Period.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control
cost rather than profitability. In 2023, the Group had no forward
foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and experienced no
significant difficulty or impact on its operation or liquidity due to
exchange rate fluctuation.

Contingency events
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not provide any guarantee
for external party (2022: Nil). The guarantee provided by the Company
to CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary, was US$250 million
(2022: US$200 million) and US$45 million (2022: US$123.5 million)
was utilised. The Company does not allow subsidiaries to provide any
form of guarantee to any entity or individual without the approval of
the Company.
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Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pledge any of its assets
(2022: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no significant litigation, and
that it was nor aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it,
which had or could have a material and adverse effect on its financial
condition or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the
applicable accounting standard are explained in notes 2 and 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling good
corporate governance practice and procedures to ensure a Board
of good quality, sound internal control, and transparency and
accountability to all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and
reputation of the Company. We firmly believe that good corporate
governance practice can earn us the trust of Shareholders as well
as other stakeholders, and most importantly, preserve the long-term
interests of the Shareholders.

In addition, a healthy corporate culture is critical to achieving the
Group’s vision and strategy. The Group is committed to maintaining
high standards of business ethics and corporate governance in
the Company’s business activities. Directors, management and
employees are all required to act in a lawful, ethical and responsible
manner.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 51, joined the Group in January
2018 and is currently an ED, the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company and serving as the chairman and
general manager of the CGNPC-URC and the chairman of Swakop.
Mr. An joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture Company
Limited* (ERAZEAEEGR2AR]) in July 1996 and successively
served as the head of the general training division and assistant to
director of the training centre of Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operations
and Management Co., Ltd.* (KRR EZEEEEREEREMEAR)
and the deputy general manager of Fangchenggang branch from
March 2003 to December 2011. Mr. An served as the manager of
production department and subsequently as the assistant to general
manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (&
TS % E AR A R]) from December 2011 to May 2014. Mr. An
served as the deputy director of the office of the board and director
of the research office of CGNPC from May 2014 to February 2016.
He served as the deputy general manager of the (presiding) system
management department of CGNPC from February 2016 to January
2018. Mr. An graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering in
nuclear and thermal energy utilization from Tsinghua University in July
1996 and subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in engineering in
the field of nuclear energy and nuclear technology engineering from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2009. Mr. An was accredited as
a senior engineer by CGNPC in 2009.
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Executive director

Ms. Xu Junmei (“Ms. Xu”), aged 45, appointed as an ED and the
chief financial officer of the Company in March 2022 and serving as
the director and the chief accountant of CGNPC-URC and the non-
executive director of Swakop. Between August 2002 and August
2013, Ms. Xu worked for KPMG Huazhen LLP, including two
years of secondment at the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council between June 2011
and August 2013. Ms. Xu joined CGN Group in August 2013 and has
held various positions, including deputy manager and manager of the
finance department of CGNPC-URC and the deputy director of the
finance shared service center of CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816; and listed
on the SZSE with stock code: 03816). Ms. Xu graduated from the
University of Science and Technology Beijing with a Bachelor of Arts
degree, specialised in English, in July 2002 and obtained a Master
of management in business administration from Tsinghua University
in July 2015. Ms. Xu is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and also a Certified Internal Auditor conferred by
The Institute of Internal Auditors.

Non-executive director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun”), aged 58, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED of the Company and serving as the
director of CGNPC-URC, and CGN Energy International Holdings Co.,
Limited* (4 Bl E#ZgelR R =R B R A R]), respectively. Mr. Sun
joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture Company Limited*
(BEEEEALHEMRAT) in June 1990 and served in management
positions at various group members of CGN Group. Since January
2011, Mr. Sun served as a full-time director of CGN Group and
has been a full-time director and a member of various professional
committees to various group companies in nuclear power, nuclear
fuel, new energy and other industries. Mr. Sun graduated from
the Asia International Open University (Macau) in April 2001 with a
Master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Sun was accredited
as a senior economist by CGNPC in September 2014. Mr. Sun was
appointed as a convener of external directors of members of CGN by
CGNPC in 28 February 2023.

BITESE

#HESLLT ([BLL]) - 455% © 72022
FIAZEARRRRATEEREETH
B RANETHEZHEERES 29
ETRD R EATRI A TIFEFTTE S - R200248
AZE2013F8A ' GrrTHBREFEE
REAMEBAFRERER) - EFR
20116 HE2013F8 A& =B 5P
EEEEEEEREZE® - R LM2013
FEAMAFEZER - LEETZER
% BRETEZBERENGSBLER
LB RPREEZEIRNDAERAT (R
BT ER LT - BRMHASE : 01816 - R
AR ET - BRIARSE - 03816) ZEAHS
ZRRIEHORIMBES - RA 200267 A&
FRIL AR RBREHE - ENEEL+
B WH2015F7 ARG BEERETH
EHEEEWBPELTEN - R LIAR
EFfestiitpee 8 kBN BERTAD
HERTHEMAIERTAD o

FHITES

BRIBEE ([FREAE]D - 585 - 20185
TMAMAREE @ BEARTFERITE
E RANETPEZHESERPEEZ
BERBEBIERERARES - BAER
1990F6 AMAERZEESEBRAR
EHERZEEZRKECEREEEER
EAL - R2011F1 AREEFEZEER
BES  BE&E - 20K - FeRME
MEXZRKECXEREFTRAMEE
ZEBEZLE - BRAUER2001F4ARER
TN CRPY) B AR RS E T EEIRE
TE - FRAELER2014F9 R ERE
BN RS A ERDBE o TR 20234F
2A28AEFREZEERRETAT EZ
BRERRIINBEELBEA ©



TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Corporate Governance Report

Non-executive director

Mr. Yin Xiong (“Mr. Yin”), aged 58, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED of the Company and the director of
CGNPC-URC, and has been serving as a full-time director of CGN
Group since April 2017. Mr. Yin joined CGN Group in September
2001, prior to which he held various management positions in China
National Nuclear Corporation* (R EI#% T %482 7)) and government
bureaux in Sanya, Hainan Province in the PRC. After joining CGN
Group, he successively served as the responsible person of some
important departments and/or senior management of CGNPC, Daya
Bay Nuclear Power Operations and Management Co., Ltd.* (K38
EEEEEEARETAR) and Yangjiang Nuclear Power Co.,
Ltd.* (B THZE AR AF]). From January 2016 to April 2017, Mr. Yin
served as an executive director and general manager of Shenzhen
Nengzhihui Power Sales Co., Ltd.* (RIITHEEZEE NIHEBRR
A 7/]). Mr. Yin received a Bachelor’'s degree of science in nuclear
physics and nuclear technology from Lanzhou University in July 1986
and a Master’s degree of science in July 1988. In May 2008, Mr. Yin
received his PhD degree of management in business administration
from Grenoble School of Business in France. Mr. Yin was accredited
as a researcher-level senior engineer by CGNPC in December 2010.

Non-executive director

Mr. Liu Guanhua (“Mr. Liu”), aged 41, joined the Group in July
2022 and is currently a NED of the Company. Mr. Liu is also the
managing director of the investment department of Chengtong Mixed
Ownership Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (F83# /22X
AEESEEBRAF) (“Chengtong Mixed Ownership”), mainly
responsible for investment in new energy. Mr. Liu has also been a
director of Shanghai Jie-Hydrogen Technology Co., Ltd.* (L& &
BRI BD AR A 7)) since September 2021, and a director of Beijing
Micro-structure Workshop Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (1t R4 L5 4
YIEAMTAR A R]) and Zhejiang Hancheng Technology Co., Ltd.* (4
TTERRH AR A R)) since December 2021. Mr. Liu graduated from
the Central South University with a bachelor of science degree in
applied chemistry in June 2005. Mr. Liu further obtained a Master of
Science degree in advanced chemical engineering with biotechnology
and a PhD degree from the Imperial College of Science, Technology
and Medicine in November 2006 and August 2010, respectively.
Mr. Liu was accredited as a senior engineer by Chinese Academy
of Sciences in 2013 and a chartered financial analyst by the CFA
Institute in 2017.
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Independent non-executive director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 61, joined the Group in August
2011 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Qiu possess the
qualification as a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and a senior
accountant of the PRC. Mr. Qiu also served as an executive director
of Beijing Furun Tianming Financial Consultant Co., Ltd* (1t F &8 H Xk
BREf 7% EEM A PR 2 a)) and an executive director of Beijing Danruoyuan
Cultural Exchange Co., Ltd* (It 5B XMERRERAF]). Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Qiu was a partner of Beijing QQCPA
Accounting Firm, the deputy head of the financial department and
assets management department of China Packaging Corporation* (#
Bl B 422 R)), the finance controller and the vice secretary general
to China Institute of Strategy and Management, independent director
of Qinhuangdao Tolilan Heavy Industry Co., Ltd., and the deputy
director of finance department of preceding National Patent Bureau*
(FIZX & Ff). Mr. Qiu graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in financial
accounting from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics.

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 77, joined the Group in August
2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Gao served as
an independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings
Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 01205) and resigned on 1 December 2023. Mr. Gao was a
deputy director of C & C Law Office in Beijing, a leading law firm in
China, between 1984 and 1993. Mr. Gao became a partner of Clifford
Chance between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in 2007, he
became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong Kong office.
Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in a broad area of
legal practices, including banking and finance, direct investment (both
inbound and outbound from the perspective of the PRC) in the areas
of energy, natural resource and petrochemical projects. Mr. Gao has
been involved in the development of nuclear power projects since
1985, including the development of Daya Bay nuclear power project,
the incorporation of the operating company for Daya Bay and Lingao
nuclear power plants and the development of the Taishan nuclear
power project (applying third generation technology). Mr. Gao holds a
LLM degree from the Law School of University of California, Berkeley.
He has been admitted to practice law in the PRC since 1984.
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Independent non-executive director

Mr. Zhang Yuntao (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 47, joined the Group in
August 2023 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Zhang
worked as a managing director of an international investment bank
from May 2005 to December 2017, and a general manager of a
private equity fund focusing on Hong Kong and Mainland China
from 2018 to present in fund management. Mr. Zhang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economics majoring in international finance
and a master’s degree in economics majoring in finance from the
University of International Business and Economics in Beijing, the
PRC in July 1999 and June 2002, respectively. Mr. Zhang is also a
chartered financial analyst and a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Zhang has approximately 20 years
of experience in capital market investment and financing.

BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Qiu Bin (“Mr. Qiu Bin”), aged 51, is currently the vice president
of the Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-
URC and the executive director and the general manager of Swakop.
In 1994, Mr. Qiu Bin joined CGNPC, and successively held key
positions in the Production Department of Guangdong Nuclear
Power Joint Venture Company Limited* (EER#ZE A& & HRE A7),
the Technical Department and the Safety and Quality Assurance
Department of Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operations and Management
Co., Ltd.* (R EZBEEEEGMREMEAQF]), the Production
Department of Xianning Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (Rl Z+Z E G R A 7))
and the Operation Department of CGN Lufeng Nuclear Power Co.,
Ltd.* (P EZELZEARAF). Mr. Qiu Bin joined CGNPC-URC in
2019, successively serving as the vice president and general manager
of Swakop and the vice general manager of CGNPC-URC.Mr. Qiu Bin
has 30 years of experience and extensive knowledge in the nuclear
fuel industry. Mr. Qiu Bin graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in
July 1994 with a bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in thermal
energy and power engineering in power station, and graduated from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2009 with a master’s degree
in engineering, majoring in the field of nuclear energy and nuclear
technology engineering.
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Mr. Ding Huaibo (“Mr. Ding”), aged 42, is currently the vice
president of the Company and serving as a vice general manager of
CGNPC-URC. Mr. Ding joined CGNPC-URC in 2009 and has served
as the deputy manager of the industry development department
and the nuclear fuel department and the manager of the nuclear
fuel department. Mr. Ding had also served as the nuclear fuel
management manager of CGNPC and CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816;
and listed on SZSE with stock code: 03816). Mr. Ding graduated
from Xi’an Jiaotong University with a bachelor of science degree in
applied physics in 2004 and from Tsinghua University in 2009 with
a doctor of science degree in physics. Mr. Ding possesses over 14
years of experience and knowledge in the nuclear fuel industry.

Mr. Tian Deqgiang (“Mr. Tian”), aged 41, is currently the vice
president of the Company and serving as the vice general manager of
CGNPC-URC and non-executive director of Swakop. Mr. Tian joined
China Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (R EZTIEH R A7)
in September 2006 and successively worked in the Lingao Phase
Il on-site project department, Fangchenggang project department,
Hongyanhe project department and Construction Management
Centre. Mr. Tian joined CGNPC in March 2016, and previously served
as systems business manager of the Policy and Systems Division
of the System Management Department. Mr. Tian joined CGNPC-
URC in September 2018 and had served as the general manager and
chairman of CGNPC-URC Logistics (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (F7 &4 3
Wi A R) BRR A7), a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Tian joined
the Company in March 2023. Mr. Tian graduated from Xi’an Jiaotong
University in July 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in engineering,
majoring in architectural environment and equipment engineering.
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Mr. Shan Xuequn (“Mr. Shan”), aged 52, is currently the assistant
president of the Company and serving as the assistant general
manager of CGNPC-URC. Since January 1998, Mr. Shan has worked
in the Office of the State Economic and Trade Commission and the
Office of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (the Party Committee Office),
successively serving as a cadre, chief section officer, deputy director
of the Secretariat Division 1 and researcher, etc. In May 2016, he
joined CGNPC and CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816; and listed on the SZSE
with stock code: 03816), successively serving as assistant to the
director, deputy director of the President’s Office and the assistant
general manager of the Investment and Development Department.
Mr. Shan graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology in July 1994
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in aircraft structural
design and strength, and graduated from Renmin University of
China in July 1996 with a master’s degree in economics, majoring in
industrial economics.

Mr. Zhou Rongsheng (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 53, is currently the
assistant president of the Company and serving as the assistant
general manager of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the CGN Group,
Mr. Zhou was previously lecturer and an associate professor of
school of nuclear science and engineer, an associate professor
and head of education and training centre of school of mechanical
engineering of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Zhou joined CGN
Group in September 2010, and served as nuclear fuel manager of
technology and production management department, head of nuclear
fuel management division of technology research and development
department of CGNPC, and head of nuclear fuel management
division of asset operation department of CGN Power Co., Ltd.
Mr. Zhou joined CGNPC-URC in January 2016 and acted as the
assistant general manager since then. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Anhui Education College* (Z &% £F7) with a Bachelor’'s degree of
chemistry in 1995 and obtained a Master’s degree of engineering in
nuclear fuel cycle and material from Nuclear Power Institute of China
in 1998 and obtained a Ph.D. degree of engineering in nuclear fuel
cycle from the same school in 2002.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ REARE

BEEEA ([ExE]) @ 625 BAK
NRBFHEE  RNETPEXMERR
MISIBENIE - B A 5 19984F1 A RETEE
REEEFZESNAE  BBEREEE
EEBEREZESNRAE(BEHAE)L
BIETHI - TARE WE—EIE
& - AWME SR - WK2016F5A A
PREZEBERAR - FEXENR
MERAR (REZATERET - BHOR
5% 0 01816 * PR AT LT + BRIDAEE -
03816) ' g EMETENIE - BEEIE
T HERRDECEBSRE - B
ER1994F 7T ARERBRABELEAER
TRERNTHEREEE  BEEIEEL
By - WHR1996F7 A2 ENHEARK

BIEREEE  BELEESELBMU -

H

B

BERE([AKE]) @ 535 BIEA
NEBREEIE - ARETPERMETR
BICIBENIE o AR BZEER - FLE
BRI BASZA B T2 R EM
R BIZR - M ERE) ) T2 20 BB 3k
HEBIFLEE - HR2010F9 A A
PEZEE  LRECHERERQRR
B A EE I AR - B
ZRBREBRER  FREZENIRGE
RARBEELEBZMRBERERERS
BETE o MR 201641 A DA AR EixshEE %
B BEREEBIEES - FLER1995
FEENCBHEER L BEEESLE
fi7 5 PA1998F E A BIAZB) I FT %S
Bl EZARHEREM I EETSE T2
7 - WH2002F BB Z LM EHEIR B2
TEELBM -

59



60

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Corporate Governance Report

S e

Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”), aged 54, joined CGNPC Group in 2011
and is currently a joint company secretary and the general counsel of
the Company and serving as the secretary of board of directors and
general counsel of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the Company and
the CGNPC Group, Mr. She worked with the Accounting Centre of
China Aviation (FEIfZ=45E
including deputy manager and deputy head of the planning operation

1) and had held various positions,

department (T4 £ &). Mr. She obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
law from the China University of Political Science and Law in July
1992 and graduated from the Université de Montréal with master’s
degree in law in Canada in December 2009. Mr. She acquired a
professional qualification in law in the PRC, has over 20 years of
experience in legal and compliance related areas.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Under code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr. An Junjing was
both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board believes that Mr. An Junjing serving as both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
would ensure consistent leadership and operation.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had adopted and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’
securities transactions during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board of the Company currently comprises eight Directors,
including two EDs, three NEDs and three INEDs. The composition
of the Board is based on a comprehensive consideration of the
Directors’ professional skills, working background and qualification
and demonstrated differentiated and diverse arrangement. The
members of the Board during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report are as follows:

Audit
Committee
Directors BREZE.
EDs HES
Mr. An Junjing (chairman and REERE
chief executive officer) (ERFERATE)
Ms. Xu Junme fRESTT
NEDs FHTES
Mr. Sun Xu BukE M
Mr. Yin Xiong BRIt
Mr. Liu Guanhua AmELE
INEDs BUFHTES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong il e G
Mr. Gao Pei Ji RBIEERE
Mr. Zhang Yuntao' REARLA (W2023F8A17H
(appointed on 17 August 2023) EZf) M
Mr. Lee Kok Tung Louis FEEE (W2023F8A17H
(resigned on 17 August 2023) L) exM

C - Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M — Member of the relevant Board committees
exM - Former member of the relevant Board committees

Note:

1. Mr. Zhang Yuntao, was appointed as the INED on 17 August 2023. On the
same day, he obtained the legal advice on Hong Kong law referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Hong Kong Listing Rules with regards to the requirements
applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences
of making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange,
and he has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.
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The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and
policy of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and
management resources for the implementation of relevant strategies
and the completeness of the financial and internal control systems,
and the compliance with relevant legal requirements in business
operation. All members of the Board have fulfilled their duties and act
in the best interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless otherwise
disclosed in this annual report, to the knowledge of the Company,
there was no financial, business, family and other material/related
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with Rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at
all times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have material interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as the quorum and will
not vote at the meeting. The Director may not be present during the
discussion on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required
to retire from office by rotation once every three years. The Board
complies with Rules 3.10 (1) & (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the appointment of at least three INEDs, which represents
at least one-third of the Board, and one of the INEDs has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise. As of the Reporting Period, the qualifications,
number and proportion of independent non-executive directors were
in compliance with regulatory requirements.

The Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and advice are available to the Board through seeking the
external independent professional advice from legal advisers and
auditor, as well as the full attendance of all INEDs at all the meetings
of the Board and its relevant committees. The Board reviews
the implementation and its effectiveness of the aforementioned
mechanisms on an annual basis.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-making body of the Company, the Board
takes charge of the corporate governance function. The major
responsibilities of the Board include the tasks stated below. The
Board may delegate the responsibilities to other committees as it
thinks fit:

@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation to the
Company’s internal control, succession plans, remuneration and
compensation for Directors and employees, risk management,
corporate governance and corporate social responsibility, and
to supervise the implementation of such policies conducted by
the Company’s management;
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investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board in relation to its corporate
governance function in 2023 includes:

10.

reviewing and approving the Board’s major work plan of 2023
(including summary of the Board work of 2022);

reviewing and approving the report on the comprehensive risk
management of 2023 (including summary of risk management
situation of 2022);

reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2023
(including summary of the internal audit work of 2022);

reviewing and approving the internal control evaluation report of
2022;

reviewing and approving the environmental, social and
governance report of 2022;

considering the amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association;

reviewing and approving corporate systems including
the revised Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors,
Regulations Governing the Delegation of Authority by the Board
of Directors, and Information Disclosure Management System;

reviewing the interim report on the implementation of comprehensive
risk management of 2023;

reviewing the interim report on the implementation of the internal
audit plan for 2023; and

reviewing the progress of relevant tasks of the environmental,
social and governance.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman, are required to retire from office
by rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election by
Shareholders at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association and the Corporate Governance Code. The
Articles of Association of the Company provides details in relation to
the procedures of election and appointment of the Directors.

Besides, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next general meeting after their appointment, and shall
be subject to re-election at general meetings.

All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the
Company immediately after their appointment for a term of two years
and subject to retirement and re-election at least once every three
years. The contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations
of Directors. All Directors understand that they have joint responsibility
towards all Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and
development of the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’
duties according to the director service contract and relevant laws
and regulations. All Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time
and effort in company affairs, express their views cautiously and
diligently and fuffill their Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
part XV of the SFO, the shareholding condition of the Directors of the
Company or its associated companies (as defined in the SFO) as at
31 December 2023 are set out as follow:
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Ms. Xu Junmei - 120,000 120,000 0.00%
RERRL L
Note: BT
1. Such shares were held by the spouse of the Director. 1. ZERNBES ZEBRE -
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package
related to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and
their duties, which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, directors should participate in continuous
professional development training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.

A summary of training taken by the Directors in 2023 is set out as

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ REARE
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follows:
Type of training
Directors B= EINEE
EDs HITES
Mr. An Junjing ZEIFLAE b
Ms. Xu Junmei BREREZ T ab
NEDs FHITES
Mr. Sun Xu FRBEAE ab
Mr. Yin Xiong BRI A ab
Mr. Liu Guanhua B E LA a,b
INEDs BYFHTES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSest 5o ab
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SRELE ab
Mr. Zhang Yuntao REELAE a,b,c
(appointed on 17 August 2023) (HA2023F8 A17HEZE )
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis FRIRSEE b
(resigned on 17 August 2023) (74202358 417 HEH )
a. Attending training seminars in person/via video: on 24 October 2023, the a. HERIRSEHIEE - AN A RIR20234F

Company held a training session for Directors, the topic was the exchange rate
risk response strategies under the current macro situation.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or the Directors’
duties and obligations.

@, Attending the pre-service training of Directors conducted by the legal counsel in
August 2023.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr. An Junjing was
both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board believes that Mr. An Junjing serving as both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
would ensure consistent leadership and operation.

NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
assumes related responsibilities to provide independent judgment
and advise on the Company’s management. The number of NEDs
representing more than half of the Board members, which helps the
Company to make objective and independent judgment and decision.
The advice of NEDs shall be considered as major advice, in case
where there are potential conflicts of interest on the matter.

The initial term of appointment of each NED is two years and is
subject to retirement and re-election as required by the Articles of
Association, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

The Company has inquired each INED the annual confirmation of
independence in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
has received the annual confirmation of independence from each
INED. After taking into consider of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Company is of the view that all the INEDs are
independent.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”) and Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) have
been appointed as joint company secretaries of the Company on
27 September 2021. Mr. She is currently the general counsel of the
Company, and Ms. Lai is a director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited and works closely with Mr. She, who is also her
primary contact person at the Company.

The role of the company secretaries is to support the chairman
of the Board, the Board and relevant committees, and to ensure
smooth communications and timely transmission of information. At
the same time, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring the Board meetings are convened in accordance with laws
and regulations, and the Board’s decisions are executed correctly.
The company secretary is also an important communication bridge
between the Company and Shareholders, and assists the Board
to perform its responsibility to Shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. She and Ms.
Lai have received no less than 15 hours of professional training during
the Reporting Period.

BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least four regular Board meetings held every year, and
ad hoc Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition to
written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either in
person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members have full access to the business development of the
Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given
to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in
the agenda for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying
board papers were sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, there were four Board meetings held by RMEHA - ARFIHBRINESTE S
the Company in total. The attendance of each Director at the Board w BEFHRESgSRMEEEES
meetings and relevant committee meetings are as follows: EEMNERNT

Ms. Xu Junmei

REfgLL

Mr. Sun Xu

i

Mr. Yin Xiong
RiEESE

Mr. Liu Guanhua

EERE

Mr. Qiu Xianhong

ity i

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE ERETRY

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG

Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee

Rtz - BREZER ¥MzZE8 REZER ESGZEE

ED, chairman of the Board and chairman of the 2/4 N/A N/A 11 N/A
Nomination Committee

BITES ESRIRLRLZELIR 2/4 TER TR 11 TEfA

ED and chairman of the ESG Committee 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11

(appointed as the chairman of the ESG
Committee on 3 January 2023)

HTESNESGZEEERE 4/4 TEA TER TNEA 11
(R202351 A3HEZ T AESGEEE
)

NED, member of the Audit Committee and the 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A 11

ESG Committee (appointed as the member
of the ESG Committee on 3 January 2023)

FHITES  ENEELZERESCRES 4/4 3/3 TEf Tam 11
RE (20231 A3RRZ T AESCRES
Z8)
NED 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
FHITES 4/4 TEf TEA TEfA TEm
NED and member of the Remuneration 4/4 N/A 11 N/A N/A
Committee
FOTEEREWRESRE 4/4 TEm 17 TER TEm
INED, chairman of the Audit Committee and 4/4 313 11 11 N/A
the Remuneration Committee and member
of the Nomination Committee
BUEHITES  BREZECIR  HUZE 4/4 3/3 1N 17 TER

SIRNREZEEZE
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE, ERETAH

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee

B3¢  ENZEE  FMZEE  REZBE  ESGZAS

Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of the Remuneration 3/4 N/A n 11 1N
Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ESG Committee (appointed as
the member of the ESG Committee on 3

January 2023)

BEELE BUNTES FMZEEZE  REZE 3/4 TEf 11 11 1
8% ERESGZE 8% B (202351 A3A
EZTAESGZEEZE)

Mr. Zhang Yuntao INED, member of the Audit Committee, 22 2/2 N/A N/A N/A

the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (appointed on 17

August 2023)
REBRE BUFRTES BREEERE FMZE 202 212 TER TER TR
SZBLREZBEZE (R202BFBA17
AEZ{)
Mr. Lee Kwok INED, member of the Audit Committee, 212 11 N/A 11 N/A
Tung Louis the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (resigned on 17
August 2023)
FEREE ﬁﬁﬂ%%? EVEEGZE HMZR 212 1/1 TER 1A TR
ZERREZREZE (R02BFBA17
EI %?E)

During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board held one RWERA - EFgXRERRBELIE
meeting with the INEDs of the Company without the presence of HITEERT T - REBEEMESHEN
other Directors. % o

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a controlling AR RS ESF A e &
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and ® o EEBEESASHFAETERL
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by ) + TIIEAZE R ETE o NMEAEEAF)
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict HEENEMES B IERITESSE
of interest would be present at the relevant meetings. FEEHR=Ee g%

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability ANEEMEEER b2 EEEERITEIE
insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors. BEMESENSAEIEAEETETREIER
ZHE o
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DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business
management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates
matters reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved
matters include, among other things:

1. business development and planning;

2. corporate policies;

3. financial planning;

4. investment planning;

59 annual budget;

6. major disposals and acquisitions;

7. major connected transactions;

8. appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior

management; and

9. other significant operational and financial matters.

In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other
major work performed by the Board during the Reporting Period

includes:

1. considering, reviewing and approving the annual results of
2022, annual report and matters relating to the annual general
meeting;

2. reviewing the implementation report of 2022 and approving

the business plan of 2023;

38 reviewing and approving the budget planning of 2023;

4, reviewing and approving organizational adjustment and staff
planning of 2023;
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reviewing the (continuing) connected transactions execution
report of 2022;

considering the appointment of the auditor of 2023 and
determination of their remuneration;

reviewing and approving the change of Directors;

reviewing the latest progress and the investment strategy of
Fission; and

reviewing the 2024 business plan preparation ideas.
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The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is
delegated to the senior management. Certain authorities are also
granted to relevant Board committees, the granted authorities and
responsibilities are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are four committees under the Board of the Company,
which are the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee, with its terms of
reference established. Each specific committee performs on specific
area, provides comments and recommendations to the Board for
consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised one
NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong
(chairman) and Mr. Zhang Yuntao (appointed on 17 August 2023).

The function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
of the Group, and oversee the audit process. The Audit Committee
also serves as a focal point for communication, among Directors, the
external auditors, and the management as regards financial reporting,
internal control and the auditing.

Major work performed by the Audit Committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. hearing the report on 2022 audit works by the auditor;

2. considering the draft of annual report and the results

announcement of 2022;

3. considering the annual budget of 2023;

4. considering the internal audit plan of 2023 (including the
summary of the internal audit work of 2022);
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oF considering the internal control evaluation report of 2022;

6. considering the report on the comprehensive risk management
of 20283 (including the summary of comprehensive risk
management of 2022);

7. considering the interim results and matters relating to interim
report of 2023;

8. considering the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management report of 2023;

9. review of the interim report on the Implementation of the

internal audit plan for 2023; and

10. communicating on the audit plan of 2023.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
Audit Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest. The
Board conducts annual reviews to ensure that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience in relation to the Company’s
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting and the Company’s
environmental, social and governance performance and reporting,
and training courses and related budgets received by staff are
adequate. The management of the Company at each level assesses
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system
by reviewing it. Internal control evaluation department reports to
the Audit Committee once a year on key findings regarding internal
controls. Audit Committee, in turn, communicates any material issues
regarding internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee conducted a
review on the effectiveness of the internal control system (including
financial controls, operational controls and compliance controls), and
no significant control failings were identified. Therefore, the Board
considered that the internal control systems of the Group were
effective and sufficient, and complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise
its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one NED, namely Mr. Liu Guanhua and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu
Xianhong (chairman), Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Zhang Yuntao (appointed
on 17 August 2023).

The function of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management
and suggest the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior
management to the Board with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives.

During the Reporting Period, the main task of the Remuneration
Committee is to consider the remuneration of the newly appointed
director and no Directors’ remuneration adjustment was made. Mr.
Sun Xu, Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Liu Guanhua, NEDs, have waived their
remuneration of Directors.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management (excluding the Directors) by band during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

FriNsE (G2 T)

Remuneration band (HK$)

Nil to 1,000,000

1,000,001 to 1,500,000
1,500,001 to 2,000,000
2,000,001 to 2,500,000
2,500,001 to 3,000,000
3,000,001 to 3,500,000

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,600,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprised of
one ED, namely Mr. An Junjing (chairman) and three INEDs, namely
Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Zhang Yuntao (appointed
on 17 August 2023).

The function of the Nomination Committee is to review and formulate
the nomination procedure with regards to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations or any
proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate strategy;
make recommendation to the Board on candidates for appointment
as Directors; assess the independence of INEDs. The Nomination
Committee follows rigorous selection procedure in choosing the
right person as a member of the Board. Various criteria such as
appropriate professional knowledge, experience, skills and possible
contribution of the candidate will be considered.

During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the
Nomination Committee includes:

1. recommending the retirement and re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting;

2. assessing the independence of INEDs; and

3. considering the change of director.

Board diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy” and reviews its
implementation and effectiveness annually. The Company recognises
the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of Board diversity
in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s composition,
the Board considers various skills, regional and industry experience,
background, gender and other attributes of the members of the
Board. All appointments of the Board are based on the talent, skill
and experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as to
meet the operational needs.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Board composition fulfilled the diversity
requirements on skills, background, regional, gender and industry
experience and the Board will continue to adopt the Board Diversity
Policy in order to maintain the necessary balance of diversity of skills,
experience and perspectives of the Board.

Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group does not tolerate any corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
or money laundering during the course of its business activities. As
such, it has formulated an anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policy
(the “Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy”) which prohibits
all forms of corruption practice by making reference to the relevant
laws and regulations. The Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing
Policy forms an integral part of the Group’s corporate governance
framework, which sets out the specific behavioural guidelines that
the employees of the Group must follow to combat corruption. The
Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy is designed to provide the
employees and any external parties with confidential whistleblowing
channels to report to the Group the actual or suspected illegal
activities and misconducts in corporate financial reporting, internal
control or other areas. The Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing
Policy is reviewed and updated on a regular basis to align with the
applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practices.

ESG COMMITTEE

The ESG Committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to
exercise its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

On 3 January 20283, the Board of the Company established the
ESG Committee. As at 31 December 2023, the ESG Committee
comprised one ED, Ms. Xu Junmei (chairman), one NED, Mr. Sun Xu,
and one INED, Mr. Gao Pei Ji.
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The function of the ESG Committee is to review and assess the
governance objectives of the Company, management structure and
management policies on ESG matters, to identify and assess the ESG
risks and opportunities of the Company and to review the annual ESG
report of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the major work of the ESG Committee
was to review the annual ESG report and make recommendations to
the Board.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, BDO Limited, acknowledged its reporting
responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code. The
auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent auditor’s
report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, BDO Limited and its affiliate company, is set out as
follows:

FriR LB BR 7%

Services rendered

Audit services ENZIRTE

Non-audit services EZRTE

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose
from review of interim results, consultation service on continuing
connected transactions and tax services.

SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, one general meeting
was held, namely the annual general meeting on 15 June 2023. The

attendance of each Director is as follows:

BB ETE &

BEHA  ARBXNGERBENEELE
EEEMEEMARA RN ST

2

HK$’000
TEx

1,740

573

FERRGELENERERRETHE
BIRTS - FHERIER 5 i RS R AR
i% o

BRRABRRAE

RREARARMBRRZE FEMALE
RHbIT(E B S HIHEFR] - AR FREEIZ4
AMRESFRAFAREARE - EHR -
KARBITTIURBRRARE - B2023F6
R15BRITHRRAFRE - EELER
RAZERWOT :

Number of
meetings
attended/

Number of

meetings held

HEXE

SRETRE
Mr. An Junjing REIFLAE 11
Ms. Xu Junmei BEELL 1/1
Mr. Sun Xu HIBSHE 1/1
Mr. Yin Xiong BRI 11
Mr. Liu Guanhua B EE S 1/1
Mr. Qiu Xianhong Bt A 11
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SERELE 0/1
Mr. Zhang Yuntao (appointed on 17 August 2023)  3RZ&/E 4 (7A20234F8 417 HEZ(T) N/ATE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis RN A4 (R 202348 A 17 HEHE) 11

(resigned on 17 August 2023)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
if so requested by a shareholder or multiple shareholders, at the date
of deposit of the requisition holding not less than 10% of the voting
rights attached to the share capital of the Company on the basis of
one vote one share, convene an extraordinary general meeting for the
purpose of any business transactions specified in the requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and delivered to the registered office of the Company
in Cayman lIslands and/or the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the purposes
of the meeting and sign the requisition letter.

If the Board does not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the receipt of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a physical meeting, and the Company shall
reimburse the requisitionist(s) all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such
meeting.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the joint company
secretary, Mr. She Dong, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Room 1903
19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031

38 By e-mail: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
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Voting by poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and Article 72 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, any votes of the Shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll, except where the
chairman decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholders
of the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or ii) not less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists:

a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting a notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that
meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and delivered
to the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before the
general meeting, if a notice of resolution is required for the requisition,
or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any other
requisition.

Change in constitutional documents

During the Reporting Period, the Company approved the amendment
and adoption of the new Memorandum and Articles of Association
by way of a special resolution at the annual general meeting of the
Company convened on 15 June 2023, as detailed in the circular of
the Company dated 22 May 2023.
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Shareholder communication policy

During the Reporting Period, the Company considered the
implementation of the Shareholder communication policy to be
effective. Details are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has basically established a relatively comprehensive
risk management system. With reference to relevant risk
management requirements of the “Risk Management Guidelines”
of ISO31000:2018 standard and the Corporate Governance Code,
the Company effectively identified, evaluated and managed the
significant risks. It also strictly implemented the Comprehensive
Risk Management Policy. Meanwhile, the Company classified and
managed the overall risk business, namely significant risk and general
risk, integrated the management of specific risks such as project
investment risk, and established corresponding risk management
process. The Board, management, the risk management department
and business departments were responsible for their relevant duties
within risk management, and the Board was responsible for the
risk management, the internal control system and the review of the
effectiveness of such systems to ensure the efficient operation of the
system.

Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failing to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Company regulated the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination
of such information shall be effectively and consistently made.
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Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted audit work
such as risk management assessment, internal control assessment,
audit of the implementation of corrective actions, the implementation
of corporate governance and reform tasks, the authorisation
configuration of the information approval system and the management
of internal control verification project. By implementing specialized
audit, risk management reviews and internal control assessment, the
audit department provided regular management advices to the Board
to effectively monitor the risk identification and response measures of
the Company in the relevant areas, which have played an active role
in the internal audit in monitoring risk prevention and internal control
and in safeguarding the legal and compliance of the Company.

At the same time, the audit department of the Company, as the lead
department for investigating responsibility for violations of business
operations, is responsible for the establishment of a comprehensive
and rigorous accountability system for non-compliance with
regulations and investments, providing further protection for the
Company’s lawful and compliant operation. The audit department
regularly collects clues from departments and subsidiaries on
whether there are any non-compliant investments and manages the
accountability for the operation of non-compliant investments. During
the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any clues on non-
compliant operation and investment, and no non-compliant operation
and investment was found.

Human Capital

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the
Company. The Group maintains an equal and diversified employment
policy and opposes any discriminatory acts, including sex
discrimination, and is committed to achieving gender diversity in its
workforce.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 23 employees, among
which 6 in Hong Kong, 10 in Kazakhstan and 7 in UK. For further
information about staff remuneration, please refer to the relevant
contents in notes 14 and 15 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Professional qualifications

Among the existing workforce, employees holding professional
qualifications of middle-level and above represented 43%.

Employment mechanism
Path of development

The Company cares about the growth and career development
of each employee, and has set two paths of career development,
namely the management and the professional technical path, and has
established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff can
freely choose from the two career development paths and show their
talents. At the same time, the Company provides guidance to staff to
set up their personal career development plan, so as to help them to
make rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

The Company established the internal talent market to make better
use of the ability and expertise of each employee. Vacancies will first
be filled by internal talents, through which the aspiration of individual
employees can be better realized and optimize the allocation of
internal human resources, thus to accomplish the development of
both the Company and employees.

Evaluation system

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives can be effectively
implemented, we have established both incentive and restraint
mechanisms to guide employees’ conducts by way of continuous
communication, feedback and improvement. The Company
established a complete performance management system by
following the steps of communication, coaching, tracking and
assessment during the formulation and implementation of the
performance plan, so as to reach the expected performance results,
and promote the co-development of the Company and employees.
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Cultivating talents

In order to promote continuous growth and maintain market
competitiveness of the Company, the Company has always adhered
to the concept of “cultivating prioritizes training” and implemented
the basic requirements of “training, assessment, authorization
and employment” for the training for all employees, authorized
employment and lifelong education by absorbing the experience
and good practice of domestic and international talent training, and
established an effective independent talent training system and a
standardized training management system by combining with its own
development characteristics.

The Company formulates a detailed graded training plan every year
to improve the quality and skills of managers and employees at all
levels through face-to-face training, online training, and face-to-face
and online mixed training, so as to effectively meets the demand for
talents for the stable development of the Company.

In the future, the Company will continue to invest in talent cultivation.
The Company believes that through systematic talent cultivation,
it can better enhance the ability of our employees, strengthen the
core competitiveness of the Company, and ensure the sustainable
development of the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits. The Director remuneration also
takes into consideration the remuneration policy of the Company and
the duties of the Directors.

In addition to the establishment of social security for employees, the
Company is also committed to the establishment of the Company’s
internal welfare system to improve the welfare of employees; the
Company cares about the health of employees, and organises annual
health checkups for employees.
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The Board is pleased to present the Directors’ report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 as follows.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in trading of natural uranium,
properties investment and other trading. The principal businesses of
our subsidiaries include trading of natural uranium and investment of
natural uranium resources. An analysis of the Group’s business for
the year is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 113 and 114 of this annual report.

Since the Group intends to retain sufficient capital for business
expansion, the Board did not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year of 2023 (2022: nil).

During the Reporting Period, none of the shareholders has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend arrangement.

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2023
and its analysis are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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The Board may from time to time determine and pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The
Board may also recommend the payment of final dividends which are
required to be approved by Shareholders in general meetings.

The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is
based on the various factors such as business performance of the
Company, including future cash commitments and investment needs
to sustain long-term business growth. In case of distributing a final
dividend, it is expected to be not less than 20% of distributable profits
of continuing business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the period, the Group’s
exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, business prospects,
financial performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
Directors of the Company are as follows:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing (chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Xu Junmei

NEDs

Mr. Sun Xu
Mr. Yin Xiong
Mr. Liu Guanhua

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong

Mr. Gao Pei Ji

Mr. Zhang Yuntao (appointed on 17 August 2023)

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (resigned on 17 August 2023)

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such annual
general meeting.

Pursuant to Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Sun Xu, Mr. Yin Xiong, Mr. Liu Guanhua and Mr. Zhang Yuntao
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, but are eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of the Directors who are
proposed and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions set out under “Connected Transactions”,
there was no any other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance of the Group in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 53 to
57 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$734 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Nether the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no convertible
securities, options, warrants and other similar rights.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, the Company does not have any share
option scheme or outstanding share option.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 14 and
15 of the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(@)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations held by the Directors, the chief
executives of the Company (as defined in the part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, as recorded in the required register, or which were
required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange are as follow:

Personal
Name of Director interests
EEHE B A=
Ms. Xu Junmei -
REMLZ L
Note:
1. Such shares were held by the spouse of the Director.

Save as disclosure above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (as defined in the part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Other
interests

Hth i

120,000
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(b) Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions (b)
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far
as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry
by the Directors, the following persons/entities, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:

e GSESANE SERoiee Capacity Approximate percentage
of Shareholding Mt
BARR

Eﬁtb(ﬂﬁﬁﬂ

Number of Shares Mete

FERRER gt

Hﬁﬁﬂ | ()

Substantial shareholders

FTERE

CGNPG Motes2.3.489 Interest in controlled corporation 4,323,017,558 (1) 57.01% (1)
=17 NS LR XA R
CGNPC-URC Motes2.4&8) Interest in controlled corporation 4,288,695,652 (L) 56.43% (L)
hEZIRE B R e 50 REEE R
China Uranium Development Beneficial owner 4,278,695,652 (L) 56.43% (L)
HEHERR ERBBA

Person having a security interest 10,000,000 (L)

in shares

FARDOREREOA
Other shareholders
AMRE
China Chengtong Holdings Group Limited.* M7 Interest in controlled corporation 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L)
B BIERE B AR AR W AR
The China State-owned Enterprise Mixed Ownership  Interest in controlled corporation 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L)

Reform Fund Co., Ltd.* Nete?

THEACFRAMAHNNEEEBRAR T REEE R
Chengda Holding Limited Mete? Beneficial owner 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L)
HEAERAR AR ERBEAA



e ———————t—hh - A . i .._—.as i L

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long position.

2. CGNPC held the entire equity interest in CGNPC-URC, and CGNPC-URC held
the entire share capital of China Uranium Development. Accordingly, each of
CGNPC and CGNPC-URC was deemed to be interested in the interest held by
China Uranium Development.

3. CGNPC was also interested in 44,321,906 Shares in other wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

4. The long position included (i) 4,278,695,652 Shares held by China Uranium
Development; and (i) the interests in 10,000,000 Shares pledged by a third
party.

58 Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, are also employees of CGNPC.

6. Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, and Mr. An Junjing and Ms. Xu Junmei,
EDs, are also directors of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An Junjing, and Ms. Xu Junmei,
EDs, are also employees of CGNPC-URC.

7. According to information provided by China Chengtong Holdings Group

Limited*, Chengda Holding Limited is wholly-owned by The China State-owned
Enterprise Mixed Ownership Reform Fund Co., Ltd. (the “Mixed-ownership
Reform Fund”), in which 34.23% of the shares were held by China Chengtong
Holdings Group Limited. Accordingly, each of China Chengtong Holdings Group
Limited and the Mixed-ownership Reform Fund is deemed to be interested in
the interest held by Chengda Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as at 31 December 2023 who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

None of the Company, or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
enables the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

B & -

1. LRELTE

2. PEZEEQAFRFEPERMERRNET
AR - MR ERBEERSAPEME
EROZERA - At - PEZEEAFTR
FPEXEESRESARGAEE R EMER
BT iR -

3. FEZEEQARTREMEZENBAREA
944,321,906 % i (0 B #Ea o

4. ZHAEBRBH)TEHEZERBEEN

4,278,695,652 %17 + Ju(ii)— % 58 =77 ##7
910,000,000/ % {7 K 3R 25

58 FEMITE BRI L E RIFBEE T2 B
SERFNESR -

6. FERTEERETERRBAE - RIITE
ERFFRERGRERLTINER B
BENES  MPTEELEBLERRE
WL ETMRPEZBEZENEES -

7. RAERBEREBRFRARMBHZE
B EERARARBTHEESCERS
FrAHNERERSARAR (CRAES])2E
e TEBEBELEREEFRAAZFEH
34.23%MARHKE - Hit - REIFRIERERS
RA R KRMES S B WR AR EERA
FRARISA RSP EA R ©

Br ESCRRE RSN - HIE20283F 12 A31
A EFWTAEEEMALTRERABR
- MHEERD REEZETEBREES L
HI SR B EEXVEL 2 K 35 S A A A A7)
FENERIOAR -

BEALRRZNEFN

A7) HEEAERARKME AT
FEERRRNE R R RET L ERMR
B MEARRRESHEHTRAR LR
FEEMNBEAEER LMRAEAE
ARBAR B REEFBEEE (EER
&5 R B RGN B EMSABE AR
DA AT E A A B R RO R AT HERE
BT AT S F SRR o

95



96

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report

MERBE o

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BERS

Continuing connected transactions BEBERS

The Company entered into the following continuing connected AAEEFTRAFEEN@EATETL
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing TR ERER S - W= R
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with BR5 -  EHANFEBERZHNNTIE
the agreed terms. Details of the continuing connected transactions AT

conducted during the Reporting Period are set out as below:

Transaction Annual cap,

Name of agreement,  party of the Nature of transaction and actual transaction

date and existing term ~ Group Counterparty  description Pricing basis amount

fEe8 AERER 4RERRF  BERANS  RAMERER ERER FELR BRRAE
1 The New Seles TheCompany ~ CGNPC-URC ~ The sale of natural uranium to - The price per pound of natural uranium shal be cetermingd on nomal HKS4,092,000,000/

Framework Agreement (Controling OGNPC-URC Group bythe  commercial terms and with reference to infernational prce indicators HK$1,687,603,000

entered on 16 June Shareholder of the ~ Group. published by UXC and TradeTech rom time to time. The price per pound

2022, vith a term from Company) of Natural Uranium shall be the sum of (8) 40% of the arthmeic average

1 January 2023 1o 31 Of natural uranium price quoted in ) the 2023 to 2025 Ter Nominal of

December 2025 Weighted Average Price Forecasts in “Uranium Merket Study 2022: Issue 1"

published by TradeTech; and i) the 2023 to 2025 Composte Long-Tem
Base Price Projections in “Uranium Market Outiook - Q11 202" published
by UG, muttiplied by infation multiplier of 1,000 n 2023, 1,035 in 2024 and
1.0711n 2025; and (o) 80% of the arthmeic average ofltest (weekly or
manth-end) spot price indicators quoted in ) “Nuclear Market Review” by
TradeTech; and (i) “Ux Weskly" by UxC; avalable on the date of deiivery.

i (MEERRBR) D £0F HERMEER  15R W% ATRRAS  SEARBOERERELBOEEKIET  UAZCHTadeTech 4,092,000 0007/

NVEGR16ATY B (BRARRER) FuRs THEERNELEREE  BERRANERERR) TradeTechEfit 1,687,603, 0007
W8 2095151BE [0NERTERE : 515193 BH03E 2005 F ETSEREN
55128318 SRAZMIOCRABERETTENER : () UCRANIATER

£ 00EE-FE|PHNNEENSESARIEEEREN B
200351000+ 200451 0357202551 OT1VEERE : R TradkTech
T sl o RS (BELAR REERERNEHTYE
B960%; AR () OB U Weekly X & & KA1 -
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Name of agreement,
date and existing term

fi#48 AHRAR

The New Financial
Senvices Framewark
Agreement entered on 16
June 2022, with a term
from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2026

Transaction
party of the
Group

FEERER

The Gompany

Counterparty
BERRUA

OGN Finance
and CGNPG
Huasheng
(subsiciaries
ofthe Controling
Shareholder of
the Company)

Nature of transaction and

description
RAkERNL

The Group shall et up and
maintain RMB and foreign
currency depost accounts

with OGN Finance and place
depost. The Group shal also
authorise the Group's accounts
at hird party commercial banks
outside the PRC to be inked
as a parficipant account fo a
¢ash pooling master setlement
account maintaingd by CGNPG
Huasheng, which allows auto-
fransfer of cash balance in the
Group's participating accounts
fothe cash pooling master
account. The sums transferred
fothe cash poolng master
account consfitute money
depostted by the Group with
COGNPC Huasheng.

QOGN Finance and CGNPG
Huasheng may provide
setflement and similr senvices,
and grant loans and other
facilties to the Group from time
fotime.

EEEWRE

Annual cap,
actual transaction
amount

FELR WRRAE

Pricing basis

3]

Depost services: The interest payable by OGN Finance to the Group
shallnot be lower than () the Interest rates for the same type and termn of
depostt offered by China's big four commercial banks to the Group and (i)
the interest rates for the same type and term of depostt provided by CGN
Finance to the other PRC subsiciares of the CGN Group. The nterest
payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the Group shallnot be lower than () the
interest rate for smilar type of depost offered by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the OGN Group; and () the interest rate for simiar type of
depost as quoted by other independent commercial banks in Hong Kong
(such as Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asla) Limited and Bank
of China (Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time.

Depost cap:
S5700,000,000
Highest dally deposts:
RMBB60,264,000

Settlement services: The fees charged by OGN Finance for the provision

of settlement services shall be in accordance with the fees standards
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China or China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission in respect of such semvices. Ifno such fees standard
is avalglle, the service fees shall be determingd on nomal commercial
terms and not higher than () the fees charged by China's Big-Four
Commercial Banks In the PRC for the same type of financial senvices; and (i
the fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of simiar type of financial
senvices to the other PRC subsicries within the CGN Group. The fees
charged by CGNPG Huasheng shall not be higher than () th settiement
and similr services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to other members
ofthe CGN Group n setflement services amangements; and (i) the fees
charged by other commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as Industril and
Commercial Bank of China (Asla) Limited and Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited) from time to time.

Setflement service cap:
1S$300,000.

No setilement senvice
fee charged

Loans and other faciltes services: The terms and conations of such loans, NA
inclucing the loan amount, term, interest payment method and time of
payment, shall be determined after am's length negofiations befween ()
the Group and i) CGN Finance or CGNPC Huasheng, as the case may be.
Such loans and other faciltes shall be: conducted on normal commercial
terms and shallnot be secured by any asset of the Group. In respect of
the loans and other facities granted by CGN Finance, the interest rate:
shallnot be higher than () the loan interest rates quoted by China's big four
Commercial Banks to the Group for the same type and term of loan; and ()
the loan interest rates chargecl by CGN Finance to other members of OGN
(Group in the PRG for simiar type of oan.
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Transaction Annual cap,
Name of agreement,  party of the Nature of transaction and actual transaction
date and existing term ~ Group Counterparty  description Pricing basis amount
a2 AERER 4RERRE  BERANS  RAMERER ERER FELR BRRAE
2 (REBRRERGEIR 2O REMERRGE AEENCEMABRUGR FERR:DRESHENRAZE NEAMEREEABERO BitR:
202EGA16RITL A FERANTE  BARKRMGRIEFIE  RHRERNAASERLONE R ErEHRRARER T 700000 000ET:
M - 2023515105 RRRZMEL 3 AREFREANTESR BRUSENTAMENELARMONE - PEVERRAFEEY ERERRH
05123318 Bl DE=PHREANEPER  MERTENMERIEERBNF ARG IR AR ATR 860,264 000\
SEERPORTIRNEL UNE RnEARMEUERRG (ARG ENARAAR
FEORSHERERR & HERG(ERARATHRRNRIR M R -
TAEBAREPHALHE
BOREERENELEE
FoBETREMBEEER
heBRIARERERTR
Eneg
REVARRARGEETT  EERE: fREGIRRECERENER AR AARR TR
BUASEREGERAGE (RRECERZRGHABRANLANEERAYN  NEARRE EERBERLR:
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Name of agreement,

date and existing term

fi#48 AHRAR

Tenancy Agreement
entered on 31 December
2021, with a term from

1 January 2022 10 31
December 2024

EEhE  mo1F12R
SIBET A - 20
E B IREANMEDR
38

Off-take Agreement
entered on 17 June 2021
which come into force
from the date CGNM UK
becomes a participant
of Ortalyk unti the earlier
f () the date CGNM UK
exts from participation in
Ortalyk or (i the end of
he commiment period
0f the fuel assembly
purchase obliation
Under the cooperation
agreement!

B 12001%6
1TH]IL + EOGNM UK
REEDANBERZ
RRER EZ() CGNM
KEZERZZR - 3
AfEBEE THRAR
FEshiERLR

Transaction

party of the

Group Counterparty

KEEREE  BERGYE

Beiing CGNPC-URC

Sio-Kazakh (Controling
Shereholder of the
Company)

et REIREER

(RAFERER)

The Company and ~ Kazatompron?

CONM UK
FARECGNM  KET?
UK

Nature of transaction and
description
RANERAT

Bejing Sino-Kazakn leases 29/
F, Block A, Shi'ao Intemational
Center, 101 Shaoyaoyu North
Lane, Chaoyang District, Bejing
{0 CGNPC-URC. The tofa
gross area of leased property is
103.14 sqm.

palalt s AT G
[p
DAROENER LT RY
HELE HEREUEES
31,0354 7% «

The parties shall have the
Oblgation to acauire the
natural uranium concentrates
produced by Ortalyk in
proporton to their respective
participation interests, as
follows: ) Kazatomprom shal
acquire 51% of Ortalyk's total
annual production; and () the
Company or CGNM UK shall
acouire 49% of Ortalyk's fotal
annual production, Subject to
the quaranteed enflement of
20,000tU In aggregate.

LiNnEEERRENAT
BRI PEERNILENR
LATER BRNT:
(REIREERNEEES
£951% : R AFH0GNM
KEEEENIEEEEN
49%  [ERRRAME20,000
iRERE

EEEWRE

Annual cap,
actual transaction
Pricing basis amount
ERER EELR EBRGE
The annual rent of RMB3,000,000 (tax inclusive) as stipulated in the Tenancy RMB3,000,000/
Agreement, which infum was determined afte taking into acoount; ) the RMB3,000,000
prevaling market rent and management fees for similr propertes; and (i)
the supply and demand for simir properties in the market.
HEREARNEERLBAETARE (37)  ARECAZE)E) 300000074/
DEEETSHERERE  RIENIZATS L RAER - 3000 000
Prce per pound of natural uranium to be paid by the Group: Spot price x 0.98 1,2060
8321
Price per pound of natural uranium to be paid by Kazatomprom: Spot price
%0.98 - Transportation cost
REERRRUBERAMNOER  HEfx008 1,208/
832U

REIRXMHEERRBNER : KR x0%- ERHA
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Notes:

1. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 25 May 2021.

2. The acquisition of Ortalyk is inter-conditional with the fuel project, a project
between a subsidiary of Kazatomprom and CGNPC-URC (Controlling
Shareholder of the Company), Kazatomprom has been deemed as a connected
person of the Company. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 25 May 2021.

] The Company has applied and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from

strict compliance with Rule 14A.53(1) of the Listing Rules such that annual caps
expressed in monetary terms for the Off-take Arrangement is not required on
the condition that, among other conditions, an annual cap expressed in fixed
quantum is proposed. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 25 May 2021.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. entered into relevant agreements on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. have been initiated in transactions in accordance with the
relevant agreement;

S are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4, have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 21 March 2024 which confirms the matters as required
by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Subsisting connected transaction entered in previous year
Sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates

CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates
with Swakop, a fellow subsidiary of Controlling Shareholder of the
Company, on 14 June 2019, pursuant to which CGN Global shall
buy and Swakop shall sell 1.55 million pounds of Husab Uranium
Concentrates at an aggregate procure price of US$79,316,250 (which
will increase or decrease by up to 10% in the event that CGN Global
exercises its right to increase or decrease the annual deliveries in
each delivery year), which shall be delivered in batches over a period
of seven years from 2019 in accordance with the stipulated delivery
schedule.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards. A summary of the
related party transactions entered into by the Group during Reporting
Period is contained in note 35 to consolidated financial statements.

Save for (i) purchases of natural uranium resources from Semizbay-U
and (i) dividend income received from Semizbay-U, which do not
constitute connected transaction of the Company, all the other
related party transactions constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company, among which
all such transactions are fully exempted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, as the case may be, save for (i) sales of natural uranium
resources to China Uranium Development, (i) purchases of natural
uranium resources from Ortalyk, (iii) interest income from CGNPC
Huasheng, (iv) interest income from CGN Finance, (v) rental income
from CGNPC-URC, and (vi) purchases of natural uranium resources
from Swakop.

The disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied in respect of the non-fully exempted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the announcements of the Company dated 22 April 2021 and 16
June 2022 and the circulars of the Company dated 25 May 2021 and
19 August 2022.

TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

AT FESETNDERTHEERS
LKA E B %
AARZEENBARPEZBEEREER
A) - BARD FHERRAR R 2 [F) R T A BT
B A RIR2019F6 A 14 H ET# LU K AR 8
BEEmE - BEPEZERBEQTKE
B RETRIA A A79,316,2503E TR 485K
BE (WP EZEREE A aITHEHER
EINSRADERNFENFRINE - #IK
BEKIEMIR I HRZ10%) HE1.558
BEILRARM - WIRFTRRRAFFE
20195 R F AN BER AT o

BB X 5

AEEEREETERERNBEH TR
VETRS - ARERBREHAETHR
B R M BHNERE M RKMTTESS ©

BRI @ AR E R AHE R & ()N
A E B BA B AR B HRIER
S9N BEEMEE T R ZHIEKARE
MBS UEMER S - Eh2iyg
BEMRUEVUAZTE TN 2EARNE
BXSEFBHERS (RIERME) -
(AP B g S R ERAREETR ¢ (i)
BABBERARMER + (i) BZER
YR FBHA -+ (v BT BRI
BN = (AP B R B R KB
WA RVIAHTEARBERAMHEIR
BRSN

AAFHEAR2021F4 H22H k202256
A16AMAE RAAR A A20214F5A
258 K202248 A19BMBEITF - BiA
B2EHRPNEEIFIIFERERHE
ST ETRAIBI4AZR BT

101



102

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers for the Reporting Period are as
follows:
Purchases Sales
- the largest supplier: 15% - the largest customer: 23%
—five largest suppliers: 41% —five largest customers: 62%

China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Group for the Reporting Period. Mr. An
Junjing, an ED, the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company, Ms. Xu Junmei, an ED and the chief financial officer of the
Company, Mr. Sun Xu, a NED, and Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, were the
directors and/or the senior management of CGNPC-URC, the holding
Company of China Uranium Development, at different times during
2023. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates
or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the
above major suppliers or customers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for provision of shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC in which the validity period of the contract
is from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024. Mr. An Junjing, an ED
of the Company, Ms. Xu Junmei, an ED of the Company, Mr. Sun Xu,
a NED of the Company, and Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED of the Company,
also hold directorships and/or managerial positions in CGNPC-URC.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of
significance or material contracts on provision of services between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.
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OTHERS

Environmental protection

The Company, as a green energy related corporation, pays high
attention to environmental protection. We vigorously promotes
environmental protection by promoting green, energy saving and
environmental protection concept, such as advocating the green
office, encouraging the replacement of paper document with
electronic document, the use of double-sided printing and eco-
friendly appliances, etc. At the same time, the Company also
organizes irregular tree planting activities for employees and promote
the use of public transportation or walking instead of driving through
promotional activities, etc.

For details of environmental protection and social responsibility,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
published on the Company’s website (www.cgnmc.com) on 25 April,
2024.

Relationship with suppliers and customers

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encourages and
organizes employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need.

Equal opportunity and diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, gender or marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

As at 31 December 2023 and thereafter up to the date of this report,
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all material
aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group.

TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

HAth
BERE

RAFHERERERIREBORTF - +5
ERRERE - ARRAARNIRERER
5 BEHe - HEMRRED - BREE
AEITEPANBEREH D - SEER
BT X EAREX - XHFEEITHR
BENRRBRREGENERT - B - K
REINMTERABE T2 REENEEH N IE
BAERAKXBITAXESTERE
HITHEFERF -

EARBRERMSETBONAND ' &
2R R EMN2024F4 H25 B FEAR R FIH
#F (www.cgnme.com) BEHEIRE - (&

KREREE °

BEHEEREFHEE

RIEHRR - ARBEEEHREF ZH
REFREFRAE

HE2H

NAER2EMERE  SBYABET
SEBELEHNEDNNRIGBERFTEA
B

FEHEERS T
ARRBERFEHFE BT - Wik
BHEFERTOFR - R - BN
FWZTTLER -

B EERER
HE2023F12 A1 NEEARE Z H

B BRESMA ARBEMREEATE
BETHBAR - RAIKOER ©

103



104

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

SHARES AND DEBENTURES ISSUANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not issued new
shares and debenture.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make charitable
donations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
shares has been held by the public throughout the Reporting Period
and thereafter up to the date of this announcement, in compliance
with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There have been no changes of
the auditor of the Company in the past three years since the change
of auditor at the annual general meeting convened on 18 June 2020.
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« EERHE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD WEHEEE

There is no material event affecting the Group need to be reported WERERECEASENERSEHAR
to the Shareholders that has occurred after the end of the Reporting MREE2R o

Period.

By Order of the Board EEESm
An Junjing B3
Chairman ZEIF

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024 EE > 2024538218
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
(FEZRERRAR)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN
Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to 238, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE AND
ACCOUNTING FOR INTERESTS IN
ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in notes 4(c), 4(d),

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interests in an associate,
Mining Company “Ortalyk” Limited Liability
Partnership (“‘Ortalyk”) which is an unlisted
company in Kazakhstan. As at 31 December
2023, the interest in Ortalyk held by the Group
is approximately HK$3,363,011,000.

Following a review of the business, the outiook
for the industry and the market conditions,
as the uranium price and Kazakhstani
Tenge were in fluctuation, there is a risk of
impairment in respect of the interest in Ortalyk;
management has carried out the impairment
assessment on the interest in Ortalyk.

4(n) and 5(b)(v).

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and assess the accuracy of the
accounting for interests in associates and a joint
venture. The procedures included the following:

Discussed and assessed the indicators of
possible impairment with the management
and the component auditor and, where such
indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing;

evaluated the independence and
competence of the component auditors of
associates and a joint venture outside Hong
Kong;

participated in the risk assessment process
undertaken by the component auditors
in respect of their audits of significant
associates and a joint venture outside Hong
Kong;
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BB R &S

The key audit matter

In addition, the Group’s associates and a joint
venture operate outside Hong Kong (including
Kazakhstan and Canada). The Group’s share
of profits less losses of associates and joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the Group’s interests in associates
and a joint venture at that date are significant
in the context of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

We considered this is a key audit matter
because the impairment assessment on
the interest in Ortalyk involves a significant
degree of management judgement in respect
of the valuation methods and assumptions
for the estimation of the recoverable amount
of the interest in Ortalyk, as well as the
material impact that the Group’s associates
and a joint venture have on the consolidated
financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

obtained an understanding of the
procedures planned to be performed by the
component auditors of significant associates
and a joint venture outside Hong Kong to
address the significant risks identified and
considered whether the planned procedures
were appropriate for the purpose of the
audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements;

obtained reporting from the component
auditors of significant associates and a joint
venture outside Hong Kong and discussed
with these auditors matters of significance in
their audits which could impact the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, the work
performed thereon and their conclusions;

assessed whether the financial information
of associates and a joint venture outside
Hong Kong after the adjustments made by
management was prepared in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man

Practising Certificate no. PO5309

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEsakAMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FiBT
Revenue e 7 7,363,123 3,648,680
Cost of sales SHE AR (7,231,197) (3,500,648)
Gross profit EF 131,926 148,032
Other operating income E g A 8 29,826 22,305
Selling and distribution expenses SHE MO HAX (18,707) (13,244)
Administrative expenses THAX (52,079) (48,707)
Changes in fair value of investment WEWERN R EES
properties 18 (6,026) (2,903)
Share of results of a joint venture BlE—EaEhEXEE 272,735 209,412
Share of results of associates JE(LBEE N A EAE 333,257 313,947
Finance costs B RS 9 (131,464) (61,699
Profit before taxation BRBL AR 559,468 567,143
Income tax expenses i 10 (62,369) (52,228)
Profit for the year attributable to RATEE AEL
owners of the Company RE R 11 497,099 514,915
Earnings per share BRAR 13
- Basic —HAK HK6.54 cents  HK7.18 cents
6.547 1l 718781l
— Diluted —EE HK6.54 cents  HK7.18 cents
6.54;8 4l 718781l
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soERREMEEwEE .

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
Profit for the year R EF R 497,099 514,915
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wl -
Items that may be subsequently reclassified £ 143t i] & #7748 %
to profit or loss: EmiEE -
Exchange differences on translation of BREMBRRMBHRE
financial statements of subsidiaries EEZEHRZR (11,682) (780)
Exchange differences on translation of BE—HaatEMBmE
financial statements of a joint venture EEZEHZER 14,219 (38,906)
Exchange differences on translation of BRERE DB BRE
financial statements of associates EACIELERE 26,994 (62,696)
29,531 (102,382)
Total comprehensive income AEERXHKFERE

for the year 526,630 412,533
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEBBRRR

As at 31 December 2023 72023F12 A31H

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - RE & 16 1,076 1,262
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 673 2,327
Investment properties B Y 18 39,141 45,785
Interest in a joint venture R—HEaEhEz#ER 19 550,389 433,995
Interests in associates NNl o 20 3,945,017 3,935,248
Other receivables H At fEUGRIR 22 50 367
Deferred tax assets RIETRIE A B 32 9 9
4,536,355 4,418,993
Current assets REEE
Inventories =& 21 697,245 2,048,471
Trade and other receivables FEW AR M A B RIR 22 461,551 343,396
Amount due from an intermediate B — AR REE AR A A
holding company FIE 23 1,655 1,679
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary e —E R ZHTEB AR
FIA 24 18 18
Income tax recoverable AIUL EI TS TR 36,300 760
Bank balances and cash RITHEENRS 25 1,017,239 52,390
2,214,008 2,446,714
Total assets EEAE 6,750,363 6,865,707
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables FERTIRR R EMERFIE 26 999,401 1,043,828
Loans from an intermediate holding RE—REFEERAR
company 2B 27 17,656 =
Loan from immediate holding company REBEZEER A G ZEZR 28 - 47,694
Bank borrowings RITENK 29 348,979 957,752
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 537 1,560
Amount due to an intermediate JERT — Rl R AR A 7
holding company IE 23 10,938 1,120
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE A<t [R) 2 M B X B 3KIR 24 1,598 1,060
Income tax payable FERTFRSEESR 12,119 10,697
1,391,228 2,063,711
Net current assets RBEEFE 822,780 383,003
Total assets less current liabilites EEZLEBRBEE 5,359,135 4,801,996
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As at 31 December 2023 7 2023F12 A31H

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FiBT
Non-current liabilities ERBARG
Loans from a fellow subsidiary KE—ERRWBAF]
ZER 30 1,395,914 1,395,914
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(b) - 662
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIERE 32 83,030 57,281
1,478,944 1,453,857
Net assets EEFE 3,880,191 3,348,139
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital A% 31 76,007 76,007
Reserves it 3,804,184 3,272,132
Total equity EREE 3,880,191 3,348,139
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors KESRSIERRERE
An Junjing ZE¥ Xu Junmei RE§

Director % Director %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FATERARGRE

Properties  Exchange Share
Retained Other

eamings reserve

Share Share revaluation translation  options  Reserve
capital  premium  reserve  reserve resemve fund

LS
Br  BOEE EHEE  EXGR BERRR  BRES  REBW  H4ER it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000
S7 7B v/ A v/ A v/ R v/ R v/ A v 7 A v 7 A v 7

(Note a) (Note b)
(H3ta) (Hfzth)
At1 January 2023 H2023E1418 76,007 2447454 4059 (735,191 164 2583 1635819 (107.806) 3,348,139
Proft for theyear REREN - - - - - - 49709 - 7009
Other comprehensve ncome for heyear:  AEEE 2N -
Evchange diferences on tianslaton of BENBLEREREE
fiancilstatements of subsidaries LEREE - - - (168 - - - - (1168
Exchange diferences on trangaton of BE-BRetshng
fianciastatements of a oint venture EEEREE - - - 14219 - - - - 1429
Exchange diferences on tanslaon of BEnenTmRAEL
financial statements of associates JEREE - - - 269 - - - - %9
Totd comprehensie income forheyear  AER2ENAELE - - - N5 - - 49709 - 5%6%
Share of oher resene o an associte o - - - - - - -k 5@
At 31 December 2023 H2023E12R318 16,007 2447454 4059 (705,660) 154 2583 2132018 (102,384 3,880,191
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

Equty attributable to owners of the Company

Properties  Exchange Share
Share  revaluation ~ trangiation options Resenve  Retained Other
plemim  /esene  resene  resene eanings  resene
Eish faet
HKS000  HKS000 HK$000
Tt T thr  Tin
(Noteb)
i)
At1 January 2022 AN2E1A1R 66,007 1,681,112 4069 (632,809 154 983 112094 (111847) 219,228
Proft forthe year TEER = - - - - - M1 R T
Other comprehensve ncome for heyear: ~— AEEE 2N :
Evchange diferences on translaton of LGN e v
financilstatements of subsidaries EXZE - - - (780) - - - = (780)
Exchange diferences on tanslaon of BE-ReersifRaEL,
financial statements of a oint venture EizE - - - (3900 - - - - (%8
Exchange diferences on tanslaon of BEREATHRAREL,
financial satements of associates EiZE - - - (6% - - - - (626%)
Totd comprehenshie comellexpenses)  AEERENE/ (B £E
for the year - - - (102382 - - H49th - 41258
Share of other reserve of an associate NI - - - - - - - 404 404
Issue of shares ¥kl 10000 790,000 - - - - = - 80000
Share ssue expenses RAEARY - 6% - - - - - - e
At 31 Deoaier 202 RomoéE 1283t BN 2MTA 400 (B9 4 UGB 16BN (0080 3381
Notes BiaE
(@): Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have appropriated (@) : PRAREARKLRME ([FREL)KRZZHBAR
10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is required to be retained in BB Z10%BAREEES - FHESA
the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific purposes. REBAMB AR ZRE AERERR -
(b): The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration (o) : H b R ()RIBE L RIEHI T 2 ¥4 ffilk

of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of 1t A # & RIE &
BIRAF] (for identification purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium
Resources Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$944,534,000)
acquired under business combinations under common control, (i) the difference
between the consideration of USD8,553,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,335,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of CGN Global Uranium
Limited (the “CGN Global”) of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,265,000) acquired under business combinations under common control
and (jii) share of other reserve of associates.

§EHYR(B133,000,000% 7T ([FEx]) (WER
1,030,899,000/8 7T) 4L AP ke $h & RIEE
BRAR (Mt BMEAGEAR
#£823,770,0007T (K15 7°944,534,0007% 7T)
2R ZEEE - ()RR LRI T B4 O
FE ML {E8,553,800% 7t (415 7266,335,000
T B ERBRR HERHEBR AR ([
BZEREE AR]) BHE AR 4%583,000,000
F 7T (95 7023,265,0005 7T) 2 MIH £ 8 K&
(i) FE A B 6 A RO EL M (A 4 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

2023 2022
20235 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REE
Profit before taxation BRBATE A 559,468 567,143
Adjustments for: HUATEBIELAE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BERRERE 226 210
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,654 1,643
Loss on disposal of tangible assets HERREERRE - 5
Changes in fair value of investment properties RENENLEEEY 6,026 2,903
Interest income FIEHA (17,951) (5,947)
Interest expenses on loans from an intermediate RE—HAPEERARERZ
holding company FIEZH 976 327
Interest expenses on loan from immediate holding REEEERDAER 2SN
company 158 38,511
Interest expenses on loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—BREMNBRAREHRZ
MEX 67,769 9,018
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITERFSZ L 62,527 13,775
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBENSN 34 68
Share of results from a joint venture Bi—REECEEE (272,735) (209,412)
Share of results from associates BB A RIER (333,257) (313,947)
Operating cash flow before movements in BECEYNLERENE
working capital 74,895 104,297
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERD,/ (810 1,351,226 (305,319)
Increase in trade and other receivables RS &HWEH&Z IEf"ﬁJD (112,878) (244,006)
Decrease in amount due from an intermediate FEY— R IR A RFUER
holding company 24 713
Decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary ER—RRRMBARFUERD - 2
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables FER R R E A AIE (R /1Em (249,276) 573,709
Increase in amount due to an intermediate holding JE R — R AR A Rl FUB S A
company 9,818 3
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to FERR ZMB AR (Fd)
fellow subsidiaries 538 (1,128)
Cash generated from operations ,Z%.*Fﬂ%fﬁfﬁ 1,074,347 128,271
Hong Kong profits tax (paid)/refunded 1)/ BEEEERER (6,151) 6,956
People’s Republic of China Enterprise Income Tax paid EH‘:F EAREMBECEFMEH (19,820) (6,647)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid EREEMER (8,817) (15,221)

Net cash generated from operating activities ReTHMERSFE 1,039,559 113,359
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

2023 2022
2023%F 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT THT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BERZ (36) (594)
Cash proceeds from disposal of tangible assets HERFVEERSFEHE - 2
Interest income received BUEF 2 A 12,991 5,947
Dividend received from a joint venture BR-FEERERE 147,790 113,332
Dividend received from an associate W — S DN AR E 338,047 299,873
Net cash generated from investing activities RETHERSTE 498,792 418,560
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Net proceeds from issue of shares BORMTBRIESE - 776,342
Cash received in inventory lease BUEERERS 534,170 350,948
Cash repayment in inventory lease BEFEHERS (350,948) (984,197)
Interest paid on loan from immediate holding company Bt E EEERARIERDHFIE (295) (56,671)
Interest paid on loans from a fellow subsidiary R E—HRAZMBARERENFIE (67,769) (2,202)
Interest paid on bank borrowings RRITERERFE (55,783) (8,978)
Interest paid to intermediate holding company TR FAEERA RS (757) (327)
Repayment of loan from immediate holding company ~ EE&ZZRATNER (47,694) (2,352,509)
Advance of loans from a fellow subsidiary KRE-TERZHBLRERDR = 1,395,914
Advance of loans from an intermediate holding company & & —fEF B A B E 23 17,656 =
Repayment of loans to a fellow subsidiary BE-HRZNBARER - (236,530)
Advance of bank borrowings RITEFER 348,979 057,752
Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITER (957,752) (387,754)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaRE (1,719) (1,708)
Net cash used in financing activities METBRARSRE (581,912) (549,914)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND RERREEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS i,/ (L) F8 956,439 (17,995)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING E1R& KRS EEER
OF THE YEAR 52,390 81,293
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEFEREE) 2 52 8,410 (10,908)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END ERRERBEEEER
OF THE YEAR 1,017,239 52,390
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GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent company is FEHZEZEE AR D
7] (China Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China
Uranium Development”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ff E#x 3 E B R
A A} (CGNPC Uranium Resources Co., Ltd.) (‘CGNPC-URC”),
which is in turn a subsidiary of R ElEZEE AR A A (China
General Nuclear Power Corporation) (“CGNPC”). CGNPC is
the ultimate parent company of the Company. Both CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC were state-owned enterprises established
in the PRC.

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are trading of natural
uranium, property investment and other investments.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)

Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

o Insurance Contracts (HKFRS 17);

o International Tax Reform-Pilar Two Model Rules
(Amendments to HKAS 12);

e Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments
to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2);

o Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments
to HKAS 8); and

o Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to
HKAS 12).

Except as disclosed below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
no material effect on the amount reported and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(@

Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “Significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
pasis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(@

(b)

Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continueq)

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(Amendments to HKFRS 16)';

o Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 6 (Revised) (Amendments to
HKAS 1)';

o Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(Amendments to HKAS 1)’;

o Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments
to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7)’;
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RNERBREEA
(IEBMBREER])

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continueq) €=
(b)  Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are (b) CEMGEERERZEE
not yet effective (Continued) AT EBMEREER E

o Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to HKAS

. R (FEE

21)2 and FERIE2155 25

020 R
. Sales or Contribution of Assets between an o KEZEREHERD
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Al A &R
(Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28)° B & E M & 2T A

(BB HHE LA
E10HREE R
RRIFE289 2 I54T)°

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 MR2024F1 A1
January 2024 Az & FER
FEHBAER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 MR2025%F1 A1
January 2025 Az %R
FEHBAER
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 3 RFFREE B BSL
date to be determined 2RI FE
HAM AR

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

()

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
investment properties that are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currencies

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As
the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of
the Company consider that it is appropriate to present
the consolidated financial statements in Hong Kong
dollars (‘HK$”).

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(@)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

()

Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and
losses resulting from these transactions are eliminated
against the carrying value of the associate. Where
unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of
the asset transferred, they are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (Continued)

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of interests, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective
evidence that the interest in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the interest is tested
for impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interest in an associate is carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control
is assessed under the same principles as control over
subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interest in joint arrangements as
joint venture where the Group has rights to only the net
assets of the joint arrangement.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

(e)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

In assessing the classification of interest in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

° the structure of the joint arrangement;

° the legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

o the contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

° any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interest in a joint venture in
the same manner as interests in associates (i.e. using
the equity method — see note 4(c)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

)

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so
as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and 10% t0 27%
equipment

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise
(i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term
of less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost and
would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting
policy to account for lease liability);

(i any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

4. EBEARETHERER®
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use asset (Continued)

The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments:

(i) fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
receivable;
(i variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at commencement date;

(iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

(iv) exercise price of a purchase option, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability;

(ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and

(iiiy remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BARETBRER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(g)  Leases (Continued) (99 HEH@
The Group as a lessor (Continued) FEEERL N (BB
Rental income from operating leases is recognised weHEEEMAS KA
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term TTREEEERANZER
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in AERNBERER - EEK
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are ZHREHEVNTEEZ
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and BEEKAGFAHEEEZ
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis FEELERREEHRNZE
over the lease term. AR AAX -
Inventory lease income arises when the natural GFEHERAREAERL
uranium leased to counter parties have been bought REEXKBLORRSHFHE
back by the Group in a lower price. It is recognised EMRAMKELE - FE
when the Group has obtained the control of the HERAREEBESR
natural uranium returned by the counterparties. 5 77 1 [B1 ) K 98 o &9 122 )
These lease arrangements typically cover within one BERER - ZEFHELH
year. The Group transfers the right to control the BERE—FAN - x5E
use of the natural uranium inventory in exchange for EERAMTEFEANIE
consideration, which is recognised on a straight-line HlEABRERAE AR
basis. BIREHEER
(h)  Financial instruments (hy S®IA
0 Financial assets (i THEE
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable SRMEE BRIERT
without a significant financing component) EERBMEISH
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an EWERFO VIFE R
item not at fair value through profit or loss, AEM(EIERETE B
transaction costs that are directly attributable to WIkERREFTFA
its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without Bz) B BT
a significant financing component is initially HEEB EEES
measured at the transaction price. MRXHEARET=E °
TEERAMET S
WEWEZN LS

B S E -

All regular way purchases and sales of financial TREENMAR
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, REENRZZH
the date that the Group commits to purchase REEAEBEX
or sell the asset. HEZEECR)®
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuead)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

()

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Debt instruments

The Company classifies all of its debt instruments
at amortised cost:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost including trade
and other receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company, amount due
from a fellow subsidiary and bank balances.
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREFHBRER®
INFORMATION (continuead)
(h)  Financial instruments (Continued) (hy S@MIAEE
(i Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued) (i) THEEZ REEE
(&

o 12-months ECLs: these are ECLs that . 1218 A 78 5
result from possible default events within FEEFEIE
the 12 months after the reporting date; B ER
and #1218 A

NEEZTE
EELHNSEMH
BB 7 18 5
FEEEIE
5

. Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that . > HEHE
result from all possible default events EEE A
over the expected life of a financial Re@I A
instrument. The maximum period JEEFFE R
considered when estimating ECLs is the FT B 7] 88 32
maximum contractual period over which HEHEE
the Group is exposed to credit risk. ZIEHEE

BB - N
ATEHEE
EEREE
< R EH
ABAEER
HEERR
ZEERAEHN

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of JEHEZEERAE

credit losses. Credit losses are measured as EEE 2=

the difference between all contractual cash HEt - EEEIET

flows that are due to the Group in accordance RIBE A X ERN A

with the contract and all the cash flows that the EEZEHRER

Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then 42 %7 B K 55 B 78 2

discounted at an approximation to the assets’ Wz RBERER

original effective interest rate. ZERBTE o ZT
EZHERBIEEE

3 4 SIES b
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuead)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for
trade receivables. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated on an
individual basis for customer with significant
balances, estimated based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECLs. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECLs should be
recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
° a breach of contract, such as a default

or being more than 90 days past due;

° the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

U it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognises when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

1)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

1)

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.

() Sales of natural uranium

Customers obtain control of the natural uranium
when the goods are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
natural uranium. There is generally only one
performance obligation.

(i) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

(i) Inventory lease income

Inventory lease income arises when the natural
uranium leased to counterparties have been
bought back by the Group at a lower price. It
is recognised when the Group has obtained
the control of the natural uranium returned by
counterparties.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

1)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not
part of the business combination which affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on interests in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EBEAEFTHEREZH @
INFORMATION (continued)

FrgHt (&)

BB AERITENET A
BIEARR IR & B SR B R B IR
BEEHE BRR-HB
WA B R A K E G &I
FEEEZEENHREAE
ElBER EXEHEAEER
ERBEATERLH

(k) Income taxes (Continued) (k)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.
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Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
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Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

U

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of
long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned
are reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as exchange translation reserve.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (defined contribution plans) are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

° Property, plant and equipment;
° Right-of-use assets;
o Interests in associates and a joint venture

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that HKFRS.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BARETBREH®)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)  Impairment of assets (other than financial assets) (n) EEREGEBREERM
(Continued) €=
Value-in-use is based on the estimated future FREAEDREEEES
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, BEEEZHFTRKES
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax MEET @ BAIRBEE
discount rate that reflects current market assessments REE 2 IRITH IS E A
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the REEENREEEAEN
asset or cash generating unit. B b 2 T RTAL IR X

MRIREHBE -

(0) Cash and cash equivalents (0) RERBELEEHEB
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances RekReFEHEBR
and short-term deposits that are subject to an fﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&’&ﬁ@“@)lﬁ
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are % 13K B R2 HA T 3R
used by the Group in the management of its short-term 1’E AEEEEHRER Hﬂ 7%
commitments. For the purpose of the consolidated cBEEHRESMERM
statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are T AREKEEBAEK
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of rEERSBEES D
the Group’s cash management are included in cash —BHMRITBEZ AIFTA
and cash equivalents. RekReFMEER -
(p)  Related parties (p) BEEEAL
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s (@) @B A T AL - Bl
family is related to the Group if that person: ZATHZALTH
MRRERK B R

SEARER

0] has control or joint control over the 0] PEdl g H A
Company; S 1/ NI/N
Al
(ii) has significant influence over the (i HARAE
Company; or EREE
7K
(iii) is a member of key management (i) ¥ NN =l
personnel of the Company or the KRB 2B
Company’s parent. NAMEEZE

BEIEAR -
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuead)

(p) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(V) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) ~ The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include (i)
that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner; (i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and (iii) dependents of that
person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

4. EBRETHEREZELH®
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

() Deferred taxation on investrment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities from investment properties that were
measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties in the
PRC were held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantively all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair
value model recovered entirely through sale
was rebutted.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting

policies (Continued)

)

(i)

Deferred taxation on investrment properties
(Continued)

As a result, the Group continues to recognise
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value
of investment properties on the basis that the
entire carrying amounts of the properties will be
recovered through use.

Significant influence over associates

As set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the
Company considered Fission Uranium Corp.
(“Fission”), in which the Group has 12.62%
(2022: 13.75%) equity interest, is an associate
of the Group as the Group has significant
influence over Fission by virtue of its contractual
right to have one out of seven directors to the
board of directors of Fission.

In addition, the directors of the Company
considered Ortalyk, in which the Group
has 49% (2022: 49%) equity interest, is an
associate of the Group as the Group has
significant influence over Ortalyk by virtue of its
non-controlling voting power to the board of
directors of Ortalyk.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continuea)

(@

(b)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continueq)

(i) Agent versus principal consideration

For the purpose of defining the Group act as
principal rather than agent, the directors of
Company reviewed the Group’s operation and
concluded that the Group act as a principal in
accordance to HKFRS 15 on the basis that (i)
the Group entered into a promise, which is a
performance obligation to provide the specified
goods; (i) the Group is able to assess whether
it controls each specified good before the good

is transferred to customer.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

) Impairment of trade and other receivables

and amount due from an intermediate holding

company

The impairment provisions for trade and
other receivables and amount due from an
intermediate holding company are based on
assumptions about ECLs. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that
an individual receivable is outstanding as well as
the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the Reporting
Period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result
of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. At 31 December
2023 and 2022, no loss allowance was

recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

FESTHHE R AT
BIREZETERE @)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continueqd) (b) MAEFTHPERZEZEER
REE)
(i) Impairment of inventories (i) FEAE
The management of the Group reviews the AEEERERNE
subsequent sales price at the end of each WEHRERFBER
reporting period and makes provision for & (B30 BE Ik 1F 8
the inventories. The Group makes provision B AEEREMG
for write-down of inventories based on the FA SR FERT
assessment of the net realisable value. The net BEWMORE L B E o
realisable value for inventories was determined FEAERFETD

with reference to the subsequent sales price
of similar items. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of inventories of the Group
was approximately HK$697,245,000 (2022:
HK$2,048,471,000).

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no provision for write-down of inventories
was recognised.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment
properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent
professional valuer. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has based on a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates of market
conditions.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors
of the Company have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation have reflected the current market
conditions. Details are set out in note 18.
Changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties being recognised
in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
investment properties measured at fair value
at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$39,141,000 (2022: HK$45,785,000).

5.
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FESTHHE R AT
BIREZETERE @)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) (b) EETHMAEREZETER
R (&)
(iv)  Impairment loss on interest in a joint venture v) R—EEEELEZ
HEm 2 BB
At the end of the reporting period, the Group RmERR - \AR
reviews the business, the outlook for the {8 1% I e E To AT
industry and the market conditions, as the HE L EEEE
uranium price and Kazakhstani Tenge were REBEBES
in fluctuation, to determine whether there is FTERI =A™ RA

any indication that the interest has suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the interest
is estimated in order to determine the extent of

BEREENRE
TR HBER
BEE - WEET
MBERIR - Afh

the impairment loss, if any. The determination of BER: F Ak qE
recoverable amount of interest in a joint venture SRUEEREE

involves estimates as to: (1) future revenue
based on forecasted uranium prices; (2) actual
production volume of uranium mines held by the
joint venture; (3) exchange rate between Tenge,
the currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan
(“Kazakhstan”), and USD; (4) the discount rate
to be applied to such revenue and costs for
the purpose of deriving a recoverable amount.
If the recoverable amount of the interest is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
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the carrying amount of the interest is reduced H])BBEBXESE
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss TTZER  (4)A
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The ETrlkE£sEm
carrying amount of interest in a joint venture HAEBWARKAR

is approximately HK$550,389,000 (2022:
HK$433,995,000) as at 31 December 2023. No
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

V)

Impairment loss on interests in associates

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the business, the outlook for the
industry and the market conditions, as the
uranium price, the Kazakhstani Tenge and
the Canadian dollar were in fluctuation, to
determine whether there is any indication that
the interests have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the interests are estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. The determination of recoverable amount
of interests in associates involves estimates as
to: (1) the estimated future cash flows expected
to arise and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value; (2) the resources
of uranium; (3) the uranium price forecasted
by the two leading uranium price research
and analysis companies, (4) exchange rates
between Canadian dollar (“CAD”), the currency
of Canada, and Tenge and USD and (5) offtake
right between the Group and Fission, for the
purpose of deriving a recoverable amount. If
the recoverable amount of the interests are
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the interests are reduced
to its recoverable amount. For the year ended
31 December 2023, a reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$24,632,000
(2022: HK$38,488,000) was recognised
in profit or loss and included in share of
results of associates. The carrying amount
of interests in associates are approximately
HK$3,945,017,000 (2022: HK$3,935,248,000)
as at 31 December 2023.

5.
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fhEt THRBER ZEER
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REFE R 72 s
ZRIEER
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HER  MRER
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ME)  NEEET
X TRAEM
MRANEERE

HIRBEEE W
FHETMNAEBBT
% AfhFTZER
2 A U Bl & FE A
ETREEE (D
BIZEE BT
REEERNE ZEm
Z A] U Bl & BE S &
HEt - (MFEHELE
Byl 5T R 2RI &M
£ NEE R RLIR X
LARTEIR(E ; (2)8h
BIR (MK LE L
BRI E o iT
NGIN RNk R
B4 meEXE
e (ranwcl)
BXEETZMEZ
fE R LA K (5)A &
E BFission A A 2
FHREBENET
AT O &8 o fH{h
izt 2 AUk
SHEENREERM
B AlzEaE
HEREEZJKE
&% o HZE2023
F12A31HIEF
B REZPHER
BB E BT 18 2 B [T
4 /24,632,000
BT (20224 ¢
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Jo) ¢ WA A FEAG
B NT LR -
7R2023%F 12 A31
B RBEQFZ
a2 EEMEY
£/3,945,017,000
B (20224

3,935,248,000
JL) ©



TEREXARAT —To=FFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" e VI HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

FESTHHE R AT
BIREZETERE @)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continueqd) (b) MAEFTHPERZEZEER
REE)

Vi) Income taxes Vi) TR
Determining income tax provision involves EESTHRE IR
judgment on the future tax treatment of certain HARBE R AR
transactions in different tax jurisdictions. BETR KRR
Management evaluates tax implications of BRIE 77 T L FIE o
transactions and tax provision are set up BEEMNLZ SN
accordingly. The tax treatments of such S 2 WHEFEHE
transactions are reconsidered periodically to MIERE - ARG
take into account all changes in tax legislation. KR TS B IR 7 2 HA

Details are set out in note 10.

BHER - KA
BRIEEGIEE - 3

TEEHHIEE10 -
The accumulated tax losses relate to certain EFEEEEET
subsidiaries that have a history of tax losses BT B IEEEAM
and the Group has not accounted for the BRRERE  ~&EE
relevant deferred tax. The realisability of W ARB FHEREE R
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on EARR - BEFIEE
whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary ERRERMEFEE
differences will be available in the future. BERKEEREH

N B P ER T B A 2
BRI HEDE o
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

Income taxes (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not
recognised the tax losses of approximately
HK$126,380,000 (2022: HK$24,901,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no
tax loss was expired.

The directors of the Company determine the
deferred taxation assets based on the enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred
taxation assets are expected to be utilised.
The directors of the Company review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period.

5.

FESTHHE R AT
BIREZETERE @)

(b)

CELROLELEPSE Jrde =t -2

R &)
(Vi)

ke AG=Y

MR2023F12A31H -
REE AR MERBIIR
E51849126,380,000
BT (20224
24,901,000/ 7T)
JREARRETERIARR
AR - REE
2023F 1283181t
FE - BENIREsE
BEEIE -

ARABEFREMR
R KB LB HE M
MBE - ARAE
=) 5 70 T8 R AR
HEERHE A
R EF B A
BRI RERME
ERERAEE -
ARBEFHRRE
THRRBEHZEFR
& Nog A FERD -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ”),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
Operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker are the same as the reportable segments of the Group.

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

a) natural uranium trading segment engages in trading of
natural uranium;

b) property investment segment engages in leasing; and
) other investments segment engages in interests in a

joint venture and associates.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
above reportable segments.

6.

REBHRERD B M #BRIRAFE
BHAMEFATE (EBLER
RE)BENEREFRARMAK
PR E R RBER - T 22
EORFE BRI D FR AR A
SE R RE D BHER -

B+ AEE A AT IR R A 5 D
o -

a) RANHE 5 8B RN i
g5

b) VEIEDRMEHE

0) HRE D RB—ER —H
BELRRBE QR HE

REEIWARAGEE D HES AEK
bR ERE DB o
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. oHER®
Segment revenue and results DEPEXEERFEE

&
SEZAHREREEN 252
BEBREENTWT

B

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

HZE2023F12831H L EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Natural

uranium Property Other
trading investment investments Total
RARHE S WxRE Hiti & st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
TR TERT THT TET
Revenue ¥R 7,359,952 3,171 - 17,363,123
Segment profit/(loss) 2 i,/ () 91,839 (7,381) 605992 690,450
Other operating income HEb gz A 29,826
Finance costs MEKA (131,464)
Central administration costs FRITBARA (29,344)
Profit before taxation B A AR A 559,468

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F 12 A31BILFE

Natural
uranium
trading

RAHE Z
HK$000
TAT

Property
investment
MERE
HK$'000
T

Other
investments
Hip iR &
HK$'000
THT

Total
a3t
HK$'000
AL

Revenue EER 3,645,362 3,318 - 3,648,680
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF] (B518) 101,114 (2,196) 523,358 622,276
Other operating income Hpag g A 22,305
Finance costs BEMA (61,699)
Central administration costs FRRITIREK AR (15,739)
Profit before taxation BB AR 567,143




TEREXARAT —To=FFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continueqd)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
adopted in accordance with HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.
Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss
from) each segment without allocation of other operating
income, certain finance costs and central administrative costs.
This is the measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

6.

DEEE &)
DEE R R (A

REDBZ ETBRERBET Y
B EERFE5 [ L EEPT) IR
wE e DEEF (BB ESDHE
PR, (B518) » AR D BE
LA - BETREKARH R
TR © WL ThsLE IR D BL R R3R
HEMERERTEREZAE -

Segment assets and liabilities PEHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AT 257 F 7] s KA & 55 &
by reportable and operating segments: ZEENBEI
Segment assets DEEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FBTT
Natural uranium trading KRIHE 5 1,149,724 2,387,660
Property investment VISR E 39,235 46,566
Other investments Mg & 4,495,408 4,369,243
5,684,367 6,803,469
Unallocated corporate assets RAOWAREE 1,065,996 62,238
Total assets BERE 6,750,363 6,865,707
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. oHER @
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTEHEEREEE)
Segment liabilities SEFEE
2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Natural uranium trading RKAHE 5 2,741,248 3,437,657
Property investment LEL 18,112 535
2,759,360 3,438,192
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO AFRIEE 110,812 79,376
Total liabilities BERE 2,870,172 3,517,568
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERDIBRERDBEHEE
allocating resources between segments: RmE
. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BRIRTTEGTRRS - Tl
than bank balances and cash, income tax recoverable, EMERK - BEHIEE
deferred tax assets and other assets for corporate use ELRERARIRGE ZEM
(including certain property, plant and equipment, right- EEBEETUE  BE
of-use assets and other receivables). LE#E - FRAEEENR

HiERHRIB) I - FIBE

ENDEEERLENE -

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . bR FE — A R A TR A A
than amounts due to an intermediate holding company EEY NGRS
and fellow subsidiaries, income tax payable, deferred NEFEME - EEHIEE
tax liabilities and other liabilities for corporate use BEARIERRIAEZ HAb
(including certain other payables and lease liabilities). BEBREETEMENK

ARBEEREIN TBR

BEHDRELLENE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. IHER @
Other segment information Hith > E &R
2023 20234

Amounts included in the measure of 3B HERH S BEER

Natural
uranium

trading

RRMES
HK$'000
AR

Property
investment
HK$'000
TER

Other
investments
HitRE
HK$'000
TER

Unallocated
L
HK$'000
T

Total
ag
HK$'000
TER

segment profit or loss or segment  SHK/(GFA) 2FE

assets after charging/(crediting):
Addition to non-current assets Note a) A B I8 EE (Hiita) 36 - - - 36
Depreciation of property, plant and % BEREENE

equipment 178 - - 48 226
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 418 - - 1,236 1,654
Interest expenses on loans from RE—MRZHBARER

a fellow subsidiary ZHERH 67,769 - - - 67,769
Interest expenses on lease liabiities ~ FE&EZF 2% H 18 - - 16 34
Changes in fair value of investment ~~ RENER A EE

properties - 6,026 - - 6,026
Share of results of a joint venture El—REELEEE - - (272,735) - (272,735)
Share of results of associates (Note b) ~ FE(REE 22 A2 4 (Bi3th) - - (333,257) - (333,257)
Amounts regularly provided to EROERHTERME

the CEO but not included in the GREERIBERS

measure of segment profit or AEEFEZRE

loss or segment assets:
Income tax expenses FEH T - - - 62,369 62,369
Interest income MEKA - - - (17,951) (17,951)

167



168  CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

semwmEME 0 .

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oHER @
Other segment information (Continued) Hih 5 BER &
2022 20224

Natural
uranium Property Other
tradng  investment  investments  Unallocated

B%  WERE  HRE ADE
HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR ThR ThR Thr TR

Amounts included in the measure of itEAHBER) BEEE
segment profit or loss or segment 2418/ (FA) Z5E :
assets after charging/(crediting):

Addition to non-current assets Note a) A B JERE & (Hiita) 594 = = = 594
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% + BiE kX G E

equipment 166 - - 44 210
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 407 - - 1,236 1,643
Interest expenses on loans from a felow X & —ERZHEB LA &5

subsidiary LHERH 9,018 - - - 9,018
Interest expenses on lease liabiities ~ FEEEZFEXH 39 - = 29 68
Changes in fair value of investment ~~ RENER A EE

properties - 2,908 - - 2,903
Share of results of a joint venture Bl-HAEtEEA - = (209,412) = (209,412)
Share of results of associates (Note b)  JE{REE &1 RI%48 (fif5Eh) - = (313,947) = (313,947)

Amounts regularly provided to EROERHTERME
the CEO but not included in the GREERIBERS

measure of segment profit or AEEFEZRE
loss or segment assets:

Income tax expenses R - - - 52,208 52,228
Interest income FEMA - - - (5,947) (5,947)
Note a:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax Mizta: FRDEETEEMTARELEHIEE

assets. -3
Note b: A reversal of impairment loss of interests in associates of approximately atb: REE QAR 2 EEMREBERD YN
HK$24,632,000 (2022: HK$38,488,000) is included in the share of 24,632,000/ 7T (20224 : 38,488,000/ 7T)

results of associates. BEIIAFEEIE AT ZEEP o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China (“HKSAR”), the PRC, Kazakhstan, Canada and United
Kingdom (“UK?”).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

DEEE &)
35 )

AEBEREBLNFEARKM
BEBEAITTHE ([FBFEHITTIR
1)~ PE - BERAIE - MEXR
KB o

BRASERBIMNEEFHEXKER
B RIRIBEEAEMIES -
BREAKEBERBEENERER
BEEMENMEZS -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

REIISEFHEELE FEREBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 20234 20224
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FER FHIT FER FAIT

PRC (other than HKSAR) A B (BB
TR BRIN) 1,690,774 1,344,348 39,160 45,806
HKSAR BARRITEH R 385,815 - 518 1,779
Europe (other than UK) BOM (ZEEIBR SN 2,695,758 802,621 - -
us 35 984,386 402,079 - =
UK EE 784,794 515,558 1,211 1,789
Czech Republic FEro A 330,971 = = =
Singapore i 207,836 = - =
Canada meEx 205,859 584,074 582,006 546,731
United Arab Emirates (B & B R E 76,930 - - =
Kazakhstan IS B T HT iR - - 3,913,401 3,822,512
7,363,123 3,648,680 4,536,296 4,418,617
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax 5 ERBHEETBESHRIARELEMIEBE

assets.

= o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oHER @
Information about major customers ERXEEFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years LATE55R 8 A F R NG AL
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as B HEBTERIBI0%ME S 2 &
follows: B

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHETT
Customer A' BEEH 1,687,604 1,341,031
Customer B! BERPZ 927,104 529,653
Customer C' BEFA 873,820 N/A?
ANjE A2
Customer D' BT N/A2 584,074
TE 2
Customer E! BRI N/A? 515,558
TE 2
L Revenue from natural uranium trading segment ! RERAME H D2 L5
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 HEERBELRBBAREBER

revenue of the Group 210%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

REVENUE

Revenue represents amount received and receivable from sale
of natural uranium, net of returns, discounts allowed and sales
related taxes, and rental income (net of direct outgoings: nil)
during the year. Revenue recognised during the years are as
follows:

7.

ERE

LEBREFAIKRER « AFFTH

KABRAHE B ENRAMBE 2D
W e GRIE - A RFAS WA (30
BREEKAN : £)  cFARRAZE
MO -

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FAT
Sale of goods HEEmMm 7,359,952 3,645,362
Rental income el FIREEKA « &)
(net of direct outgoings: nil) 3,171 3,318
7,363,123 3,648,680
The revenue from sale of goods were recognised at a point in REHEEmNEEBIRETENY
time under HKFRS 15. TS LRSI — IS BB
7,
OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. HKEWA

2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Interest income R B U A 17,951 5,947
Government grants BT B & - 120
Inventory lease income FEREWRA 4,574 16,122
Foreign exchange gain, net M 5 W e TR 6,972 =
Others Hh 329 116
29,826 22,305
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. ®MERAL
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Interest expenses on loan from RKEEEERARERZ
immediate holding company FEXH 158 38,511
Interest expenses on loans from a RE—HRRMNBARER
fellow subsidiary ZHEZ W 67,769 9,018
Interest expenses on loans froman K E — IR B A T ER
intermediate holding company ZFBEZH 976 327
Interest expenses on bank borrowings $R1TE R F B3 H 62,527 13,775
Interest expenses on lease liabilites ~ FAE& & B H 34 68
131,464 61,699
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FISRHixH
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FAT
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEABFEM
— current year —ARFEE - 541
— over provision in prior years — BT FE B (39) -
(39) 541
UK Corporation tax R
— current year —RFE - 14,157
— over provision in prior years — BT FEBREE (64) -
(64) 14,157
Other jurisdictions current tax: H it RDEREER BIAAT IR -
- PRC Enterprise Income tax —HRAPEMEH 2,045 4,724
— Kazakhstan withholding tax — 5 RE R AR TEIR TS HE 34,118 15,065
36,163 19,789
Deferred tax (Note 32) BIET IR (M5E32) 26,309 17,741

62,369 52,228
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was in
tax loss position (31 December 2022: profit making position),
the profits of all Group entities in Hong Kong are not selected
by the management for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
and continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years. For the
both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the PRC
subsidiary was in profit making position.

The subsidiaries operating in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax Act of UK and the tax rate of the UK subsidiary is 25%
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
19%). One of the subsidiaries in the UK is in a profit-making
position. The taxable profit of this subsidiary was offset by the
accumulated tax loss transferred by another subsidiary which is
in tax loss-making position for the year, in accordance with the
UK Corporation Tax group relief. As a result, no tax provision is
required for the year.

10.

REHIZE@®

RBZHAEBHREGE - 68
BEENBE _BEATENNT
B ELE8.25% BAZABATT
B M RSB EBR16.5% © &
F2023F12A31HILFE - AR
AR AT IAE 1B R A8 (202212 A
318 : BFkEE) - AEEEERE
RIFTA B MG A EEE IR E R
HUZR R TSR R BIE T
I 55 4 B 12 HB16.5% I B — Bl R4
i o

REBPBELEAETE(TEEME
R REBMEG - +EMEA
AR EFE 2 REF25% © B
ZE20234 K2022512 431 H 1L
BFE - PEMEBA RN BN

BE o
R&

HZE2023F12A831HILEFE -
BHEEWE QR AREER
REMETE - BREMRBRARZ
R A25% (202212 A31H
19%) - —ERRBIMHE A AR
RBFIAREE - %I B A AR ERT
wAH S — R A EERRTIEE
BRI B A FIR IR IR B 2T
SR R AT RN RETBIE B T
HiH o At - AFEEHAIENIE
B
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Pursuant to the Tax Code (Revision Edition) enacted
since January 2023 in Kazakhstan (the “New Tax Code of
Kazakhstan”), dividends paid by subsurface users to foreign
shareholders without permanent establishments in Kazakhstan
will be subject to the Kazakhstan withholding tax at the rate of
10% if (i) the dividends are not paid to the entities registered
in the list of Countries with Preferential Tax Regime; (ii) the
holding period of shares or participation interest is more than
three years; (iii) subsurface users undertake further processing
(after primary processing) of a prescribed percentage of the
mineral raw materials extracted by its own production facilities
in Kazakhstan or owned by its affiliated resident entity in
Kazakhstan and (iv) the distributed income was earlier levied
with Corporate Income Tax.

The Group has held shareholding in the joint venture,
Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership (“Semizbay-U”") for
more than three years and all extracted minerals of the joint
venture are further processed in its own production facilities,
the dividends received by the Group from the joint venture
are subject to the Kazakhstan withholding tax in accordance
with the provisions of the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, Semizbay-U is subject to
Kazakhstan withholding tax at 10%.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the earnings distributed from
Semizbay-U to the Mainland China subsidiary of the Company
is subject to tax if the tax rate under EIT Law is higher than
the tax rate under the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan. The
applicable tax rate is the difference between the tax rates
under EIT Law and the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan. For
the year of assessment of 20283, as Mainland China’s income
tax rate of 25% is lower than the Kazakhstan’s total tax rate,
which is the sum of income tax rate of 20% and withholding
dividend tax rate of 10% under the New Tax Code of
Kazakhstan, the Mainland China subsidiary is not subject to
tax in this regard.

10.

REHIZE@®

RIEH2023F 1 A R EMBIGIER
BB ETARBUE (MR B RLED -
IR N E BRI RN S
H AR R e BE 72 BB i T & TR (%
SEANBARE ~ AL FHET R A10% B
IREER ATBTERAEE - & - (K
B AR I TEERSIBIX
ZERELNELRE (RO
BEZNFBABB=F (i TE
RIEREABEFFRENTDRR
JE Lb B B9 R 2 IR R E T AN T (00
Ti#%)  RHERENTREBMHE
ERERURRERIDERERN - B4
BEEEEEMSBEBNEZMTE
REREABEEBMENERDZE
K (iv)ED RE A 2 51 E Bl
ZEFTISHL

REEFBEEBEIRLFF i
EREAGNKEE(THARDH
ERHBA=F  BAEDEMNATAE
ERIBESTHEBEESERE
TEMIER - Bt - AEERE
AEPENDAIRBBEFEE
RIFTE + NS IR HTATRIRFTS
i o RELE2023F12A31HILF
& BRRBIE10% NS TETTHT
BIBRAGEH -

RIBPBELEMEEL  WERR
BHOEET 2 RE RN KB B R
ER TN ZBE - ARBMRHER
M B AR ZEAHRBNAFEA
B - BRAREXSEEMEHIAR
MEHMPOEETZIMEZR -
2023 HEE - NP EAN
RS R25%EN G TE T
HARE(REHTET 2%
FS I R 20% MBI E R E10%
ZH) - AL R B AR R B
AIFLILL BB -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Ortalyk has qualified for a reduced withholding tax rate under

an applicable tax treaty, the dividends received by the Group

from Ortalyk are subject to the UK-Kazakhstan double taxation

agreement and the tax rate of the withholding tax is 5%.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands,

the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands for both years.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FBFHixZH @

BARRBERREABESERE

BRIEAERMEHHREK

 REE K

BRARMDAAETEE —RE

R AT BB =

E15% e

% M IERPTISH

REFEHRE ERIER - K&
BN E S EBARMRIEAR SR

SF1EH -

REERERI A EGABRRR
H A 2 E 4 R R BR A AL F AR 20

T

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Profit before taxation BR 5 A& A 559,468 567,143
Tax calculated at rates applicable EEBRE A EERERN N
to profits in the respective tax WEE 2 1A
jurisdiction concerned 143,873 120,053
Tax effect of share of results of Eh—MaEbEEE G E
a joint venture (68,184) (52,353)
Tax effect of share of results of JEMREE R BB 2 RIS E
associates (77,380) (58,938)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A1 SZ H 2 FiE &
for tax purpose 2,738 29,502
Tax effect of income not taxable AW A 2 B g 5o 2
for tax purpose (15,441) (7,983)
Deferred tax on undistributed —HEELERDEAFAEL
earnings of a joint venture H1E 23,242 6,344
Deferred tax on undistributed Bt A RIAR D I E TR IR IR
earnings of associates 4,574 6,971
Effect of withholding tax on the DA E B IE T T A R
distributed profits of the Group’s w A TR 2 B
Kazakhstan associate 34,118 15,065
Tax effect of temporary differences ~ REREREZRE 2 HETE
not recognised 37 1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FIERTISEIE 2 TG 2 28,003 2,974
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BN L AT A FERTIBE 1B 2 Fii5
previously not recognised 24 (12,155) (8,682)
Over provision in prior years BETERERE (103) =
Others HAh (953) (726)
Income tax expenses for the year KEFMEHZ N 62,369 52,228

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 32.

AT IR A IS BPIRES2
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. KREEREF

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Profit for the year has been arrived REEFFE NG, GA)

at after charging/(crediting): THIFIREER
Auditors’ remuneration EETEN & 3,812 2,894
Carrying amount of inventories sold B2 HEFSEEE 7,231,197 3,500,648
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - &= KR ETE
equipment 226 210
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EREEEIE 1,654 1,643
Short-term lease expenses CHIREER 1,671 1,334
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BREESHE)
emoluments) (Note 14) (FsE14) 24,319 20,741
Net exchange (gain)/loss SRIE N () B8 (6,972) 3,323
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BB
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders R2023% - WEAARRQE LB
of the Company during 2023, nor has any dividend been PRERIRAN SRR AHEM RS - A
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil). B R BAAR DA SR N 5 SR A< A
P& B (2022%F : #&) °
Since the Group intends to retain sufficient capital for the HRAEEITERERRESIER
business expansion, the Board did not recommend the BER  WEFSTREZRMNEW

payment of any final dividend for the year 2023 (2022: Nil). 2023F REARR B (20224 « &) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Earnings ZF|
Earnings for the year attributable R EHE G EAREF] 2
RABEB ANEIERFERT

to the owners of the Company
for the purpose of calculating

13. BRER

RATHE AEESRER RS
BRTR TSR

2023
20234

2022
20224
HK$'000
FATT

HK$’000
FET

basic earnings per share 497,099 514,915
Number of shares RO&E
Weighted average number of RARTESREREF 2 L@k

ordinary shares for the I8

purpose of calculating

basic earnings per share 7,600,682,645 7,169,520,454

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
during both years.

The Group’s associate, Fission has issued share options to
employees, directors, officers, and consultants, as well as
warrants to underwriters through the bought deal financing,
granting the right for the share options and warrants holders
to subscribe the ordinary shares of Fission. The diluted
earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share
as the effect of these potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

RRELE & P B B e
BELER - SRR ER
SREAREF -

AEE 2 B2 A AlFission A BB A
BE EF aREEABREM
BT UREBEHEmMER
BIHEEITRIRER - X TREARE

R A AR EEFission/A A
LTREAET - REZ2023F &
2022F12A31AIEFE - SRS
SEAFESREAZNER - RE
REEBTLTBRAEREEN
J,ng\ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

14. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 14. EIRA(BIEEEMS)

EMOLUMENTS)

Salaries, allowances, other benefits ~ #r& ~ 284 « EEFI RIEAL

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT Fib7T

and bonus 22,742 19,747

Retirement benefit schemes IR HGFT B
contribution 1,577 994
24,319 20,741

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance which
are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the subsidiaries
in independently administered funds. Monthly contributions
made by the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain
percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as
stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.
The employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. The employees are
entitled to 100% of the employer’s Mandatory Contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or total
incapacity.

EEMBRARAEERREBIZES
SR ATE ST EIGAIETTE RS
ETEI([REEETE)) - %ZaTEl
ZEEANBARZEENBIE
BESADFAIZHE - WBARZE
R #ER TR R B8 T FTET AR LAE
B A 2 & T B 9 L EE 5K
BOAREABAME)E - EEA
BREAH 5% &= 1,500/8 LIk
R MEE R EEL M
o BEMNGEERIK - B TESR
TR TIERE IR ZEH100% 2 BE
SRR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in
the PRC and UK, the subsidiaries of the Company in those
countries participate in respective government retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the
Schemes are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the PRC and UK. The relevant authorities of the PRC and
UK are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by
the relevant authorities of the PRC and UK and the defined
contribution schemes operated in Hong Kong.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,577,000 (2022:
HK$994,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.

14.

ETRA (BREEHD)
(&)

RETBEREBEHEERZHAM
ARARARZEARZHMBLRAZ
B IR AT R AR B ([ Fat
21 Bt - ZFHBRRERZ
LA BRI - BRI EERE
B ZRIKER - AFat L2
L*E&V$l&ﬁlﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ
ERFMRA R EB D
SIEPNES IEW%%EAﬁ WE
BN Z 2BRKER - A&
Bz F Az EEE/RESRS
FHEIFHEIE L ATR K -

UL

RAEAIET I KB A B A d
BN EEERE BER%FTE
AR ERE N2 ERM AT EIE
2 BLRABER -

I 8 2 R WA R ] AR SR B R R [
ERADRAHEFKF -

BB Bk 2 8K 281,577,000
70 (20224 : 994,000/ 7T) + BIZA
SERAST R Z S EIEN
Z{ T>)\ °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERESFMALZH

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS €

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) BEERTETHRAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine BT EAS L4 (20224F -
(2022: nine) directors and the chief executive were as NB)ESEEFETHAE
follows: ZB&mT -
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12HA31HIEE

E

Other emoluments
Hitie
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other schemes

benefits  contribution
Fees g2 RIEBER e
re REMER TR -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T#x THR FER

Emoluments paid or receivable  EZHEBALARE
in respect of director’s other WERREH 55
senvices in comnectionwith the Bz EffREEE
management of the affairs of g e
the Company and its subsidiary

undertakings

Executive directors: HITEE:
An Junjing’ RER' - 950 - 950
Xu Junmei* #rER - 864 - 864

Emoluments paid or receivablein ~ —BATHETES (EH
respect of a person’s services BANRREMBAT
as a director, whether of the 2B ES) L RBEE
Company or its subsidliary SUET

undertakings
Non-executive drectors: FEHTEE -
Sun Xu? %’ - - - -
Yin Xiong? B - - - -
Liu Guanhug? Yz’ - - - -
Independent non-executive BUHNTEE -
dlrectors:
Qiu Xianhong i 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji BiEE 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis® ZER 75 - - 75
Zhang Yuntao® FEE 45 - - 45

360 1,814 - 2,174




15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Emoluments paid or receivable

ESHARALNARANE

15. BEERZSHEMA L 2

PEREXARAR

AL ),

TE-—FFER

(@) EFERIZETHAENE

(#)

HZE2022F12A31B ILF

&

Other emoluments
Hinfe
Salaries, RE e
allowances benefit
and other schemes

benefits contribution
e 28 NN
REMER] :
HK$'000

=
/BT

in respect of director’s other NAEBEBERLE
services in connection with the RS MR
management of the affairs of e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: HiTEZ
An Junjing’ ZEIE = 950 = 950
Xu Junmet* rER = 720 = 720
Chen Deshao’ PRizgp - 144 = 144
Emoluments paid or recelvablein  —RALHETES (&R
respect of a person’s services ARRTRERBARE
as a director, whether of the B EZS) L RBEES
Company o its subsidiary sl e
undertakings
Non-executive directors: FHEE
Sun Xu? B - S = =
Yin Xiong? R = = = =
Liu Guanhua? e = = = =
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors:
Qiu Xianhong Bk 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis® ZEfFS 120 - = 120
Gao Pei Ji AR 120 - - 120
360 1,814 - 2,174
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

1 Mr. An Junjing is also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the CEO.

2 During the years end 31 December 2023 and 2022, those
directors have waived their remuneration of Directors.

3 Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis resigned as director and Mr. Zhang
Yuntao was appointed as director on 17 August 2023.

4 Mr. Chen Deshao resigned as director and Ms. Xu Junmei
was appointed as director on 14 March 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no other directors or chief executive have waived or
agreed to waive any arrangements for remuneration
other than those disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements.

The directors of the Company did not receive any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
retirement benefit schemes contribution for directors is
borne by CGNPC, the ultimate parent of the Company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“CGNPC Group”). No apportionment has been made
as the directors of the Company consider that it is
impracticable to apportion this amount between their
services to the Group and their services to CGNPC
Group.

15. BEERZSHEMA L 2

AL ),
(a)

ERRIBTHAENS

)

1 REBRENRBADFEF®
18 RERBEBROME B
HEITE R BERERITE MR
R o

2 BHZE2023% 2022412 A31
AILFE  ZEEFEREHR
EEEM -

3 R2023F8A17H - FEIRL
SBAESRRASEERE
ThES-

4 TA2022%3H148 - RERL
SBRTEERGEELLTES
TRES -

RELE20234F K 2022F 12
AB1RLIEEEA « BRAER
EMBEMRBEREN - I
BHEMEZHFEZTHA
BENEXRBMEREM
BNk o

REE20234F K 2022F 12
AS1HIEFERN » ARAF
EFARWE FE R AREM
BB Bl 7E N BR 7R & B R ol 4
B REBALAREN -

REZE2023%F k2022412
AS1HILFE  EFRHIK
BAFT SR T B AR R
CEREGAETEZES
AR REKBEAE (G
BAEE ) FHE - ARAR
REERARERAER
KR i 5 B AR 1 AR 75
DEZEBEWAAIT
i # AR AEE 2 o
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directors’ emoluments were not within the five highest

rank. The emoluments of the five (2022: five) individuals

were as follows:

Salaries, allowances and

¥re o RE R EAMET

HK$’000
FTERT

@ e IR MR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE
15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERBESHMA LT ZE
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (continued) €@
(b)  Individuals with highest emoluments b) EBEFMAL
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all H Z=2023F 2022F 12 A

S1HIEFE  FBEEN
st EBRAERESHM
#ERA o AH(2022F « R
B)ATHHFMALT -

2023
20234

2022
20224F
HK$'000
FBTT

other benefits 6,841 7,546
Discretionary bonus BIETEAL 366 479
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIET B

contribution 1,567 1,411

8,774 9,436
The emoluments were within the following bands: HM oA TEHER

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

£21,000,0008 7T

1,000,001/ % 1,500,000
AT

1,500,001/ %2,000,000
BT

2,000,001/ 7L 22,500,000
BT

2,500,0017% 7L 23,000,000
BT

3,000,001/ 7L £3,500,000
AT

Number of
Individuals

2023
2023%F

2022
20224
Number of
Individuals
A AH

1 3
1 -
2 1
1 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥ - BMEKRZRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office
Leasehold equipment
Buildings  improvements B %E Total
BT HENERE RifDRE #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THT TEL TAL
cosT KA
At 1 January 2022 1202261 1A 238 577 5,946 6,761
Additions B - - 594 594
Disposals L& - - (1) (M)
Exchange realignment B 5 i - - 1) (1)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 #2022 12 31 Rk
2023F1A1H 238 577 6,528 7,343
Additions wE - - 36 36
Exchange realignment fE - - 1 1
At 31 December 2023 120235124318 238 577 6,565 7,380
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZHMERAME
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R202261A1H 238 577 5,059 5,874
Provided for the year FERRE - - 210 210
Disposals L& - - @ (4)
Exchange realignment BB - - 1 1
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 #2022 12 31 %
20231 A1H 238 577 5,266 6,081
Provided for the year TEERE - - 226 226
Exchange realignment B A - S () (3)
At 31 December 2023 1202312 R31H 238 577 5,489 6,304
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 - - 1,076 1,076
At 31 December 2022 120220F12A31H - - 1,262 1,262
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE

17. ERAEEEREERR

LIABILITIES
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAETT
Properties ES 673 2,327
The Group has lease arrangements for offices. The TEERBRAEREHE
lease terms are generally ranged from three to five ZHE - HEHRASN T
years. —ERF-
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, HE2023%F 202212 H

the Group did not enter into any new lease agreement.

S1HIEFE  AEEWE
IS AR FAE e o

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEARE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Current RED 537 1,560
Non-current IERE - 662
537 2,002
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. FRAEEEREEESRE
LIABILITIES (continued) (&)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEAEHE

Amounts payable under lease
liabilities

REEERERCHEE

HK$’000

2023
20234

2022
20224
HK$’000

FERL TAT

Within one year —FR 537 1,560
After one year but within two years ~ —F&{BERRWER - 662
537 2,222
Less: Amount due for settlement W R T EARNEEE
within 12 months EnjakE] (537) (1,560)
Amount due for settlement after R+ EAEE B E R
12 months G| - 662
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, B E2023%F k202212 H

the Group did not enter into any new lease agreement.

(c)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss (c)

Depreciation expense on right-of-use {# FEZEMITE S H
assets

Interest expense on lease liabilities ~ A& & EMNF]E S H
Expense relating to short-term leases 52 Hif &7 1

HK$’000
FTERT

B1BIEFE  AEETE
IR E e o
REZTRINSE

2023
20235

2022
2022%F
HK$’000
TAET

1,654 1,643
34 68
1,671 1,334
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

LIABILITIES (continued)

(d) Others

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately

HK$3,390,000 (2022: HK$3,042,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17. ERAREERHEERR
()
(@ Rt

HZE2023F 12 A31 8 IL4F
B HAENBEeRLEE
#)/3,390,0005% 7T (2022
£ : 3,042,000/ 7T) °

18. ®REWHE

HK$°000
THET

FAIR VALUE NAE
At 1 January 2022 720221 A1H 53,082
Net decrease in fair value recognised in ERERER AR BEFRD

profit or loss (2,903)
Exchange realignment DE W FA R (4,394)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022412 431 H % 202341 A1H 45,785
Net decrease in fair value recognised in ERERERZ AR EFRD

profit or loss (6,026)
Exchange realignment HE 34, 8 B 618)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 39,141

The carrying value of investment properties shown above are
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.

tRaREECREYEDLR S
R HEERE -

AEBREHAARRESHIEER
RIRERGRZYME RS ARARE
BAE DB RARINERE
R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties held by
Beijing Sino-Kazakh as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on that date by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group, Avista Valuation Advisory
Limited, who has among its staff members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of property being valued. The valuation was
arrived at on an open market value basis by using the income
approach of capitalising the net rental income receivable from
the existing tenancies and the reversionary income potentials.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are
HK$39,141,000 (2022: HK$45,785,000). They are grouped
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs fair value measurements is observable.

There were no transfers between levels in fair value hierarchy
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

18.

REWHE »

1b R AR 1S S FA 20234 220224 12
A31BEFRHEARERREMEN N
RETDHEREAEEEREZ B
AERBEGEMEDT LN
BRARFTETAEMED - L
B EEABRARTSSEIAS
BREMEeE S - BAIHME
BV 2 R E R 2 (S EE
5o ZIHENBBENMCEYIRE
MBS FBARBEEFUA
LARASE R AFRTEEEMmMEL

HERNR E—FEMERELE
N - BLEERMEZRAEMS
MEZEBARERERERFZE
A -

REBZIREMENN S ERRBZ
N {E39,141,000/8 7T (20224
45,785,000/ 7T) 5t 2 © IRk A
BAREFENBERNEESER
BDRABFE=H -

HZE2023F K2022%12 A31H 1
FE  TEAARESFZENER
iz o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of

investment properties:

18. BEWXE #

EERENEE=RAAMEHE
CiE

Valuation Sile]gliifez=Tas
technique Key input unobservable inputs
HER FEBAE BERTAEHEZ2H
All Investment Income approach Income approach takes into account Term yield and reversion
properties net rental income of the properties yield are at 6% (2022:

derived from the existing leases and/ 6%).

or achievable in the existing market

with due allowance for the reversionary

income potential of the leases,

which have been then capitalised

to determine the market value at an

appropriate capitalisation rate.

FrBEREMSE WASE

H&U\ii]ﬁi«"?r&ﬁﬁ@%%bﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁ Bk aE R ERRaE

B,/ HERENH LAJRRZASU  A6%(2022%F : 6%)
)\%%ﬁﬁ - BEMBBHEEZ BTEERK
N’Eiﬂ“ﬂ‘ﬁﬁ% - B EEEETUER
{EARRE—EBEERNMLLREEME -

The fair value measurement of the investment properties
determined by using income approach is negatively correlated
to the term yield and reversion yield. A slight increase in term
yield and reversion yield used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measurement of the properties, and vice
versa.

The net decrease in fair value of approximately HK$6,026,000
(Net decrease in fair value of approximately 2022:
HK$2,903,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RRABNEBEEZREMEAAE
TR K R MR RS
2R - BRIk R RER RS
KRB RGEBMEAAEFE
BERD  RZIA -

EHZE2023F12A31HILEE -
NAER L FEEH6,026,000%
7T (20224 : ARERIFREL
2,903,000/ 0) PR I8 = FERR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—REEELEZRER
2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Carrying amount as at 1 January M1 A1BREREE 433,995 358,011
Share of post-acquisition results and AN [Z E(RUREE L 2 E &
other comprehensive income for HE 2 mEREs
the year 272,735 209,412
Dividend received BUARE (164,052) (113,332)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 B 7,711 (20,096)
Carrying amount as at 31 December #1231 BREREE 550,389 433,995
Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 B ER2023F 2022F 124
are as follows: 31TEHFFEAT
Place of
incorporations Percentage of
establishment ownership held
and operation Class of by the Group
Name of entity Formof entity  EFMBL/ AL shares held KEEfTE Principal activities
ERER ERKA RERY iR 85 FEREESL  EEERIE
Semizbay-U Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares 49% Extraction, preliminary
partnership processing and sale
of uranium oxide on

Semizbay and Irkol
fields

EIVNG BREASY  WEmiE Lk 49% 25 DA RE
Semizbay KIrkoll% 1
k=Rl
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXEoEn

(&)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAEGELENKERNBE
venture
The summarised financial information in respect of the joint HAEEBERTEBZEEDE
venture that is material to the Group and is accounted for using (A EZAR) WIS E R 28,
equity method set out below: AR -
Semizbay-U FioNa]
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
Current assets mEBEE 894,209 627,162
Non-current assets ERBNEE 558,938 465,806
Current liabilities nRBBE 197,922 104,085
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE 131,982 103,178
The above amounts of assets and FEERBESHEBRE
liabilities include the following: T
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEEER 598,936 316,737
Current financial liabilities nEEmaE(TeREEMERR
(excluding trade and other Ko E b B A5 3008 K B )
payables and provisions) = =
Non-current financial liabilities ERBERAE
(excluding trade and other (T BEEMERR R EMER

payables and provisions) FIE R E) = =
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXEoEn
()
EAAROCEMBEREE (&)

Summarised financial information of material joint

venture (Continued)

Semizbay-U (Continued) o aE] ()
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET THIT
Revenue LR 1,213,191 946,297
Profit for the year RE A 556,603 427,372
Other comprehensive income/ AEEHEMEERE (FX)
(expenses) for the year 15,734 (41,013)
Total comprehensive income AFEEEHEK B
for the year 572,337 386,359
Note:  Dividend, net of tax, of approximately HK$147,790,000 from joint MizE: MEZE2023F12A31B1LHF
venture has been received during the year ended 31 December 2023 E - BEHERREEERERN

(2022: HK$113,332,000). 147,790,000 7T (20224 :
113,332,000/ 70) Z BB B AL S, ©

AR E R A BT

The above profit for the year include the following:

2023 2022

Depreciation and amortisation

20234

HK$’000
FERT

137,032

20224
HK$’000
FHEIT

97,895

Interest income

28,251

12,981

Interest expense

1,177

198

Income tax expense

145,840

106,139
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXEoEn
(&)

BERAELRUMBERRERE (B)

Summarised financial information of material joint
venture (Continued)

Semizbay-U (Continued) o aE] ()

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LR —fEEErE I ERITHBE
to the carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture is set K E SR EER SRR T -

out as below:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Net assets of Semizbay-U HHAREBEEFE 1,123,243 885,705
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 22 B A & BIAE RS LL 71
interest in Semizbay-U 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REENH A RIHERREE
interest in Semizbay-U 550,389 433,995
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred REER—EEEEENERITE
related to the Group’s interest in a joint venture. BRFEERHARAE -
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REE QT 2R
Listed associate (Notes a, b, c) EmEE AT (MiEa b~ c)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
Carrying amount as at 1 January M A1EREREE 546,731 551,209
Loss on deemed disposal RIEHEREE (4,453) (2,520)
Share of post-acquisition results REFRGUEBEEER
and other comprehensive income H 2 ERE
for the year (Note a) G 34,306 (5,999)
Share of other reserve for the year REZEEEMERE 5,422 4,041

Carrying amount as at 31 December 712 A 31 BHYERMAE 582,006 546,731
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20.

Listed associate (Notes a, b, ¢) (Continued)

REEDNT 2R =
EigE AR (fsta b c) (&)

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT THET
Market value of the interest R EmEE AT
in the listed associate - AR 615,904 445178
The market value is estimated based on the quoted market MENREZRZESFR ST R

price available on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the
symbol “FCU”, which is level 1 input in terms of HKFRS 13,
without taking into account of off-take right.

FLEHEE QT

Unlisted associate

5% [FCUl Pz T8 BV BB 75
HEERFE1BHKM S HE—RBA
U8 Mfbat - WA B iHE -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

Carrying amount as at 1 January M1 A1BMEREE 3,388,517 3,443,685
Share of post-acquisition results and AN [ZE(RIEEE EE &

other comprehensive income for H 2 ERE

the year 319,906 285,506

Dividend received SR 4 (355,903) (314,938)

Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 B 10,491 (25,736)

Carrying amount as at 31 December 712 A 31 BHERMAIE 3,363,011 3,388,517

2023
20234

HK$’000
TR
3,945,017

FRmEAAE

Total of carrying amount

2022
20224F
HK$’000
FBT

3,035,248

Details of the recoverable amount of the interest in the listed

associate as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:
GECRRE

2023
20234

HK$’000
TR

Recoverable amount AI Uk Bl & 58 615,904

MR20234F K£2022%12 A31 BHAIR
B N RIRERSA AT E SRR

2022
20224F
HK$'000
FBTT

546,731
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the associates as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

are as follows:

Name of entity

BERER

Fission Corporation Canada
Fission’A 7] = nex gl
Ortalyk Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan
partnership
LN BREESY WERNE 3

Place of
incorporations
establishment
and operation
AL
REBHE

Form of entity
{57

Note a: As at 31 December 2023, the management of the Group considered

that there is an indication that an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists. As at 31 December 2022, the management of the
Group reviewed the interest in Fission for impairment assessment
and determined the recoverable amount based on the higher of the
fair value less cost of disposal and a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projection over the life of exploration and evaluation assets
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent qualified
professional valuers, Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited.
The key inputs are the uranium prices and the resources of uranium.

During the year, as a result of recovery of uranium price, a reversal
of impairment loss of approximately HK$24,632,000 (2022:
HK$38,488,000) was recognised and included in the share of results
of associates for the current year. The reversal of impairment has
been increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years, i. e. HK$582,006,000, during the
year.

Class of
shares held

Fir i B 40 28 R

Common shares

Ordinary shares

20. REEENTZ2ER®

A20234F 202212 A31H - Bt
ENRFBIT

Percentage of
ownership held
by the Group
(Note b)
KRB
EREEIH
(MfzEb)

Principal activities

IRRBED

12.62% (Note ¢) Acquisition and

(31 December development of

2022: 13.75%) exploration and
evaluation assets

12.62% (fiEc) Y kAT R
(2022512831 FEEE
B :13.75%)

49% Extraction, preliminary
processing and sale
of uranium products
and resources on
Central Mynkuduk
field and Zhalpak field

49% REC I MIREE
Central Mynkuduk &
Zhalpakl& 5/ ikE
mRER
Mis¥a: M2023%F12A31H  KEEEE
EBRAE - LATERRERIEAD
KTEFE - R2022F12 A31
A AEEEREEMRFission
NEZ BERER S REE
Y ABRBEETEMEATEZ
ABRARATGETHEE - KA
APV k0N R b S R
BEFHBERBAZFERER
ZEEEFEREAETETKRE
S XEMABE AMHE K

FR - HRBMERA - NARRE
SR (B 518 HE 1 4)24,632,0007%
7T (20224 : 38,488,000/87T)
HEt ARANEZ L& AR
1B REREB B MNER K E S
BRLERIERT - FRKEINN
FEREEY A B HA BT FEARRE
REVRERB BB N TS5 E 8 R
(& - B1582,006,000/8 7T °
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of Fission as at 31 December 2022 represent
the recoverable amount and the recoverable amount is its value-in-
use, which is higher than the fair value less costs of disposal. As the
shares of Fission are listed on Toronto Stock Exchange in the Canada,
its fair value less costs of disposal can be determined based on the
quoted market price of the shares as the management of the Group
considers that the cost of disposal is insignificant.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is able to exercise significant
influence over Fission by virtue of its contractual right to have one (2022:
two) out of seven directors to the board of directors of Fission under
the terms stated in the subscription agreement entered into by the
Company and Fission on 11 January 2016.

Fission entered into an equity distribution agreement providing for
an at-the-market (“ATM”) equity offering program in April 2022. The
ATM program will allow Fission, through its agents, to, from time to
time, offer and sell, in Canada through the facilities of the Toronto
Stock Exchange. During the year, Fission issued a total of 50,141,400
ordinary shares (2022: 10,899,300 ordinary shares) of Fission in
aggregate through the ATM program.

Fission also engaged into a credit agreement with a company (“Lender”)
for the purpose of funding the development of the Patterson Lake
South uranium project and general working capital. In connection with
the facility, Fission issued approximately 330,000 ordinary shares of
Fission upon exercise of purchase warrants and interest payment to
the Lender in accordance with the terms and conditions of the credit
facility agreement.

Fission has entered an agreement with several financial institutions
(“Underwriters”), pursuant to which the Underwriters have agreed to
purchase, on a “bought deal” basis, 7,731,092 flow-through common
shares (2022: Nil) of Fission that will qualify as “flow-through shares”
at a price of CAD1.19 per flow-through share for gross proceeds of
CAD9,200,000.

In addition, Fission issued 205,601 ordinary shares (2022: 121,792
ordinary shares) under a directors remuneration plan and 4,564,625
ordinary shares (2022: 1,239,463 ordinary shares) of Fission upon
exercise of share options granted to the directors, employees, officers
and consultants of Fission under the share option scheme of Fission.

20. REEENTZ2ER®

FitEa :

fzp

FisEc -

%)

12022412 A31 HFission A &8k
HEANKESE - fJKEeE
REFEREE  SRARERD

EXA o AR Fission A AR R
MEXRZHEEHFZHT LT
H AR @R ERAA RN T
BHREEE DEASEEEE
RELERALTERK °

MR2023F12A31H + AEEpH
Fission A GBI EMNE AT Z - FAR
BN A ) B Fission A A1 2016 4
1R11 BRI 2 REW R -
NEBMAFissionAFEZS+Z
EE2REE— 4 (2022F : MA)
EEMELER -

FissionA AlA202244 B 5T A%
AT HZ - R EmE (&N
BEDBERENE - ZMERE
R AR Bl A HrFission ARG H A
BETRRENENSBZMEH
HFRGITHRHEEITH & R
ERHE - 7 FissionA 7B B
EHEZERESEETEH
50,141,400% & i@ A% (20224 :
10,899,3000% & @A%) -

Fission X &l REE—F A &) ([E K
AN —1 =B - AR
Patterson Lake South$#iZHE B &
—MREEESETRE - BLAE
iM% -+ FissionA A1 B R1T{ERE
55 FE£1749330,0000% Fission
AREBER - WREEFEERER
FEUER R ERA A F
& o

FissionARIEHBH T & o KE
(T2 #Em) T - Bt
BEEERBEREEREELE
BERRERMG1.19MTHEE
7,731,092 Fission X 7] #5 A %

BIEAIRERMMORELER
(2022%F : &) - FTSFIAKLEA
9,200,000407T °

LS » Fission R RIBIBEE E %
B3t &1 2 3 17205,601 % B @A
(20224 : 121,792 L @A%) I
R R Fission A B fE A HER T 2%
FFissionAAEE - EE - &
REBABREBROBEREE
1IE B #174,564,6258 L i@
B% (20224 : 1,239,463 L@
fg) -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note c:  (Continued)

With the combined effects of the above transactions, the Group’s
interest in Fission was diluted in aggregate by 1.13% (2022: 0.59%)
from 13.75% as at 31 December 2022 to 12.62% as at 31 December
2023. The effect on the deemed disposal of partial interest in Fission is
approximately HK$4,453,000 (2022: HK$2,520,000).

In the initial subscription of shares in Fission by the Group in prior
years, the Group entered an offtake agreement with Fission, which
offered the Group shall purchase, pay for and take delivery from
Fission, a quantity of uranium equal to certain percentage of annual
production and an additional quantity of 15% of annual production
under the following circumstances:

- If, for a period of twenty-four consecutive months (“Reference
Period”), the shareholding percentage drops and continuously
remains below the shareholding percentage of 17% but
remains above 10% inclusive, beginning in the third delivery
year after the Reference Period, the Group shall lose its right
to acquire the additional quantity of 15% and in that same
year its right to the base quantity shall be reduced to reflect
its actual pro rata shareholding percentage at the end of the
Reference Period. Delivery year shall mean each calender
year within which Fission shall delivery to the Company a
quantity of uranium ore concentrates in the commercial form
of U,0, pursuant to the offtake agreement (“Delivery Year”);
provided that the first Delivery Year shall commence on the
first day of the calender month immediately following the date
of commercial operations and end on 31 December of that
year.

- If, for a Reference Period, the shareholding percentage
drops and continuously remains below 10%, beginning in the
third Delivery Year, the Group shall lose its right to any base
quantity.

20. REEENTZ2ER®

FisEc -

%)

FE LR SHTE  AEER
Fission’A Bz 320224 12
A31H®13.75% ¥ H £ 2023F
12A31H®12.62% & £#5
1.13% (20224 : 0.59%) ° 1R 1E
H & M Fission A Al EE D RE S B 37
24 £4,453,00078 7T (20224
2,520,000 7T) ©

AEBRBAFENHERBE
FissionRAIRH  + AN E
Fission A BIFT M ERIEHE - BT
RNEBR AT IE SR T & FFission
AR - TN RRMBERE
EE-TAILAHREZERE
EE15%FINEE R -

WA & =+ PU{E A BRI
(128N BEESD
LE TR B ER17%
BRELLG - BIER
10% (BEZBESL) « #
2ERBE=ZARNEE
FA - NEE KR EKRE
15% R8N 2 MR R
R EEEH SN E
- UARBMASEERE
BERFRLD - RSFE
#EFissionA AR 5 £RE& 19
BAMARBZN—EH
EMN\EL = ERAE
BB EESF
BEERXNFEREBER
¥ZEBEHPEBEANER
HEEZFE12A318LE -

fHHR2ZHA - BRAELLH
TR FFEEN10% 7
FoEAXNFERG - &
EEBREEMELEHE
BRI
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the
associates that are material to the Group and are accounted
for using equity method set out below:

(a) Fission

20.

REtE N T 2R
EAME AR HSERE

HAREBBEEARZE L HE DT
(AREZSEARR) MBS AR ES,
T

@) FissionZ &]

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Current assets MENEE 441,558 235,873

Non-current assets EMBNEE 4,698,074 3,183,812

Current liabilities mENaE 15,606 8,180

Non-current liabilities MBI AE 680,096 305,930

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’°000 HK$’'000

FET T

Revenue ] - -
Loss and other comprehensive AFEEEER

income for the year H 2 ERE (51,955) (52,583)

Other reserve for the year REZEMEEE 40,662 118,476

(11,293) 65,893
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Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)

@)

Fission (Continued)

20. RBE DT 2ER @

BEABENRZMBENRE (B)

(a)  Fissionx ] (#)

The above loss for the year includes the following: T xXFEBEEBRET

3l :

2023 2022

2023% 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F#&T

Depreciation and amortisation e s 571 484

Interest income FLEWA 15,695 5,506

Interest expense FEZ W 105 110

Income tax expense FriSHisz i - =

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial

A FissionA &) 2 RSB

information to the carrying amount of the interest in BERBEHERmERNY
Fission is set out as below: RN ¢
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FBT
Net assets of Fission FissionA AR & & FE 4,443,930 3,105,575
Proportion of the Group’s RE B Fission A R B #E
ownership in Fission e/l 12.62% 13.75%
Carrying amount of the Group’s N5 @ HAFission’A Al # &
interest in Fission, on the ZIREE - REAEE
assumption that the Group will 1750 E B S
exercise its off-take right
— Under off-take right - IRIE B 3HE 33,777 123,959
— Under equity interest - IRIBAR 548,229 422 772
Carrying amount of the Group’s AN @ HAFission’A Al i %
interest in Fission ZEREE 582,006 546,731
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REE QT 2R @)
Summarised financial information of material associates EABEQRRZHEEREME (&)
(Continued)

(a)  Fission (Continued) (@  FissionZ&] (48)

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
FER THETT

Investment cost in Fission (equity ~ FAFission’A A% & A A
interest and off-take right), after (BN B 51 - #EE

dilution 501,185 512,927
Accumulated impairment loss ZETRBEBE = (15,215)
Share of post-acquisition reserves 1 Ug 814 45 80,821 49,019
Carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AREBIHFissionA i 2

interest in Fission FREE 582,006 546,731

)  Ortalyk b)  ELRF]

2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FAT
Current assets MENVEE 1,072,028 1,005,510
Non-current assets FEREEE 6,029,373 6,063,139
Current liabilities mEBE 137,747 80,461
Non-current liabilities FRBAME 100,364 72,848
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
TExT T
Revenue ERE 2,135,567 1,602,744

Profit and other comprehensive AN /& i F) 2 A 2 E UGS

income for the year 652,869 582,666

Other expenses for the year REFEEMRAS - (52,523)
652,869 530,143
Note:  Dividend, net of tax, of approximately HK$338,047,000 B B ZE2023F 128318 ILEE -
from Ortalyk has been received during the year ended 31 B R E B AFIMBEIA RS
December 2023 (2022; HK$299,873,000). 47338,047,0003% 7T (20224

299,873,000/ 7T) °
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)

b) Ortalyk (Continued)

The above profit for the year includes the following:

20. REE DT 2Em
EABE DT ZHBERE (@)

B F](B)
ERAREFEEENEE T

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTEx FHET

Depreciation and amortisation e R EEE 153,343 108,719
Interest income FEHA 6,778 33,700
Interest expense AEXH 7,366 6,914
Income tax expense TS 295,144 235,291

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

Ortalyk is set out as below:

Nab 19 NCIR: IR
AR 2 EREEN SR
LU

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FAT

Net assets of Ortalyk RAREEFRE 6,863,290 6,915,340

Proportion of the Group’s REER R R BB

ownership interest in Ortalyk 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AEBER B AR HEZSAREE

interest in Ortalyk 3,363,011 3,388,517

No capital commitment and contingent liabilities

incurred related to the Group’s interests in associates.

REERNEE R B ED L EEAN
EERRAALE -
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21. INVENTORIES

21.

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Uranium it

697,245 2,048,471

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
was no provision/reversal of impairment of inventories. The net
realisable value of the inventories have been determined with
reference to the subsequent sales price of similar items.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22,

B E2023%F &2022F 12 5318
IHFE  SEGERERE B
| - FEMISRFERSELHEU
BEHEEEEMET

FE W R AR % EL At FE WK IR

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAEIT
Trade receivables (Note a) FEULBRZX (i 5Ea) 450,750 335,621

Prepayments, deposits and other TENFRIE ~ e REAM
receivables (Note b) FEWRIA (B 5kb) 10,851 8,142
461,601 343,763

Analysed into DT E

Current portion mEhEr 461,551 343,396
Non-current portion IERBNE S 50 367
461,601 343,763

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. At
31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no loss allowance
provided.

REEWER LS LB AT
R o PA20234F K 2022412 A31
B ANEBEWRHREEEE -
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22,
(Continued)

Note a:  Trade receivables of HK$400,148,000 (2022: HK$277,148,000)
represents amount due from immediate holding company, China
Uranium Development.

Note b: Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
approximately HK$5,083,000 (2022: HK$197,000) are interest
receivables due from CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited (“CGNPC
Huasheng”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

FEW BRI H A B WK 1E
(&)
fiska : FEULEREFX400,148,0007%8 5T (2022

F : 277,148,000/ 7T) A REWE
AR A B B R A RUA ©

Mizko : FEMFIE - e REMbERKE
BEXRAARNARRZRKER AP
BRERREAGRAR ([P EZRE
B ]) 495,083,000/ 7T (20224 -
197,000/ 7T) K FEUFIS.

Prepayments, deposits and ERARE - BER 2023 2022
other receivables H b BN FRIE 20235 20224
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FET T

Analysed into DA
Current BIER 10,801 7,775
Non-current JEENER 50 367
10,851 8,142

The Group normally grants to its trade customer credit periods
for natural uranium segment within 15 days to 120 days after
delivery dates for both years 2023 and 2022.

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period.

Within 30 days 30K

20234 KR2022F MIEFE « /A
SEAERRAMOAETHES
BEFBAXMAHE158 21200
AEEER -

RImERR - AEEZ L XEER
HHMENERRHAEE - B
BRPBREDITIAT ©

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

450,750 335,621
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on trade
receivables are estimated using an individual basis by
reference to past default experience and creditworthiness of
the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial
position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

For other receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECLs. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECLs should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the reporting period.

The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below:

Presented in: 2023

)7 ; 20234

HK$’000
FERT

JE W BR R
H At & WKIA

Trade and other receivables
4,028

22.

20224
HK$’000
FA&ETT

P LT R 0 I L b P U SR IR
(%)

AEEFENRIRRERBES
REMEREREEE - BEERZ
BEMEEERIE2EEEABE
BRTHEREBARBEE AR
FATSARI B DA 18 5% R (B Bl B4
it WEREBANFERSE - &
ANEEFBRITRANEREEBIA
KRS B IR AIRRIAR R 75 )
BRHE T IARE -

REMBYRIEAMS - NEEGFE
1218 A FRHIE R EREENER
B RIFEERR B & RFERIA
REEEN - AAEEEEREH
BEHEEER - FAEEEERE
HFRHREEREE - DERB BRHE
RELRZONMEHERES
BEIR -

RBERRMERERTREAR
R AT B

REEEFASBEEEERLIA
b EEEFHE 2 FEURBR Sk R Eo A FE
WERIELRT -
2022 2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARET T

3,978 - 1,297




23.

TEREXARAT —To=FFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amount due from an intermediate holding company
represents the rental receivable from CGNPC-URC of which
the maximum outstanding amount during the year ended
31 December 2023 is approximately HK$1,655,000 (2022:
HK$1,679,000).

The amount due to an intermediate holding company
represents unsettled amount of management service provided
by and the expenses paid by CGNPC-URC on behalf of the
Group.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on
demand.

The Group’s amount due from/(to) an intermediate holding
company that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out

below:

23.

FEW,~ (13) — R R 2 AR

NCIE S

e — Rl P R AR A R SRIB B FE IR
PEZMERRAS  HEP &
Z2023F12A31H I FERS K
EiE £ %491,655,0007% 7T (2022
1 1,679,000/87T) °

J& A5t — R rp PRI AR X R SRR B R &
MR R M A S ERREAEIER
BRAXNEREREER

FIRTEER - TFHE RARER

g -

ALE Y () —RhEER A
BIFENAASEER 2 EEHR
SNz SR THESRFIMT -

Presented in: 2023 2022
BRA 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Amount due from an intermediate JiE Uy — FE AR P AR A R SRTE
holding company 1,500 1,500
Amount due to an intermediate JE— MR IR A R IE
holding company 701 913
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24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) FELLOW 24.

SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group’s amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

Presented in:

SIRAS

P, () B R KB AR

el

e, (<) [R BT B8 A R R IE T
HH - PETENARENRER -

AEBE R, () R R B R RR
BUREEEER 2% S
ZEBHEHIIWMT

2023 2022
20234 2022%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — FEUR— R XM E A RZIA 16 16
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries R R EB R R ZIE 330 420
25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25, RITEEFRES
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Bank deposits: RITHEN
Cash at bank and on hand WITHEGF MRS 1,017,239 52,390
Analysis of bank balances and cash ~ RERIFITHEFERIBS DT
at the end of the year:
Cash at bank and on hand (Note a)  #R1T#EFRIES (Hiira) 1,651 1,236
Cash placed at CGNPC Huasheng TR HUAH EZZER K& EX
and CGN Finance (Note b) IR S (M5 b) 1,015,588 51,154

1,017,239 52,390
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25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

Note a: Cash at bank carries interest at prevailing market rates for both years.

Note b:  The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at rates ranging from 6.30%
to 6.39% (2022: 3.95% to 5.92%) per annum and recoverable on
demand.

On 16 June 2022, the Company renewed the financial services
framework agreements with CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance for
a terms of three years commencing from 1 January 2023 and ending
on 31 December 2025 (the “Agreements”).

Under the Agreements, the directors of the Company consider that
these deposits made to CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance is
qualified as cash and cash equivalent as the Group can withdraw the
deposits by giving notice to meet its short term cash commitments
and without suffering any penalty.

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Presented in: 2023 2022
FIRA 20235 20224

HK$000  HK$'000
TEE L

Bank balances and cash SR RES 1,009 22,541

25, RITEERBE€#=

2023
2023F
RMB’000
ARBT R

4,853

FizEa :

R EFENRITFEFRIGRRITH
SR RFEFE -

fisto : ZAETREER  BEMENF

6.30%%6.39% (20224 : 3.95% %=
5.92%) 5t B AR E R A o

202296 5160 » NA T EAE
IR EE RS I R AR B S B R T TS AR 7S
EZE W% - 202351 1B
Z2025%F12A318 1t - AHI=F
(IZ&Hzl) -

BREZEHE  ARREERR
EA LB EE0E B I T IBAREZ
EEFARREEHRSAERT
SEREMET  FERPERE
BREFEREBHEREERIER
ReMRSEFERR -

74 S B AR B S B T R
S EWFHEZRITHEFRR S

T

2022 2023 2022

20224 2023 20224
RMB'000  USD'000  USD’000

ARE

ETTT TXR TET

6,964 129,718 2,085
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. BENEBRIFREMEMSFIE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Trade payables (Note a) FERFARER (FisEa) 433,740 655,139
Accrued expenses and FEET B IR B Ath B~ 5R1E
other payables (Note b) (fzE D) 565,661 388,689
999,401 1,043,828
Note a: Trade payables of HK$17,110,000 (2022: HK$10,875,000) and Mifzka: EAMEFK17,110,0008 T
HK$416,525,000 (2022: HK$243,828,000) represented amount due to (20224 :10,875,0008 L) &
a joint venture of the Company, namely, Semizbay-U and an associate 416,525,000/8 70 (20224
of the Company, namely Ortalyk. 243,828,000/ L) AR AN AR —

DS 3 VNP &N Rl )
ERARABNFA

Note b: Included in other payables, approximately HK$219,000 and Miskb « EMbFERIBRIED BIEN R Eix
HK$7,067,000 is interest payable due to CGNPC-URC and CGNPC IR R B ERK49219,000
Huasheng respectively (2022: Nil and HK$7,067,000 respectively) and 7L 7,067,000 T (20224 -
approximately HK$534,170,000 (2022: HK$350,948,000) is the cash AR AZE KR7,067,000%8 L) &
received in inventory lease which details as set out in note 4(j) (ii). HFE  FREKTFEHERS

#1534,170,0008 7T (20224 :
350,948,000/ 7T) + FFIEEA MG

A(j)iii) ©
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented RWERR - RIBZERAHZEN 2
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: FERBRFRZ BRER DAL TS
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Within 30 days 30BN 433,740 655,139
The average credit period on purchases of goods was within 20234 R2022F MEFE « £
12 days to 120 days after the delivery date for both years BER P EERY AN AR
2023 and 2022. The Group has financial risk management BNANF12HE120H - AEEEE
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within ME TSR EIRBUR - LAEIRFT A

the credit time frame. ERFENMEERAEE -
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27. LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

RE—BHEZERARIZ
B

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000

FT

HK$’000
TExT

M2024F1 12 BIEE -
unsecured and interest bearing at SRR AR I 42 ) R —
One Year Loan Prime rate per annum B R &ERFE

Loan repayable on 12 January 2024,

(Note a) FFEZEF (HizEa) 3,311 =
Loan repayable on 19 October 2024, #2024 10 A 19 H{&E -

unsecured and interest bearing at IR AR F R —FE N

One Year Loan Prime rate per annum SEEF X8 2 ER

(Note b) (FfFzED) 14,345 -
Analysed into DB

Current portion mENE D 17,656 =

Note a: The effective interest rate of the loan from an intermediate holding
company is 3.65% per annum. The balance was fully repaid
subsequent to the year ended.

Note b:  The effective interest rate of the loan from an intermediate holding
company is 3.45% per annum.

The repayment schedule of the above loan based on the
agreed terms of repayment granted by an intermediate holding
company is as follows:

On demand or within one year BERIN—FA

ffsta : KB —FFEZERARZ ERE
BREF R R3.65% - HREENFE
BRIEBEEE -

it

X

b : KB —MATPEERATDZERNE
BREFF R /3.45% ©

RIE—BE P EZERARRH O HE
ERGT  BIREREEE BN

2

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000

T

HK$°000
FTEx

17,656 =
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

28. LOAN FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING 28. REEEERAGZER
COMPANY
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FT
Loan repayable on 14 December R2023F 12 A14HEE
2023, unsecured and interest R RIZFFZELBOR+1%
bearing at LIBOR+1% per annum HREZER - 47,694
Analysed into DB
Current portion mENEL - 47,694
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the effective interest HZE2023F12A31HILEFE » K
rate of the loan from immediate holding company is 5.75% BEEERAT 2 EHRERFF|
per annum. The balance was fully settled during the year. E/35.75% © R RN FNBEE
E o
The repayment schedule of the above loan based on the REEEZERARBRENHEER
agreed terms of repayment granted by immediate holding R B ERERGTEIWT ¢

company is as follows:

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
FH AR

Within one year —FR - 47,694
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29. BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans — unsecured and RITE R — BT
guaranteed RAEER
Analysed into SaRiw=1
Current portion mENEL D

29. RITER

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

348,979 957,752

As at 31 December 2023, the above balance was borrowed
by CGN Global, a subsidiary of the Company, under a
credit facility with amounts of USD150,000,000 (2022:
two credit facilities with amounts of USD50,000,000 and
USD150,000,000 respectively).

One loan is borrowed by a subsidiary of the Company, and
bears interest rates at Secured Overnight Financing Rate
+ 0.5% per annum (2022: two loans at LIBOR+1.2% and
Secured Overnight Financing Rate + 0.8% per annum) and it is
guaranteed by the Company.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group does not
expect there is modification of the loan interest rate.

The repayment schedule of the above borrowings based
on the agreed terms of repayment granted by bank are as
follows:

BERIN—FA

7

On demand or within one year

MR2023F12A31H & Lilgr%E
HaZlK/AﬂMﬂE@ﬂqﬂﬂ?lﬁf’%%
ERRBA CFEREEEAR
150,000, ooo%m@ozzi E
=EREREE 5 7 A50,000,000%
7T % 150,000,000 7T) °

Z—EEFAAARZHBRRME
A FRERBERBERAEF X
+0.5% (2022%F : MWEEK  FF
K ABLIBOR+1.2% R ERBERAE
ME+0.8%) + WHARRAIRHEE
R

MR2023F 2022512 A31H » &
EBEBAZERFETGER -

*Eﬁéfﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂjﬂ’]%iﬁﬁﬂ Rk
AMAEFKEEFEH BT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000

HK$’000
TR TAET

348,979 957,752
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30. LOANS FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Loans repayable on 7 November

450 SR |

2025, unsecured and interest

MR2025F11 A7HERE -

RE—BERRZNEBLR
B

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000

HK$’000
FHT Fib7T

bearing ranging from 4.59% to NF4.59%ZE5.27%
5.27% per annum ATEZEN 1,395,914 1,395,914
Analysed into DB

Non-current portion IEMBNEL 1,395,914 1,395,914

The effective interest rate of the loans from a fellow subsidiary is
4.79% (2022: 4.88%) per annum.

The repayment schedule of the above loans based on the
agreed terms of repayment granted by a fellow subsidiary is as
follows:

BERSIN—FA

On demand or within one year

RE—HREMBARZERD
BERFENE AB4.79% (20224 -
4.88%) °

BE—FHRZRMBAARENHBE
BRIER - B EREERE B
™

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000

HK$’000
FTET TAET

After one year but within two years —FRABERMER 1,395,914 =
After two years but within five years ~ MFESIABEBERHER - 1,395,914
1,395,914 1,395,914
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December
2022, 1 January 2023 and 31

RTE

31. KX

Number of

shares Amount

BHEE =8

HK$’000
THETT

FAREEO0.01E T B

202251 A1H ~ 20224
12A31H - 2023F1/81H

December 2023 K2023%12A31H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER

At 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 6,600,682,645 66,007

Issue of new shares under RIERE W ETITIRGD 240,700,000 2,407
subscription agreement (Note a) (Ff7Ea)

Issue of new shares under RIERBIHRBITHRG 759,300,000 7,593
subscription agreement (Note b) (M 7EDb)

At 31 December 2022 and 2023 R20224F 202312 H31H  7,600,682,645 76,007

All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 rank pari passu with the then
existing shares in all respects.

Note a: On 28 March 2022, the Company completed a subscription
agreement with third parties (the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which
the Subscribers has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total
of 240,700,000 ordinary shares (at par value of HK$0.01) at the
subscription price of HK$0.80 per share. Those subscription shares
issued by the Company rank pari passu in all respects with the issued
ordinary shares of the Company on the date of issue.

Note b:  On 30 June 2022, the Company completed a subscription agreement
with a third party (the “Subscriber A”), pursuant to which the Subscriber
A has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of 759,300,000 ordinary
shares (at par value of HK$0.01) at the subscription price of HK$0.80
per share. Those subscription shares issued by the Company rank pari
passu in all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company
on the date of issue.

The Company replenishes its capital after the acquisition of
49% interest in Ortalyk on 30 July 2021 for its natural uranium
trading business as well as for future acquisition of competitive
overseas uranium resource projects as part of the Group’s
development strategy.

The gross proceeds from the above subscriptions are
HK$800 million and the net proceeds from the Subscriptions,
after deducting the relevant expenses, are HK$776 million.
The Company intends to utilise the net proceeds as general
working capital and for acquisition of uranium resources
project.

RELZE2023%F 2022912 A831H
HFEMBEEITHEBREER
EERMNRE T EZERSHER -

Mizka: M2022%F3H28H @ ARAIEE=
B ([REA]) TR — 1D RE R
Bt REBABDEGERERER
AREEHEHRERERETE
$#240,700,00008 B AR E{E0.01/5
TTHE @R - REEAENR0.807
TC ° ANABIBEITHZERIER D H
ARRNBITE BB HITHL B
BRI ZER SR

fisEb © M2022F6AH30H * ARAEIEH—F
E=7 ([RIEAAD FTERK— 17 RIE
& Bt RBAADEKERER
BRARBDHEHRSE S R
774 $£759,300,0000% &AL E{E0.01
BTH LB - REBEAFRO0.80
BIT o AARBITHZERERN
HARRNETE D HITNYLE
REFTE A EHZEE RS -

ARAIR2021F7 308 WEEE R
AlA9%HI R ER TR AR - AR
TTRAMME DPE - RIRRYEE
BSRFNHEINERIE B EAZR
SEBEREBEN—ED o

ERRBESHEAEFIARERSE
BT RRBEEMGRAFE
(MR HERARA X 1R) /7761878
TC ° ARBRBAMSRIEFRIE
R—REEES RWBEMERA
B o
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32. EEHIEA
The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as follows: BEHRBEE (AR z2oHHA
T

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHT

Deferred tax assets BIETIEEE 9 9
Deferred tax liabilities BIETIEAE (83,030) (57,281)
The followings are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) AT RRAFEE R BEFERER L
recognised and movements thereon during the current and TERCEREEE, (AR ARE

prior years: EE)

Change in fair
valug of land ~ Undistributable ~ Undistributable

and buildings profits profits
Accumulated  and investment ofa ofan
Taxlosses  tax depreciation properties  joint venture associate Total
THRBFUR
REME.  -BRELE  -EBEL
WEFE  EiRERE DMERS  AIEER  ZAAREA it
HKS 000 HKS 000 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL Thr TEn Tin T
At Jenuary 2022 RawE1A1A 5,151 10 8,787 (21,651) (19629 (#4905
(Cherged)crcfte o proft orloss RBEIR)/EA b.151) 0] 726 (6:344) 6971) [17741)
Exchange reaignment EE - e 745 4629 s 5374
At 31 December 2022and 1 January 2003 02E12R31RR
08118 - 9 (7.316) (23,366) (26,599) (7212
(Cherged) crcfte o proft orloss RBEE) /A - - 1507 (2324 (£574) 26309
Bxchange realignment ¥ - - 0 90 - 560
At 31 December 2023 H2023E12A31R - 9 (5,739) (46,118) (31,173 (83021)
At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has unused R &R - AEBE A HEE
tax losses of approximately HK$126,380,000 (2022: AEBRMNZ ABABREEELD
HK$24,901,000) available for offset against future profits. £126,380,000/8 7T (20224
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 24,901,000/ 7T) ° AR EETEAIR
the tax losses of approximately HK$126,380,000 (2022: FomMm - AL 47126,380,000
HK$24,901,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit 77T (20224 : 24,901,000/87T) 2
streams. No tax loss was expired during the years ended 31 HESEERRERIEEE - &
December 2023 and 2022. F£2023%F K2022F 12 A31H IEF

B - BENEERDER -
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33. ADFFBARREK

THE COMPANY

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BizE THET TET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - BEREHE 106 131
Right-of-use-assets FREEE 412 1,648
Interests in subsidiaries REB R Rz 2,172,699 2,172,699
Interest in an associate K- ERNR 2R 453,924 453,924
Other receivables Hib s 50 367
Deferred tax assets ELEHIBEE 9 9
2,627,200 2,628,778
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables FENRR R S E A FE I K08 410,331 288,429
Loan to a subsidiary BERT—HRBAR 480,488 873,458
Income tax recoverable EEEES i F 5,649 =
Bank balances and cash ROTEFERRSE 422,038 23,720
1,318,506 1,185,607
Current liabilities TBaE
Trade and other payables JETER R I B R 5 IR 436,819 259,560
Lease liabilities HEARE 414 1,248
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EN—HRZNB AR () 1,234 590
Amount due to an intermediate holding e EER AR FUR
company (b) - 97
Loan from immediate holding company ~ REBEIER AR ZER - 47,694
Loan from a subsidiary rE—HEHBELRZER 192,552 190,597
Income tax payable JERET{SHY 3,560 4,101
634,579 503,887
Net current assets REEEFE 683,927 681,720
Total assets less current liabilities BEREARDAR 3,311,127 3,310,498
Non-current liabilities FraaE
Lease liabilities MEAE - 414
Net assets BETE 3,311,127 3,310,084
Capital and reserves BRAK i
Share capital R 76,007 76,007
Reserves B (©) 3,235,120 3,234,077
Total equity BRERE 3,311,127 3,310,084

REESHE NIRRT

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

Xu Junmei #EH
Director 2%

An Junjing ZE ¥
Director 2%
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. ZAARBEMRRAE &
THE COMPANY (Continueq)

Note a:  The amount due to a fellow subsidiary and details are set out in note Mizka : FEN—ERRMBABFKIE @ 57518
24, M4

Note b: Amount due to an intermediate holding company are unsecured, non- Wato © FENT—REFREIER A I AEIE
interest bearing and repayable on demand. o RERARERER -

Note c:  Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows: fiztc : FAREHEZSHET :

Share
Share options Other Retained
premium reserve reserve  earnings Total

BfaE BERERE HtRE KRERAN b
HK$000  HK§000  HK$'000  HKE000  HK$'000

T TET  TET  TET TR
At 1 January 2022 #®2022F1A1R 1,734,144 154 7 715420 2,449,725
Profit for the year AEEHF - - - 18,010 18,010
Issue of shares Eiktn 790,000 - - - 790,000
Share issue expenses RADEITHY (23,658) - - - (23,858)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022%12 4318

1 January 2023 K2023%F1 /18 2,500,486 154 7 733430 3,234,077
Profit for the year AEZ R - - - 1,043 1,043

At 31 December 2023 20235124318 2,500,486 1564 7 734,473 3235120
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34. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. fBATYIFR
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 KA EFR20234F 20229 12 A31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: BEEZMBARSOT :

Place of Particulars of issued
Class of incorporation/  Place of share capital/paid up Attributable equity

Name of subsidiary shares held establishment  operations registered capital interest of the Group  Principal activities

AL/ BRIRE/

if: k2 KERHER RUZHY FHHG HREMBARTE AEEEERE  TEER
2023 2022
NRE  ANE

Direct subsidiaries:
ERNELT
Beiing Sino-Kazakn* Contriouted Capital ~~ PRC PRC RMBB?23,770,000 100% 100%  Investment project
SRk B4Ex i G (2022:AMB823,770,000) REER
NEHE823,7700007C (2022 -
NR823,770,00077)

CGNM UK Ltd. Ordinary shares UK UK 100,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Trading of natural uranium
EAlk A A GBP 1 each and 130,521,354 A#ES

orclnary shares of USD 1
each (2022: 100,000 orclinary
shares of GBP1 each and
130,521,354 ordinary shares
0f USD1 each)

100,000 £ &K
GREEIEER130521,354
BREEIFT000% :
100000F B RREHRERE
130,521,354 R E R
ShEEIxT)

CGN Global Ordinary shares UK UK 11,000,000 (2022: 11,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of natural uranium
hERERHEDT R 0 A ordinary shares of USD 1 each Aih#ES
11,000,0008% (2022% -
11,000,000%) £8%
SREEIEL

# Wholly-owned foreign enterprise with limited liability. & SNEBERREMERE -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding BEM B A RN RS HRINRE
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the HAR R BE B (AT R (BB ST

g e
A P

reporting period.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with related parties during the

year:

Sales of natural uranium resources to
China Uranium Development

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Semizbay-U, including taxes

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Ortalyk, including taxes

Management fee charged by
CGNPC-URC

Interest income from CGNPC Huasheng

Interest income from CGN Finance

Rental income from CGNPC-URC

Dividend income received from

Semizbay-U

Dividend income received from Ortalyk

Interest expenses to CGNPC Huasheng

Interest expense to China Uranium
Development

Financial service income received from
China Uranium Development

AP EHERRAE
ARHER

[DEINT
AAHER (25)

RENGE: 3
AAHER (25)

PREZHIFERAR
MERE

WERe BREE B AOR S A

YRR RS T M B A

BB EZHEER
ZBEWA

WERA A TR SMA

LEEINS) LI UN

NFhEEERMEX

NFHEHEER 2 HEXH

VEGETEvd
FBRBRA

35. FBALRS

U

(il

)

v

(vl

(a)

B AR A B RS TR P L
i W E S - AEE
F P 5B B A £ 8 B A 1
THEARS :

2023 2022
2023F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 AT

1,687,603 1,341,031
616,012 455,276
1,084,013 829,528
5,302 5,293
15,133 1,627
1,909 56
3,171 3,318
164,052 113,332
355,903 314,938
67,769 9,018
158 38,511

200 =
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35. RELATED
(Continued)

e PR HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) (Continued)

Interest expense to CGNPC-URC RTFPRGHERR L
MEXI )
Information system services fee paidto (19 FERZBH 5 S (8
CGN Finance EHZGRBER (xi
Accounting services fee paid to CGN At ERE NS
Power SHREER (il

Administrative service fee paid to
CGNPC-URC

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd,
including taxes (“Swakop”)

AP EZIER R NTR
REER

B Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd

(&) (xii)

Notes:

@

(i)

On 16 June 2022, the Group has entered into a new sales
framework agreement with CGNPC-URC for the sales of
natural uranium resources for another term of three years
from 1 January 2023. Details are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 19 August 2022.

On 17 March 2022, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2022 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 9 March 20283, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2023 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

35. BBALRZ @)

(#)

2023 2022
2023F 20204
HK$'000

HK$'000
FAER AL

976 327
123 827

- 162

- 546
132,245 =

it

[0} 20226168 « &
B B R A Sl T TR L 8H
ERARE R AT 1 8
EIERHFE + 5202341
A1BE  BH=F -
HEBERNARABHA
202298 19 B KK -

(ii) M2022%3A17H K&
B B H A BN 2022F 8
BRAMERITIEER
&% HthERETHIER
REEEFIE -

M2023F3A90 * A%
E HH A R B 2023 F
BRAMERITLEER
&% HthERETHIER
REEEFIE o
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

()

(xi)

(i)

(xiil)

On 4 March 2022, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Ortalyk for the purchases of natural uranium
resources for the year 2022 with other certain taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 9 March 20283, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Ortalyk for the purchases of natural uranium
resources for the year 2023 with other certain taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group.

The Group entered into a service agreement with CGNPC-
URC for the administrative services provided by CGNPC-
URC.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to deposit amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and
generate interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with
CGN Finance to deposit amounts with CGN Finance and
generated interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a rental agreement with CGNPC-
URC to lease out the investment properties to generate rental
income.

The Group entered into a loan agreement CGNPC Huasheng
to withdraw amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and incurred
interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with China Uranium
Development to withdraw amounts with China Uranium
Development and incurred interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with CGNPC-URC
to withdraw amounts with CGNPC-URC and incurred interest
expenses for those loans.

During the both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
CGN Finance, a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the
information system to the Group charged for the service fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, CGN Power,
a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the accounting
services to the Group charged for the services fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a purchase agreement with a fellow subsidiary
of the Group, Swakop, for the purchases of natural uranium
resources with other taxes in relation thereon borne by the
Group.

35. BBALRZ @)

(a)

&

Mz ()

(i)

)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii

(i)

(i)

(i)

(xiil)

R2022%F3H48 - X%
B RN R A 2022F
BRAMERLIEER
& HthEBETHIER
AREE R -

2023%F3H9H « AR&EEH
BNRFER20234FF
KB R LB E e
HiAEETHIEHRASE
BRI -

AR S E R R
h AP B A SE TR R AR A
B 1T B8 AR 75 7T 32 AR 75 1

s
A ©

A E R ERER RN
hERERTRAELER
ST SZAERGE

KB R ERI R L
ER G - NP ERRS
£ AR - BREUAE A

B o
B

AR S E i R R R
SRR EMEITTEE
W MEEESWA -

AEE B EZERHR
TR IERREUR M AT
TERGHEERZEER
EEMBH -

A2 (B R b B g S B PRt
A B i 3K 3R R BROR
&l SLE R % Rtz &
EREENSXH

REE R EZ X ER
FRIA AR A SR TR AR AR
FRIA AT S B R I % Bk
FZEEREENS -

HE 20234 k2022512
AB1ALMEFE &
SERZEMHE R AP EX
MR RAEERHERR
o WEARFSE R ©

HZE2022F12A31H 1t
FE  AEERRKEA
AR EXE HRAEER
HERE - WHERARE
EBH -

#HZE2023F12A3181E
FE - AKEAANEER
KB A FlSwakopr] 3z
BEMEABERAMSE
TR T B2 L AR RA A E A A
T8 B AN R AL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

All transactions were conducted with terms mutually
agreed with the counter parties.

Details of connected transactions of the Company
are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” section to the
annual report.

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender), pursuant to which the Company
can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for operation
capital within of total borrowing amounting to
USD480,000,000 (2022: USD480,000,000) from time
to time within 3 years from the first withdrawal. As
at 31 December 2023, there was unused borrowing
facilities amounting to USD300,000,000 (2022:
USD300,000,000).

The Group entered into a facility letter with China
Uranium Development (as lender), pursuant to which
the Company can borrow from China Uranium
Development for operation capital within of total
borrowing amounting to USD650,000,000 (2022:
USD650,000,000) from time to time within 3 years
from the first withdrawal. As at 31 December 2023,
there was unused borrowing facilities amounting to
USD650,000,000 (2022: USD643,850,000).

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC-
URC (as lender), pursuant to which the Company can
borrow from CGNPC-URC for operation capital within
of total borrowing amounting to RMB50,000,000
(2022: RMB50,000,000) from time to time within 3
years from the first withdrawal. As at 31 December
2023, there was unused borrowing facilities amounting
to RMB34,000,000 (2022: RMB50,000,000).

35. BBALRZ @)

(a)

(#)

FERSIREER 5T
B W RE Y IRFETT

ARBIBER HFEREF
EHRESEFeREITR

Ego

REBEEPEZER (ER
BRANILERBE @ &
I AAF B BEXRRERA
BNZ=ZFR - EREREE
480,000,0003 7T (20224F
480,000,000 7T) A+ A] &
BRI EZEREAESA
REEE A - FR2023F
12A31H » KEAEF
& 3#300,000,0003 7T (2022
£ : 300,000,000%7T) °

ANEBEEAP R HEERE (1E
BEZRNFTLERRE
Bt - AQE B EHIRER
ARN=FR - EEEREE
650,000,0003 7T (20224F :
650,000,000 70) A+ AJ N
A B ERREAE S
R EE ¢ E8 - 522023
F12A318 - REFAEFE
& #650,000,0003 7T (2022
£ : 343,850,000%7T) °

AN E R AP E X i R
REAERAN)FIZE
FBE B ARA]
BEEARZABEN=F
N ERERBARE
50,000,0007T (20224 :
AR #50,000,0007T) A
ATRRF EZBERR
BAECAREEESH
# - JA2023F12H31H -
ABAERMEEARE
34,000,0007T (20224 = A
R #50,000,0007T) °
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35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

35. BBALRZ @)

(Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) FEEEASZHM
The remuneration of directors of the Company during RBE20234F Kk20224F 12
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as ABIBRIEFEARAES
follows: ZBemT
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAIT
Short-term benefits EEER 2,174 2,174
Post-employment benefits BERR 2R A - =
2,174 2,174
The remuneration of directors of the Company and RRAEEREZTHA
key executives was determined by the remuneration BrHeHEFMEZESK
committee having regard to the performance of EREMNALT KRB RET

individuals and market trends. SBAET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

NEEN
payable

IR
HK8 000

BT

Loans from
immediate
holding
company

Loans

from a fellow
subsidliary
H—HRZ

HK$'000
Thn

36.

BERERMETE

BERBELZ BB

Loans from an
intermediate
holding
company

RE-fHE

HK$ 000

BT

Bank
borrowings

HK$ 000
ThT

Lease
liabilities

HERR
HK$ 000
AT

Inventory
lease payables

EfRER
HK8 000
TAT

At January 2023 720231 A1 13,359 47,694 1,395,914 - 957,752 2,222 350,948
Changes fom fnancing cash ~~ REBERETE):

flows:
Interest paid onloans froma~~~ SERE—BRZ

felow subsidiary WEAFEHENHS  (67,769) - - - - - -
Interest paid on loan from AREERARAR

immediate holding company ~~ B2 78 (295) - - - - - -
Interest paid to intermediate XA FRERRAF

holding company ME (757) - - - - - -
Cash repayment in inventory lease BEEFERER S - - - - = - (350948)
Cash recelved in inventory lease.  BAEERERS - - - - - - 534,170
Interest paid on bank borrowings 3/ TEHE (A8 (55,783) - - - - - -
Repayment of loan to immediate  EEEZZHAR

holding company HEH - (47,694) = - - - -
Repayment of bank borowings (BB R{71E3 - - - - (957752 - -
Advance of oans from an RE—FREARAT

intermediate holding company 311 - - - 17,656 - - -
Advance o bank borowings  SF{TEFEH - - - - 348979 - -
Repayment of lease abiles ~ EEREAE - - - § - (1,719) -
Totel changes from financing ~~ REBEEHBER

activities gy (124,604) (47,604) - 17,65  (608,773) (1,719 183222
Other changes: Ehgy:
Finance costs HANA 131,430 - - - - 34 -
As at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31A 20,185 - 1,395,914 17,656 348,979 537 534,170

223
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36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 36. REREBRMT @

CASH FLOWS (continued)

EEN
payable

FEfHIR

HKS! 000

Loans from
immediate
ho\dmg company

HK8 000
TAT

Loans from
afellow

subsicliary

Bank
horrowings

HK$ 000
TEL

Lease
liabilties
HK$'000
T

Inventory
lease payables

HK§'000
T

At1 January 2022 R2022F1518 19,906 2,400,197 236,530 387,754 3,862 964,197
Changes from financing cash ~~ RERERSRED:

flows:
Interest paidon loans froma. SR E—BREZNBRAE

fellow subsidiary HERME 2202) - - - - -
Interest paid on loan from FRAERERATERE

immediate holding company 15 (56,671) 5 5 5 5 5
Interest paid to intermediate XA FFREARAFFE

holding company (327) - - - - -
Repayment of iventory lease. ~ (EEEMFERE

payables - - - - (633,249
Interest paid on bank borrowings 31T EHE[HFIE (8979 = = e e e
Advance of loans fromafelow ~ RE—EEZNEBEHEH

subsidiary - - 1,395,914 - - -
Repayment of loan to immediate  EEBEERA M ER

holding company - (2,352,503 - - - -
Repayment of bank borowings BRI - - - (387,754) = =
Repayment of oansto afelow ~ BE-FFAZNBAA

subsidiary - - (236,530) - - -
Advance of bank borowings ST REH - - - 957,752 = =
Repayment of lease iabiities ~ EEMEEME - - - - (1,708) 5
Total changes fom financing~~ REREETES T

activities #25) (68,178) (2,362,503) 1,159,384 569,998 (1,708 (633,249
Other changes: e
Finance costs HERE 61,631 - - - 68 -
AsaldiDecember 2022 H02E12831A 13369 a4 1391 TR 20 30948
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38.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no major
non-cash transaction. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the borrowing of HK$957,752,000 as set out in note 29
has incurred interest payable of HK$61,631,000.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$3,171,000 (2022: HK$3,318,000). The Group’s
investment properties were held for rental purposes and were
expected to generate rental yields on approximately 6% (2022:
6%) on an ongoing basis.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to three years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

—FR

Within one year

37.

38.

FEFRERS

REE2023F12A31B ILFE -
WEEFEFRERH - REZE
2022F 12 A31HILF[E » ME29
FrEkfE70957,752,000/8 LB E £
FETF) 261,631,000 7T °

raraE R
REBERHAA

FRABRD2WERS KA
3,171,000 70 (20224
3,318,000 7L) - NEBE 2 IHEY)
ERFHERRRTEREELEL
6% (20224 : 6%) WA SR E -

AEERBELHEHHREY
¥ -HENEBAE A 2=
F - HEMTREAZEENK -

RiRE B T A HG S HER
AR E N AR ER A
HREARIZ 20 T ULER

2023
20235

2022
20224
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TR

3,153 3,198
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

39. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. RERHETHNEMEER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY tREENE

Categories of financial instruments SR T AEMER

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAT

Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BBER AT EZ S REE
(including bank balances and cash)  (B#FRITEFTNIAS)

— Trade and other receivables — FEUSBR 3K K H Ath FE I 0B 460,502 339,988
- Amount due from an intermediate ~ — fEUL— & AR REIERR A RIFRIE
holding company 1,655 1,679
— Amount due from a fellow — RN — R & B A B 50E
subsidiary 18 18
- Bank balances and cash —RITEFRRE 1,017,239 52,390
1,479,414 394,075
Financial liabilities cRaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ R#HEHK AT EZ LR AR
— Trade and other payables — BRI R B AL P 5RIE 999,401 1,043,828
— Loans from a fellow subsidiary —REg—HREMNBATZER 1,395,914 1,395,914
— Loans from an intermediate holding  — 2R 8 —fE# MIER A R 2 B
company 17,656 =
— Loan from immediate holding —REEEZERARZER
company - 47,694
— Bank borrowings —ERITIEK 348,979 957,752
— Amount due to an intermediate — S — R EIZERR A "3R8
holding company 10,938 1,120
— Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  — FE{ B R I8 A RIFIA 1,598 1,060

2,774,486 3,447,368
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments

in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk,

liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

(@

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of
each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECLs. The Group determines
the ECLs for customer with significant balances
by using an individual basis, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group has a low historical
credit loss experience and there was no significant and
adverse changes in the general economic conditions
of the industry in what the debtors operate, thus the
management considered the credit risk is not material.

40.

B 755 R B i R

EAREEAEEGBREFR  A&EH
RESHTEMNTEZRRK ﬁﬁ%ﬂ
ke - mEIESER - FERREK
MR o

(@ FEERER

AR HTREBITEMEM
CAREERZMBERLZ
ReREERRLKAERA
FAESIRRR PR E I HRA E
ERACMEEZREE -

R EERREERE
AEEEREDER X
B a B EERBELKDS
HIERZBR - 1o - &
SEERSHMEHRRS
& 18 Bl /& W iR 5K 2 AT U @]
1 AR E SR
L R SURIERE -

HEREZRME @ A&E
EREABSMB®RE LR
FOFME L ENIEEH
EHEEBETEEER
B AEBHAERER
ERELERERMGE - A
EHEABTEEERER
REBAEEITENELRE
LERAEECEREED
Begtlkms - ARAHK
ETRBASERELEE
EBEAK AREBHAL
BMITEZ BBCEMRNR
WEBATFHEE - Bt
EEERREERARTE
j( °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,£2023F 12 A31H L FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries included in bank balances and amount
due from an intermediate holding company, the internal
credit rating was ranked as “performing” as set out on
page 230. Based on the strong financial position and
good history of repayment of the fellow subsidiaries
and intermediate holding company, the Group has
assessed that the ECLs for these receivables and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and intermediate
holding company are not material under 12-month
ECLs. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the respective period.

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those
placed with fellow subsidiaries is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout the reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° internal credit rating;

o external credit rating;

40.

MERREREE
@ EERBRE)

PEMERFRENS - &
Yo IR 24 B B X A RO IR B
?E%E??Z*T&fﬂél*?ﬁqﬂ
e 42 A RIE - AEE
/\aHM%%Z%FELﬂJ (%A
F230EME - ERRAR
(R NCIDS Gl T E2 N
B R BB 0 & R o R
KL - ARELFER
Rz L AR E W
H%W% 8l R —EFE
R R R FRIRAEA21E A &
BEHEEEETYTIEE
Ko Bt - REHRREAR
EIEREREE

T BUA [R) 2 Bt /8 22 R A S
ZRBEZZEERRAE
R REARRZHTHER
BREENARBITAESE
REFZIRIT ©

REBEVAEREER
EEREAOMAEEM - IRET
HEENREBEARSHEE
GREERBRMIFERE
meFEEERRELR
EEME - AKBERS
AU EEZEELONE
bp YR TERR A BB A8
AR ETER - FR
EREEAR EHNATEM
BR - L THHEFTEEH
EE

. WEMEERIAR

. SNEBEE AP -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H It FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 40. HIERAMERZ

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ =ERK#E
. actual or expected significant adverse changes . EBAMR - BB
in business, financial or economic conditions TS A IR R A
that are expected to cause a significant change BER S BEEHEKRT

to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked
its management to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categories exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating
information is drawn from publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.

T A T 208 B 4
XY LB
B HELERS
i &

«  HRAEBRAR
TRBEEEANE
- BEAEER
YN DTS
BB RAES
ET I

AL B E i 115 B R R

SEEREKEERR K
SEEDKEEREABR
V¥ EFAEENEER
2P ARIREQRE R
RERRERSE - EEF
RBBELDERAFRERE
HEAEBRAUNEIER
FREBEH AL B
FRHREk - AEBEFE
ERASgRARMERSY
FHEEFTR - MEMR
SR REED MR ZER
SEFEF o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) ~ 40. EBI TSR EE (47

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) FEERRGE)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) AEEERGLEERRE (&)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework REBEERMWEERRT
comprises the following categories: %M[?E”F]?E AR5

Category

oYl

Performing

R#f

Doubtful

AT &¢

Default

Write-off

s

Description

i

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired

(refer to as Stage 1)
RELNRBRSBIREREEERRAREENEMEIHEERE
HEREEBHE R

For financial assets where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
BVIRERRIEERRERERENMHEERENSRIEE
(2HE_RER)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as
Stage 3)
EEARFEEMHEENGFRRR S REEE TN ER
CREENFHAGEEREZHE=RR)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

BERRRAEBABABRENTBRE - Bl A EEREIFED
FEWE

Basis for

recognising ECLs
REMEE

BENERE

12-month ECLs

12 AFEEiZ &
i)

Lifetime ECLs — not
credit impaired

EHEREEEE -
BEERE

Lifetime ECLs -
credit impaired

EHEMEEERE -
HIREERIE

Amount is written off

TR B H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #,Z22023F 12 A31 B L FE

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

Trade receivables

FEURR K

Deposits and other
receivables
e RAMEKIE

Amount due from an
intermediate holding
company

FEW — R R A B

TR

Amount due from a fellow

subsidiary
W —ERZKTE AT

R

Bank balances and cash

RTREERES

Internal

credit rating

AEREER

Note

P aE

Performing

REF

Performing

Ryf

Performing

RIF

Performing

RYF

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades.

12-month or
lifetime ECLs

40.

BRERER &
@ EERERE)

1282 HAREEER

Lifetime ECLs (simplified

approach)

2HESBEEER (TR

12-month ECLs

12 ARHEEER

12-month ECLs

12 AR EEREE

12-month ECLs

12 AFRBEEER

12-month ECLs
128 AR EE1E

AL [EE 415 B A ()
TERFAINHLTAEES
MEENEEER UK
AEBEEERRFRER

oS PN

Gross
carrying
amount
AREAE
HK$°000
THERT

450,750

9,752

1,655

18

1,017,239

RO o

Net
carrying
amount
RREFE
HK$°000
THET

450,750

9,752

1,655

18

1,017,239
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 40. HIERAMERZ

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERRGE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) AEEERGLEERRE (&)

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
31 December 2022 credit rating lifetime ECLs amount amount

2022512 A31H REMEERS 12 A2 HESEEEE R REFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET

Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECLs (simplified 335,621 335,621
approach)
FEUER K FiEE 2 HRHEEEE (5
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs 4,367 4,367
receivables
e RkHEMEKFIE  RIF 121E A fE B B 518
Amount due from an Performing 12-month ECLs 1,679 1,679
intermediate holding
company
JEW — el P T2 AR Rif 128 A FE Bz EE51E
YNSIF/OE|
Amount due from a fellow  Performing 12-month ECLs 18 18
subsidiary
FEU — I R 2 BT RiF 12{f AFE B E B &5 18
NAEIFIE
Bank balances and cash  Performing 12-month ECLs 52,390 52,390
RITHEFRIRE Rif 128 A FE Bz EE51E
Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified MizE : BEYERRME @ AEE
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at ERAERVE®RELER
lifetime ECLs. Except for debtors with significant outstanding FORMELFENESR
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the HEBREE BN EEE
expected credit losses on these items individually. No loss e BRABERRETE
allowance has been made on trade receivables as the EERENERIN - &
amount involved is insignificant. SEEBHETILREAN

BHEEER - ARAS
SRITEAX - R E5
MR SR A -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in China (2022: China),
which accounted for 89% (2022: 83%) of the total
trade receivable as at 31 December 2023.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk as
23% (2022: 37%) and 62% (2022: 85%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within natural uranium trading segment.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of loans from bank borrowings,
loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans from an
intermediate holding company and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and
lease liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.

40. HIERAMERZ

(a)

(b)

FERR(E)
AL B E i 115 B R (AR

REERMESNEER
g i = E A El (2022
F PR - 152023F12A8
31HZ EWRBRRAEE89%
(20224 : 83%) °

SEoh - AN 52 B e YRR R AR
EA23% (20224 : 37%) M
62% (20224 : 85%) 7 7
ERAEBERAHE S %
BABHERAEPRAKX
BPEMHE  {mEBE
BRBEFRHER o

RBETER

REBRDESRRE -
AEBEEELRBRE A
CEERBAERNEERE
RBTRZIKF - LB
AEBEz2ERRERS
MERBZEE BEE
ERRBRTERZE
R KE—RRRHMER
AzERRKE —HFH
BERABZERNERE
R TERE TE R ©

TRAMAAREREE
RIER - AREHITES
REEREERESR T
BREHME - ZAREBEAE
B AN R & F B H A
THAEBERHEEABTH
ARBARERER/EER
HoFNTETRBEETH
B EEREBBRE
EoZREBENEERS
HBeng NS HK -
REFERBIEBHE -
AIFRRR G RBH X
HARATE ©
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

40.

(b)

BRERER &
FREBELAR(E)

Repayable on More than More than Total
demand or 1 year but 2yearshut  undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year  less than2years less than 5 years cash flows amount
{KE*g, Ba-F BEwE B35
H-FhEE {BoRmE {BIHTE Rehe ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$ 000
TEn T Tén Tén Thn
At 31 December 2023 2023512331A
Non-derivatve financial iablties HiteHas
Trade and other payeles ENERREfERE 999,401 - - 999401 999,401
Loans from a felow subsidary RE-HRZNELA ER 4837 1305914 - 1,470,751 1,305,914
Loans fiom an ntermediate holdng company KSR EARA A ER 18,261 - - 18261 17,656
Bank borowings BikR 365,344 - - 365,34 348,79
Amount cue to an intemeciate holding company B — B RIERA G50 10938 - - 10,038 10,938
Amounts due to Slow subsicries ERRZNBAFNE 1,598 - - 1,59 1,598
1470379 1,395,914 - 2,866,293 2,774,486
Lease fabies fHEaE 679 - - 679 57

Repayable on
(emand or
within 1 year

?.;’ 7

More than

1 year butless
than 2 years
BEE

More than
2 years but less
then 5 years

ik
HKS 000

Total
unciscounted
cash flows

45

Canying
amount

i
HKS 000
ThL

At 31 December 2022 H2020E12R31A

Non-derivative financial liabilities HiASHER

Trade and oter payables EREZRADENE 1043828 - - 1043828 1043628

Loans from a felow subsidary RE-HRANELA SR 61,091 = 139,914 1457805 1305914

Loans from immecfate holding company REERBRAFER 50,346 = = 50346 4769

Bark borrowings il 908,439 - - 998,49 97,752

Amount due to an infermeciate holding company  [Ef— BRI A REE 1120 5 = 1120 1120

Amounts due to elow subsicares EfiEZHEA0E 1060 - - 1,080 1,080
2,156,684 - 105,914 3552598 3,447,368

Lase iabites S8R 1,708 673 - 2561 220
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

()

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
mainly in relation to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
bank balances, including the deposits made to
CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance, loans from
an intermediate holding company and loan from
immediate holding company. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments including variable-rate bank
borrowings, bank balances, at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$2,967,000 (2022: HK$10,003,000).

40. HIERAMERZ

(b)

()

REBESREE)
Al

ARAEERE  REH
RAFEAR & B IS R R 51 BR
LEMEERERAEL
FEESEANAERS
b 75 B 5 L BB 30 K2 B
WEIH -

FRmEkE

AEBEHREFBRITHE
F o RITEF(BEFER
TEZERLTESMB
BFER - RE R REE
BRARZER R KB EE
ERARZEFR) BHRE
MEMNXER - AEEH
A3 A R EDR R o A
m:ERESEEMNEE
% WRIEHBFHREK
) 2 [\ g B E S BR B EL b
PRERT1TE

BT

AN Z@REE D TIRE
RBERRFTETE(E
HREERITHER - RITHE
) ZHERERMET °
HZEADMBBRERRE
HRZREESBRTAR
E2FARNAERE - 50EE
2h (20224 : 50MAEE) 2
ENERS sRERERE
A B B A = L 1F A B 3R
ERER KRREEER
MERRELAZAEESD
PrERHE

WA _EF+ T BR50{E £
25 (20224 : S5OMEEE) -
R e e
N B AREBREZE
2023%F 12 A31HILFE
ZBRFLEEF & m R
L #92,967,000/8 7t (2022
£ 10,003,000/ 7T) °
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from rental income and purchases
by the Group in currencies other than the entities’
functional currencies. All 100% (2022: 100%) of the
Group’s rental income are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the group’s
entity. In addition, certain portion of trade and other
receivables, amount due from an intermediate holding
company, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amounts due to an intermediate holding
company and fellow subsidiaries are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised monetary assets or liabilities denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

Presented in: 2023 2022
Gl 20235 20224
USD’000  USD’000

TR TET

Assets BE 1,462,541 203,320
Liabilities BE (2,309,361)  (383,975)

40.

2023
20235

RMB’000
ARBTR

10,665
(22,226)

BRERER &
) EERBR

AEEAHRXHEER
% - AERKREEHEK
ARAEENZEEREAK
TEEE M ANz BT
K - AEE2E100%
(20224 : 100%) KT & Uk
ANEBER 2R
LASN 2 EHEDIME o Lo -
AT ERERREM
FEUERIE  EUR —
ERARIKIE - RITER
kB EAERREM
JE R IE N & BN —
SR /NI DN E )=
NRIKEA - THABEZE
IR E M LASN 7 B 4

st
H o
>

TRERAEERREH
AACHEREEEELA
EARERMEBEEE
MMz B EEEL 2R

LA
o0
ZN

[

2022 2023 2022
20224 20234 20224
RMB'000  HK$000  HK$'000
AREFTT TR S
14,571 1,473 23,144
2,715) (2,640) @177)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

7K 5 [B] 35 B 3 4 S B S b
B - A BEEEBER
SMNERE - WREBFER
ZREMEARINERR ©
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (Continueq)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of
RMB, USD and HKS$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
(i) to a 5% and 0.5% increase or decrease in HK$
against the RMB and USD respectively for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. 5% and 0.5%
are the sensitivity rates used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% or 0.5% (2022: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where the respective
functional currency strengthens 5% or 0.5% (2022: 5%
or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or
0.5% (2022: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

Presented in: 2023 2022
5IRA 2023F 20224
USD’000  USD’000

FER T

5% 5%

Profit or loss BFERE (29,624) (3,326)

40. HIERAMERZ

(d)

2023
2023

RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

5%
(410)

RMB'000

BWEER(E)

AEBEI2HHARYE
ERETEERR o

TR AEBE 2023
FN2022F12A318 15
BEHEETO R ARER
ELAHERIZE5%&0.5%
ZHRRE o LEURE L &
(5%%0.5%) BlaE£BER
A B 5t SMNE BB 1 R B 3R
ERRACHRE KX
EIEERLINEE R A] s E
£ BEEBATETE -

BRED N ERIE S ARG
BZNEFEEBEE R
R ERRINEE R~
5%8%0.5% (20224 : 5%
500.5%) #BEH 2 A E R

JEMEEM L BRE
FHE5%5%0.5% (20224 :
5%73%0.5%) Fr 8 B Br Hi &
A2 TR o MABFER D)
BEEH B EBEZESY
800.5% (20224 : 5%3k
0.5%) + &% EFHEK A
R2EETE -

2022 2023 2022
20224 2023F 20224
HK$000  HK$'000

FHET THT

5% 0.5% 0.5%
464 (5) 79

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

EEERS  ARFER
Z R B 3 R BR A
- MERESMIAE K
RE A IMNE BBz o
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41.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans
from an intermediate and immediate holding company, bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves. The directors of the Company
review the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of
this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital,
and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital
structure.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

41.

EXEREE

AEEEREER - ARRAEE
ETEBEFECEETY  WE
BT 5 TR RS - AR
A RBAE R - AL ERERR
AT o

AEBZENERBRBRFAE(R
TR — R R B AR &R K
8RR EkERERATZER
KIRTTRER) - HBRERBREE
ERBARARREIEA ARG
(B BRERTRARER) - &
RAIEEERRANELRERE - FR
BAEP R ARAREFEEE
AA R BEBERNRENER -
Y HHRBEETEABAREE
KGR o

BEANHEMARME—  AEE
NEARB B RERER - X
LR B ERIABABETE - F8
BEREERERRE MRS FER
BatE - EABBEIRG A MHARN
RADIR SN EFRERTE

R2023%F }2022F 12 A31 HHE
ARELLRMT -

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHEx FATT

Net debt FEE 745,310 2,348,970
Total equity G G 3,880,191 3,348,139
Gearing ratio BARAEHE 19.21% 70.16%

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the directors on 21 March 2024.

42. #HEFB®RR

NATEEN2024FE3 21 At #
DR TS ®K -
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Particulars of Major Properties as at 31 December 2023

@ 202312 531 B EY 5418

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT BFIERE 2
Location NE Type of properties Lease term
YEEE HEHR
Rooms 2906-2910 & 2912, 29/F, FEdE R Office premises Medium-term lease
Block A, Shi Ao International Centre, #A[5[& /N FREfE
No. 101 Shaoyaoju Beili, AJEEEAL B 10158
Chaoyang District, BRSO ARE

Beijing, PRC 29122906-2910 %2912 %
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In this annual report (excluding the “Independent Auditor’'s Report”), unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RAFEREREAN(NBEELZBERE]) BXESAMEIN  UTAEEREENTEE

“associates”
1 EIN

“Articles of Association”
[E24081]

“Audit Committee”
[BZEEZ]

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

[ 5 B

“Board”
E= 4

“CAD” or “CA$”
(07Tl sk[CAS)

“Canada”

BIIEPN
“Central Mynkuduk Deposit”
[ |

“CGN” or “CGNPC”

[ B[P EZEERE]

“CGN Finance”

[P AR 75

“CGN Global”

[ BB EE AR

“CGN Group”

[hEREE

“CGNM UK”

[CGNM UK/

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
AR ETRRIPE 7 208 -

the articles of association of the Company.
RARAEEERAMA -

the audit committee of the Board.

EEeERLBg -

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment Company
Limited* (JL A5 iRERIKEBR AR, a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

IERhRHmERREFRAR - RPREFMKINBREERA
RANTZEMBAR o

the board of Directors of the Company.

ARREFE -

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada.

MEARTT  MEREEEH

Canada, a country in the northern part of North America.

MEX - B—ELFIEEMIL BRI EEK -

the central plot of Mynkuduk deposit in South-Kazakhstan region
Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Ortalyk.

{37 7RG B e HT 38 7 e B 5o A8 3 [ A9 P BS 1 Se S AR A P R 3R - B
RRABERERER -

China General Nuclear Power Corporation* (B Eiz B AR A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of CGNPC-URC.

HREEZERBRAR  RABIKY 2BREERR - AP EZH
EHRME—IRE -

CGN Finance Co., Ltd* (FEZIMEEREF2AF]), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of
CGNPC.

PEZVBAREEAR  RPBEKIZBEREERR  RPEZ
SEATRIZHBAR] -

CGN Global Uranium Ltd, a company incorporated and registered
in England and Wales with limited liability and a subsidiary of the
Company.

PEZBRHERESERAR - —FREBREHEREBDEET
MRIHBERAT - NRABZHBAE] °

CGNPC and its subsidiaries.
FEZEERARIREMBRAR -

CGNM UK Ltd., a company incorporated in the United Kingdom, with
limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
CGNM UK Ltd. * REBFMKZHEREEAT - WRARARNE
AMIBAT -



“CGNPC Huasheng”

[P BT AR

“CGNPC-URC”

[ ERZ R R

“CGNPC-URC Group”

[ B R R

“China Uranium Development”

[ Bl dh 3K 3R

“Company”, “CGN Mining” or “we”
[RATE -~ TS kB
“Controlling Shareholder”
[P IR AR ]

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EEATA

“Czech Republic”
[ 72 FE AN |

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“ED(s)"
[FITESR]

“Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee” or “ESG
Comlnittee” i
[IRIE - HERERETES]K
[ESGZE =

“EU”

=40

“Fission”

[Fission2A &1

TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Definitions

CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited (FEZIEXKIEEBR AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CGNPC.

PEZERREARAR  REBIMKIZ A RPEZEE
RAEIZEEWBRA -

CGNPC Uranium Resources Co., Ltd.* (1 EizshZ %R AR A F),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of the China Uranium Development.
PEZMEZRRBBAR  RABIKZIZBERETAT - AP R
FERIME—RE -

CGNPC-URC and its subsidiaries (other than member of the Group).
hEZMEEREERAEEXSINEML BRG] -

China Uranium Development Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the Controlling
Shareholder of the Company.

Eﬁ%%%@ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ CREBRILZAERBEERR] - ARAZE
& 5

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

rhEAZIEE AR A F*(CGN Minig Company Limited) * RS S
MRz BREERR] - ERGOIEEZFIER £ -

has the Eeaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BERFmHRRET % -

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

EiRRIMERC1 AE SR B RER<PR -

the Czech Republic, an inland country in Central Europe.
R AT - A APEH —EAREESR -

the director(s) of the Company.

RRARERE -

executive Director(s) of the Company.

RRBHITES °

the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board.

EEgRE HeaMERER

8

o

European Union, a political and economic union of 27 member states
that are Iocat\eq primarily in Europe.
RBEEEMRBUME27EK & BERNRBUS RASER R -

Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource company of
which ordinary shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
under the symbol “FCU”, the OTCQX market place in the US under
the symbol “FCUUF” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the
symbol “2FU” a company owned as to 12.62% by the Company as
at 31 December 2023.

Fission Uranium Corp. * —KIAMER BEb 2 ER AR - EHEE
BELARSETFCUl R Z /R Z R 5FT » AR [FCUUF] R EBIOTCQXR
Z5 RASR [2FUIRNER RBESF X 5T £ o N2 RIR2023
12 431 B HFissionA A112.62%1#25
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Definitions

“Fourteenth Five-year Plan”
[+t

“Group”
[R&EBE sk [&E]

“GWe”
[Gwel

“HK$” or “HKD”
[#7t)

‘HKASs”
[EEgt £

“HKFRSs”
(BB BHE 2]

“HKICPA”
(AR AE]

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR”
(BRI FBFRITTHER]

“INED()”
(B IEBITESE]

“Irkol Mine”
[
“Kazakhstan”

[MaEEse HiE ]

“Kazatomprom”

(MR

“Wh”
[kwh]

‘b
Mb]

“Listing Rules”

[ &R Al
“Model Code”
[122E<F Al

“Natural Uranium”
[RERHH ]

The fourteenth five-year plan for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2021 to 2025.
FREBRA BN G RENSE HERSF - RE2021 E2025%F o

the Company and its subsidiaries.
KRG REMB AR -

Gigawatts of Electricity.
EFERES -

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

BT BBZEEEH

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA.
HEBGTMAGRM 2 BB G AR -

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by HKICPA.
HEB ST AGRM 2 BB ERELED -

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
BEGHIAG °

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China. ~
hEARAMBEEERHITTHR °

independent non-executive Director(s) of the Company.

RAPEILIFAITES ©

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20 kilometres from
the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan with limited liability, which is owned and
operated by Semizbay-U.

FER AL - (7R R ERATECHIIE20A B 5z 2 Kyzylorzhinskit
B BEAREANRER

The Republic of Kazakhstan.
Ie B Se A AR o

Joint Stock Company National Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”, a
joint stock company established according to the laws of Kazakhstan
with limited liability, which holds 51% equity interest of Semizbay-U
and Ortalyk.

FEMEiE e ATE B R R T8 T 22 71* (Joint Stock Company National
Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”) » —RARIE MG & 52 B3R A=K 7
BRI A R] - FHEH A RIFER QRS % °

kilowatt hour.

FHAN -

pound.

5

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

B FreE s LR -

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

EAARBIFERCOFAE LM AR EFEITE SR HHIRESTR -

uranium ore concentrates in the form of USO8 in this announcement.

NEUE=sTZRE 2 ShAE IR -



“NED(s)”
[FEMITEE] 15

“Nomination Committee”
[EREEE] i3

“New Financial Services Framework
Agreement”

[T S R AR IR EC

“New Sales Framework Agreement”

[#r S ENE LR 77 i
“Ortalyk”

EUNGT &
“PLS Project”

[PLSIEE | i
“PRC” or “China”

[ i
“Remuneration Committee”

[FEE g i
“Reporting Period”

[ B i
“RMB”

(AR i
“Semizbay Mine”

i i
“Semizbay-U”

EiVNGIT &
“SFO”

(785 KRB 501 &
“share(s)”

[ fp ] B

TEREXARAT —To=ZFFH

Definitions

non-executive Director(s) of the Company.

ARBIFEMITES -

the nomination committee of the Board.
EFeREEZET -

the financial services framework agreement dated 16 June 2022
entered into among the Company, CGN Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng.

ANE] - PEZI S EREERR ] B B R20229F6 A 16H 2 A1 7%
BRISAELR 177 5%

the framework agreement dated 16 June 2022 entered into between
the Company and CGNPC-URC in relation to the sale of natural
uranium by the Group to CGNPC-URC Group.
NAREREZHMEFRLTZ BHA20229F6 A16H 2 ER R -
REMAEE M EZMEEREEHERAH -

Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
an associate of the Company.
BELNFRBEEFREREMELAIKEZE(Mining Company
“ORTALYK” LLP) » RRMERIHER I AREEAREE - AR
RAEBERT - NRAREBEENE R RIEE H49% R

Patterson Lake South project, Fission’s primary and wholly-owned
asset.
Patterson Lake Southl& B @ AFission A&l EB N2 EHEEE -

The People’s Republic of China.
hEARHANE -

ttle Remuneration committee of the Board.
ExgFEEE -

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.
2023F1 A1HE2023F 12 A31 B &ffE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.
AR - FRZEEEE

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of Akmolinsk
Oblast in Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Semizbay-U.

AORZFEFRRL - A AA R IE T AT AKmolinsk OblastZ Valihanovi&

BHAARHEBERERE

Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
a joint venture of the Company.

HARLEF AR E LS %3 (Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership) * BRRERIHAKXY 2 ERETEZEE - BAAF]
BEDE ARRBAZEWB A REAH40% L ©

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended from time to time.

ISR B (B R IED) (FBAPIBST1E) -

ordinary share(s) in the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
AAEIEREME.0NA T 2 Eimk o
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Definitions

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R ]

“Sprott”
[Sprott]

4

“Stock Exchange’
(B8t 32 P |

“subsidiary(s)”
EilENGIE

“Swakop”
Eir S VNG

“Takeovers Code’
[ =r 81
“Tenge”

[E2 ]

“
[tul

“ UBOBH
'u,0,]
UK

[52E

“USH
B

“USD” or “US$”
ESMEAIUS

“UxC”
[UxC]
“Zhalpak Deposit”
(L8]

For identification purpose only

EHER)

holder(s) of the share(s).
SUESZEUNG

The Sprott Asset Management LP, a global leader in precious metals
and real assets investments. . ) ‘ \
SprottEEERE  RESEREVEERERE A HEGE -

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
BEMERIMARIR -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BER AR T8 -

Swakop Uranium (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated in
Namibia and a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC.

b EAZ S 2 HTRIG IR A 71* (Swakop Uranium (Proprietary) Limited) -
AR MK 2 AF] - RPEZBERENTFAA

The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.
%;ﬁaﬁ%&,ﬁﬂ‘é$%%?ﬁé%@%&%Z@ﬁ}uﬂzﬁﬁ - B0 Rk @EE
PRI o

Tenge, the lawful currency of Kazakhstan.

BX  RERMEREEEY -

tons of elemental uranium.

WA BB o

Triuranium octoxide, a compound of uranium present as an olive
green to black, odorless solid. It is one of the more popular forms of
yellowcake and is shipped between mills and refineries in this form.
NE=8 —E#HrEy EWESZEZRE - BIROERE - &
EXREINESHTA 2 — » WK IE TR S JROm < & o

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
AAPEE R E RS T -

the United States of America.
EHBERE -

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US.
En o XBEZEEEE -

UxC, LLC, one of the leading providers of uranium prices and an
independent third party. )
UxC - LLC - R#hEMNELRHEEZ— YR/BIFE=7 -

the uranium deposit located in Sozak district, Kazakhstan, which was
qvx(ned and operated by Ortalyk. B
R ER AT R it A i - BRARERREIRE
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